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Dear Shareholders,

Thank you for your support and investment in 
The Vita Coco Company.

As I’m writing this, we are celebrating our 
20th year in business. It is hard to believe (and 
sometimes to admit) that we’ve been doing this 
for 20 years. 

Back then, Ira and I were racking up  
credit card bills to build enough inventory.  
We were rollerblading from store to store  
begging people to put us on the shelf or in  
the refrigerator. 

I even had hair!

We were driven by the hope that people 
would see what we saw in coconut water: that 
unlike juice or sports drinks—coconut water was 
a much better option, something you could 
add to any moment of your day. It was the 
perfect ingredient for your morning smoothie, 
the elixir for your post-workout recovery, and 
the mixer for your night out. Nothing else in 
the beverage aisle does that much work.  

I remember when we made it into our 10th 
store. It felt like we had won the World Series.  

Today, 20 years in, we are in the fridge of one 
in 10 homes across America, and available in 
30 countries across the world. 

We’re behind the bar at some of the coolest 
bars, clubs and restaurants (and if we are not, 

LETTER FROM MIKE KIRBAN, CO-FOUNDER & EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN 
OF THE VITA COCO COMPANY
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INTRODUCTION

please ask the bartender to add us on the next 
provisions order), our company is traded on 
Nasdaq and we’re one of the fastest growing 
brands in the beverage aisle. Coconut water is 
slowly becoming a household staple in the non-
tropical world like it has been in the tropical 
world for generations.   

In the early days when the category started 
to take off in NYC and LA, I was told; “it’s a 
fad.” As you’ll read in this report, we spent 
2023 defying conventional wisdom for our 
20th consecutive year. 

If coconut water is a fad, we believe that 
there’s no end in sight. Last year net sales 
grew 15% in the Americas and 17% in the rest 
of the world when compared to the year prior. 
Overall, net sales were up 15% over the prior 
year, and they totaled $494 million.  

Gone are the days of rolling credit card 
balances over from one card to the next 
(which, by the way, we don’t recommend). We 
finished 2023 debt free and with $133 million 
in the bank.   

Sure, the financial performance is strong, but 
the most rewarding part of this journey doesn’t 
show up in our numbers.  

The secret to our success is our team. I’m 
proud of the fact that the first person we ever 
hired still works for us.   

Over the last year, we expanded our business 

into new categories. We continued investing 
in R&D to continue to enhance our existing 
product offerings and queue up exciting 
innovations. We formed partnerships with 
major brands and rising stars like Becky G.  

As our team has grown, we’ve kept the ethos 
that we started out with. We’ve continued to 
formalize that ethos into our business through 
our decision to become a public benefit 
corporation and to secure B Corp Certification. 
We have continued sharing our success with 
some of our key partners, including our 
coconut farmers and their families, through the 
Vita Coco Project. You’ll read a little bit about 
that success here, too. If you want to learn 
more, I encourage you to check out our Impact 
Report.  

Of course, we wouldn’t have been successful 
last year if not for your support as well. As 
we close the books on 2023, I want to thank 
you for trusting us with your investment. Your 
confidence has allowed us to grow, succeed, 
and innovate.  

So most of all: thank you for being on this 
journey with us.  

As you read this, I am raising a tequila and 
Vita Coco to you, to our team, and to 20 more 
great years.    

Cheers, 
Mike 
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fy2023 key 
FINANCIAL METRICS

NET SALES % GROWTH VS. PRIOR YEAR

AMERICAS SEGMENT INTERNATIONAL SEGMENT

+15% +17%

NET SALES: $494MM / +15% VS. PRIOR YEAR

NET INCOME: $47MM

$133MM

$68MM

$0

CASH ON HAND:

DEBT:

ADJUSTED EBITDA1:

1. Adjusted EBITDA” is a non-GAAP financial measure that is defined as our net income before interest, taxes,
depreciation, and amortization adjusted to eliminate the impact of certain items, including certain non-
cash and other items, that we do not consider representative of our ongoing operating performance. For 
additional detail on the reconciliation from Net Income to Adjusted EBITDA see “Non-GAAP Financial 
Measures” on pages 46-47 of this Annual Report.
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FINANCIALS & HIGHLIGHTS

DELIVERING VALUE & EXPANDING 
IMPACT 
We continue to focus on expanding and 
strengthening our Environmental, Social, and 
Governance (ESG) strategy, supporting our 
company purpose: 

To harness, while protecting, nature’s 
resources for the betterment of the world and 
its habitants by creating ethical, sustainable, 
better-for-you beverages and consumer 
products that not only uplift our communities, 
but that do right by our planet. 

Through our responsible business 
programming, we remain committed to 
generating positive impact for the planet and 
society while continuing to create products 
consumers know and love.  

HIGHLIGHTS 

Our sustainability and social impact initiatives, 
therefore, create value for our stakeholders 
and the communities in which we operate 
— whether by supporting business growth 
opportunities, mitigating risk, building trust and 
transparency, or reducing resource costs. 

In 2023, we prioritized scaling our impact 
programs while remaining dedicated to the 
three impact pillars of our sustainability and 
social responsibility framework: 

1. Protecting Natural Resources
2. Building Thriving Communities
3. Championing Health & Wellness
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OUR ESG PILLARS

PROTECTING NATURAL 
RESOURCES 
Our products are inspired 
by nature, which is why it 
is especially important to 
help conserve and replenish 
resources we use from the 
earth. We strive to protect 
natural resources and support 
resilient communities to ensure 
the long-term sustainability of 
our business and ecosystem. 

BUILDING THRIVING 
COMMUNITIES
From our employees to 
growing networks, our aim 
is to unlock the full potential 
of the communities that 
make, sell, and consume our 
products through sustainable 
development opportunities that 
promote long term prosperity 
and economic empowerment. 

CHAMPIONING HEALTH & 
WELLNESS 
We support a healthy society 
where physical, mental, and 
emotional wellbeing are 
prioritized, ensuring that our 
products contribute positively 
and address the needs of 
our communities in three key 
areas of access: nutrition, 
food security, and communal 
wellbeing. 

Our Focus Areas:
• Regenerative agriculture 

• Energy & climate 

• Water 

• Responsible packaging & 
circularity

Our Focus Areas:
• Increasing access to 

education and training 

• Employee engagement  

• Supporting small businesses  
and entrepreneurs 

Our Focus Areas:
• Nutrition & food security  

• Communal wellbeing

PROJECT 
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ESG PILLARS & UPDATES

VITA COCO PROJECT® BRAZIL 
We founded the Vita Coco Project® (VCP) in 
2014 to create impact at the ground level in 
our coconut farming communities. Through 
the initiative, we strategically partner with 
our manufacturing suppliers to engage non-
profit organizations and collaboratively 
develop impact programming adapted to local 
community needs. Much of our efforts have 
been focused in Southeast Asia, notably in 
countries like the Philippines and Sri Lanka.  

In Fall 2023, we announced the expansion 
of our social and environmental program into 
Brazil, allowing us to continue our impact 
efforts focusing on:

• Distributing seedlings, including coconuts 
and other native species, to support local 
environmental ecosystems; 

• Promoting the economic livelihoods of 
farming communities; and 

• Improving access to education for local 
communities. 

This impact initiative continues the foundation 
of our sustainability and social impact strategy 
that seeks to invest in and help empower the 
people and places behind our products. 

Our primary intervention in Brazil expanded 
reforestation efforts through partnerships 
with local environmental Brazilian non-profit 
organizations that specialize in ecosystem 
restoration, particularly restoring the Atlantic 
Forest in Brazil. These efforts seek to protect 
habitats for some of Brazil’s native species and 
drive positive impact for our local farming and 
packaging communities. 

UPDATES
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SEEDLINGS FOR SUSTAINABILITY 
During Earth Week 2023, The Vita Coco 
Company launched our newest environmental 
initiative, “Seedlings for Sustainability,” to 
help facilitate the planting of up to 10 million 
seedlings and trees across the globe by 2030 
to provide resources for responsible land 
management. 

Coconut tree yields decrease as tree 
populations reach the end of maturity, which 
can cause income instability for farmers 
and challenge their communities’ economic 
livelihoods. Our aim for the initiative is to help 
our partners: 

1. Replenish aging coconut tree populations; 

2. Support the next generation of coconut 
farmers and their communities;  

3. Enhance the resiliency of the coconut 
industry’s supply chain. 

While this initiative focuses primarily on local 
sourcing communities, it does extend across 
the globe, with a focus on reforesting at-risk 
ecosystems and local neighborhoods in both 
urban and rural communities. We helped 
distribute over 400,000 seedlings and trees 
in 2023, ranging from coconut palm trees to 
complementary vegetation that promote the 
ecosystem’s biodiversity. This initiative also 
includes the distribution of over 100,000 
seedlings and trees through a US partnership 
with Arbor Day Foundation.
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OUR ORGANIC KNOWLEDGE HUB ON 
SOURCING 
Consumers are continuing to look for brands 
that offer greater transparency within their 
supply chain. As we work towards earning 
their trust, we wanted to bring them closer 
to the organic coconut water production 
and quality process to better understand the 
meticulous care in harvesting, preparing, and 
transporting coconut water from the tropics.  

We launched a new knowledge hub on 
sourcing through our brand website to further 
detail our commitment to responsible sourcing 
and transparency within our organic coconut 
water’s supply chain.  

This platform showcases our partnerships 
with local farming communities, the organic 
coconut cultivation process, and the numerous 
quality checks used to ensure a great tasting 
product. By sharing stories of our farmers and 
the careful steps taken in our supply chain, we 
aim to highlight the effort and care that goes 
into every sip of Vita Coco coconut water.
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OUR APPROACH TO RESPONSIBLE 
PACKAGING & CIRCULARITY 
We strive to build a circular business 
that continues to reduce waste and our 
environmental footprint while preserving our 
natural resources by reimagining, reducing, 
reusing, and recycling materials in our 
responsible packaging design.

We consider responsible packaging to be 
packaging that is reusable, renewable, 
recyclable, compostable, or bio-degradable 
and certified sustainable by third  
party standards. 

We have developed a five-pillar framework  
to define our responsible packaging principles 
in progressive stages: rethink, reduce, reuse, 
recycle, and respect. These principles guide  
us in each stage of our packaging design  
process and influence our packaging choices. 
This approach ensures that how we source  
and how our packaging is disposed of are  
done responsibly. 

FRAMEWORK & PRINCIPLES
Throughout the lifestyle of our products, packaging should consider these 5 principles:

RETHINK REDUCE REUSE RECYCLE RESPECT
Examining each 

packaging 
component to 
determine its 

essentiality as part 
of the innovation 

process.

Optimizing design 
size and weight 

while maintaining 
product safety and 

integrity.

Educating and 
moving consumers 

from single use 
to refillable and 
reusable when 

feasible.

Choosing 
recyclable materials 

when possible 
or considering 
compostable / 

bio-based materials 
alternatively.

Ensuring materials 
are responsibly 
sourced, with 

recycled content 
and from 

sustainable  
origins.

We sought to better understand our packaging 
footprint, striving to improve material efficiency 
per container while maintaining our products’ 
safety and integrity. 

In 2023, Vita Coco began measuring our 
material use across primary, secondary, and 
tertiary levels of packaging. This assessment 
allowed us to identify key areas of opportunity 
within our packaging portfolio. Based on our 
findings, we found opportunities to increase  
the use of responsible packaging materials: 
we’ve since increased the volume of plant-
based plastic caps used on our Tetra Pak 
cartons and prioritized the use of Forest 
Stewardship Council (FSC) certified pulp in  
our secondary packaging.

We also aim to promote circularity in 
our coconut supply chain through close 
collaboration with our manufacturing suppliers 
and partners in farming communities to use 
every part of the coconut. As a result, they 
have implemented innovative practices that 
help minimize waste and maximize resource 
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efficiency, such as using the coconut husks 
on the farm to retain soil moisture and 
to fuel boilers at multiple manufacturing 
facilities. Together with our packaging and 
coconut manufacturing suppliers and farming 
communities, we strive to create a closed-loop 
system that contributes to a more resource-
efficient future. 

SUPPORTING MOM-ATHLETES WITH 
&MOTHER 
&Mother (pronounced “And Mother”) is a 
U.S. based non-profit organization dedicated 
to breaking the barriers that limit a woman’s 
choice to pursue and thrive in both career  
and motherhood.  

In 2023, Vita Coco enlisted the support of 
&Mother to partner on a new initiative that 
empowers caregivers by using athletics as 
a platform for social change. Together, we 
built a model training program for our mom-
athletes as they balanced career, athletics, 
and fundraising to foster their training which 
culminated in the completion of the New York 
City Marathon.  

This aspirational model leveraged best-in-class 
practices that address the barriers to inclusion 
for mom-athletes, including coaching provided 
by women’s health experts, childcare services 
during marathon weekend, and on-course 
lactation support for nursing parents on  
race day.  

More than 100 participants utilized the 
lactation support service during the  
New York City Marathon.
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IMPACT ON A Page

Protecting Natural Resources 
• Launched Seedlings for Sustainability 

with a goal to help plant and distribute up 
to 10MM seedlings and trees by 2030

• Over 400,000 seedlings planted/
distributed

• 8,000 farmers trained on regenerative 
agriculture through our partners

• Launched a carbon mitigation 
initiative for consumer shipment 
orders

• Helped our partner EcoCart offset 
1.53 million pounds of carbon dioxide 
emissions from our online orders

Unless otherwise noted, reported data covers the period January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023. The data in this report is based on compilations performed 
by the company and its partners without any third-party audit or assurance. As our data collection and reporting processes are continuously improved, 
previously disclosed historical amounts may be subject to adjustment. The size of these adjustments is not expected to be, but could be, material.
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Building Thriving Communities 
• 7 classrooms built in the Philippines 

through our partners, bringing our total 
educational facilities to 36 education 
centers since 2014

• Impacted 120,000+ community 
members in our sourcing communities, 
from farmers to teachers to students

• Hosted over 25 volunteer events, 
totaling over 600 hours of  
volunteer time

Championing Health & Wellness 
• Supported the communal wellbeing and 

health of over 100 caregivers and 900 
Veteran athletes

• Provided the equivalent of 500,000 
meals to underserved communities with 
Feeding America

• Diverted over 700,000 pounds of food 
waste from landfill with More than a Meal
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements. We intend such forward-looking statements 
to be covered by the safe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements contained in Section 27A of the Securities Act 
of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the 
"Exchange Act"). All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K 
may be forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as “may,” 
“will,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “could,” “intends,” “targets,” “projects,” “contemplates,” “believes,” 
“estimates,” “forecasts,” “predicts,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative of these terms or other similar expressions. 
Forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include, but are not limited to, statements 
regarding our future results of operations and financial position, industry and business trends, equity compensation, 
business strategy, projected costs, plans, prospects, expectations, market growth, new products, supply chain predictions, 
and our objectives for future operations. 

The forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are only predictions. We have based these 
forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future events and financial trends that 
we believe may affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Forward-looking statements involve 
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that may cause our actual results, performance or 
achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the 
forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, the important factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” 
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. The forward-looking statements in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K are based upon information available to us as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10- 
K, and while we believe such information forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such information may be limited or 
incomplete, and our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review 
of, all potentially available relevant information. These statements are inherently uncertain and investors are cautioned not 
to unduly rely upon these statements. 

You should read this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the documents that we reference in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K and have filed as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K with the understanding that our actual future 
results, performance and achievements may be materially different from what we expect. We qualify all of our forward- 
looking statements by these cautionary statements. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Except as required by applicable law, we do not plan to publicly update or revise any 
forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, whether as a result of any new information, 
future events or otherwise. 

As used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, unless otherwise stated or the context requires otherwise, the terms 
“Vita Coco,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to The Vita Coco Company, Inc. and its consolidated 
subsidiaries. 
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MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA 
 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains estimates, projections and other information concerning our industry 
and our business, including data regarding the estimated size of the market, projected growth rates and perceptions and 
preferences of customers, that we have prepared based on industry publications, reports and other independent sources, 
each of which is either publicly available without charge or available on a subscription fee basis. None of such information 
was prepared specifically for us in connection with this filing. Some data also is based on our good faith estimates, which 
are derived from management’s knowledge of the industry and from independent sources. These third party publications 
and surveys generally state that the information included therein has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but 
that the publications and surveys can give no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness of such information. Market and 
industry data is subject to variations and cannot be verified due to limits on the availability and reliability of data inputs, the 
voluntary nature of the data gathering process and other limitations and uncertainties inherent in any statistical survey. 
Although we are responsible for all of the disclosures contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and we believe the 
industry and market data included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K is reliable, we have not independently verified any 
of the data from third party sources nor have we ascertained the underlying economic assumptions on which such data is 
based. Similarly, we believe our internal research is reliable, even though such research has not been verified by any 
independent sources. The industry and market data included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K involve a number of 
assumptions and limitations, and you are cautioned not to give undue weight to such information. 

Unless otherwise expressly stated, we obtained industry, business, market and other data from the reports, 
publications and other materials and sources listed below. In some cases, we do not expressly refer to the sources from 
which this data is derived. In that regard, when we refer to one or more sources of this type of data in any paragraph, you 
should assume that other data of this type appearing in the same paragraph is derived from the same sources, unless 
otherwise expressly stated or the context otherwise requires. 

 
• Circana, LLC, Custom Research, MULO + Convenience channels, for the periods ended December 31, 2023 

("Circana US"); and 
 

• Circana, LLC, Total UK Coconut Water Category, Value Sales, 52, Weeks ended December 30, 2023 ("Circana 
UK"). 
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SUMMARY RISK FACTORS 
 

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including those described in Part I, Item 1A. “Risk 
Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. You should carefully consider these risks and uncertainties when investing 
in our common stock. The principal risks and uncertainties affecting our business include the following: 

 
• a reduction in demand for and sales of our coconut water products or a decrease in consumer demand for coconut 

water generally; 

• problems or interruptions with our supply chain and inflation resulting in an increase in shipping expenses and 
potential cost increases for our products, adverse impacts on our distributor and retail customers’ ability to deliver 
our products to market; 

 
• our ability to successfully forecast and manage our inventory levels; 

• reduced or limited availability of coconuts or other raw materials that meet our quality standards; 

• volatility in the price of materials used to package our products, and our dependence on our existing suppliers for 
such materials; 

• our dependence on our distributor and retail customers for a significant portion of our sales; 

• strong competition in the food and beverage retail industry presents an ongoing threat to the success of our 
business; 

• our ability to develop and maintain our brands and company image; 

• our ability to introduce new products, successfully improve existing products and respond to changes in consumer 
preferences; 

• pandemics, epidemics or disease outbreaks may disrupt our business, including, among other things, consumption 
and trade patterns, and our supply chain and production processes; 

• our ability to successfully make acquisitions and successfully integrate newly acquired businesses or products in 
the future; 

• climate change, or measures taken to address climate change, may negatively affect our business and operations; 
 

• our dependence on and ability to retain our senior management; 

• our suppliers and manufacturing partners compliance with ethical business practices or applicable laws and 
regulations; 

 
• risks associated with the international nature of our business; 

 
• risks associated with sustainability and corporate social responsibility and our status as a public benefit 

corporation, including any new requirements to public reporting; 

• lawsuits, product recalls or regulatory enforcement actions in connection with real or perceived food safety and 
food-borne illness incidents, other safety concerns or related to advertising inaccuracies, digital marketing 
practices, or product mislabeling; 

• our ability to comply with new and existing government regulation and legislative changes, both in the United 
States and abroad; 

 
• our ability to comply with laws and regulations relating to anti-corruption, sanctions, trade, data privacy, data 

protection, advertising and consumer protection; 

• our dependence on information technology systems, and the risk of failure or inadequacy of such systems and 
cyberattacks; 

• our ability to protect our intellectual property; 
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• our need for and ability to obtain additional financing to achieve our goals; and 
 

• our ability to service any indebtedness and comply with the covenants imposed under our existing 
debt agreements. 
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PART I 
 

Item 1. Business. 

Overview 

The Vita Coco Company is a leading platform for brands in the functional beverage category. We pioneered 
packaged coconut water in 2004 and have extended our business into other categories. Our mission is to deliver great 
tasting, natural and nutritious products that we believe are better for consumers and better for the world. We are one of the 
largest brands globally in the coconut and other plant waters category, and a large supplier of private label coconut water. 

Our branded portfolio is led by our Vita Coco brand, which is the leader in the coconut water category in the 
United States, and also includes coconut oil, juice, and milk offerings. Our other brands include Ever & Ever, a sustainably 
packaged water, and PWR LIFT, a protein-infused fitness drink. We also offered Runa, a plant-based energy drink inspired 
by the guayusa plant native to Ecuador, which we ceased selling in December 2023. We supply private label products to 
key retailers in both the coconut water and coconut oil categories. Additionally, we generate revenue from bulk product 
sales to beverage and food companies. 

We source our coconut water from a diversified global network of 14 factories across six countries supported by 
thousands of coconut farmers. As we do not own any of these factories, our supply chain is a fixed asset-lite model 
designed to better react to changes in the market or consumer preferences. We also work with co-packers in America and 
Europe to support local packaging and repacking of our products and to better service our customers’ needs. 

Vita Coco is available in over 30 countries, with our primary markets in North America, the United Kingdom, and 
China. Our primary markets for private label are North America and Europe. Our products are distributed primarily 
through club, food, drug, mass, convenience, e-commerce, and foodservice channels. Our products are also available in a 
variety of on-premise locations such as corporate offices, fitness clubs, airports, and educational institutions. 

 
History 

The Vita Coco Company, Inc., formerly known as All Market Inc., was first incorporated as a Delaware 
corporation in January 2007 and re-incorporated in Delaware as a public benefit corporation in April 2021. We completed 
an initial public offering (the "IPO") of our common stock in October 2021. 

 
Industry 

We operate in the functional beverages industry. Our primary brand Vita Coco Coconut Water competes in the 
global coconut and plant waters category. Our Vita Coco coconut milk product is a plant-based dairy alternative and our 
PWR LIFT brand competes in the enhanced isotonic category. We also develop and sell other brands in the beverage 
category, and occasionally in other categories, as we test our ideas for expanding our product portfolio. The beverage 
industry, and specifically the functional beverage categories, are significantly larger than the coconut and plant waters 
category and provide opportunities for potential growth. 

 
We believe per capita consumption of natural beverages is growing as a result of increasing consumer interest in 

plant-based alternatives and preferences for health-conscious products that have fewer added sugars and artificial 
ingredients, while providing more nutritional benefits. In addition, we believe that consumer awareness of the negative 
environmental and social impact of packaged goods has resulted in increased consumer demand for brands that are 
purpose-driven, take responsibility for their impact on the planet and are focused on sustainable packaging and transparent 
ethical values. We believe our mission is aligned with the growing demands generated by this consumer behavior. 

Competition 

The beverage industry is highly competitive and is constantly evolving in response to ever-changing consumer 
preferences. Competition is generally based on brand recognition, taste, quality, price, availability, selection and 
convenience, as well as factors related to corporate responsibility and sustainability. 

 
Additionally, we compete within the broad non-alcoholic beverage category, and our flagship brand, Vita Coco, is 

the market leader in the coconut water category in the United States. Our competitors in the beverage market include large 
beverage companies such as The Coca-Cola Company, PepsiCo, Inc. and Nestlé S.A. that may have substantially greater 
financial resources and stronger brand recognition than we have. We also compete with other leading functional beverages 
including Goya, Harmless Harvest, Foco, BodyArmor, Monster Energy, Red Bull, Bang, Ocean Spray and Bai, as well as a 
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range of emerging brands and retailers’ own private label beverage brands. Our competition and competitors vary by 
market due to regional brands and taste preferences. 

We are also a leading supplier of private label coconut water, and we compete with other private label suppliers 
for that business. 

Business Operations 

As of December 31, 2023, we operate in two business segments: (i) the Americas segment, comprised of our 
operations primarily in the United States and Canada and (ii) the International segment, comprised of operations primarily 
in Europe, the Middle East, Africa and the Asia Pacific regions. While over 92% of our business is based on sales of 
coconut water, we have used our access to market to add other beverage brands with a long-term view to building a 
diversified beverage platform of compatible brands. 

Vita Coco 
 

With the launch of the Vita Coco brand in New York City in 2004, we established coconut water as a premium 
lifestyle drink in America. Vita Coco is the coconut water category leader with greater than 50% market share in the United 
States according to Circana US for the 52 weeks ending December 31, 2023, which over indexes to younger households 
and to more multicultural shoppers. 

 
We offer Vita Coco coconut water as an alternative to sugar-packed sports drinks and other less healthy 

alternatives. Vita Coco has evolved from a primarily pure coconut water brand to a full portfolio of coconut-based 
products. The portfolio now includes multiple offerings in the coconut water category with Vita Coco Pressed, Vita Coco 
Coconut Juice, and Farmers Organic, with offerings in adjacent plant-based categories such as Vita Coco Coconut MLK, 
Vita Coco Barista and Vita Coco Coconut Oil. 

Our key strategies for growth for Vita Coco coconut water include: 1) offering more multipacks in coconut water 
to increase consumption with core consumers, 2) increasing distribution of other product offerings such as Farmers Organic 
and Vita Coco Coconut Juice, 3) expanding the number of households that purchase our products, and 4) growing 
opportunities for new usage generally. 

 
Internationally, our business is anchored by Vita Coco’s presence in the United Kingdom, where it is the chilled 

coconut water category leader with 89% market share, according to Circana UK, for the 52 weeks ended December 30, 
2023. Our United Kingdom commercial team and our supply chain based in Asia have allowed us to sell into other 
European and Asian countries. Vita Coco coconut water has a presence in key markets such as China, France, Germany, 
the Middle East, the Benelux region, Spain, the Nordic Region, and Africa. 

Private Label 

We expanded into private label coconut water in 2016 as a way to develop stronger ties with select, strategic retail 
partners and improve our operating scale. Our coconut water private label offering increases the scale and efficiency of our 
coconut water supply chain, and also provides us with a share of the value segment, without diluting our own brand. We 
also supply retailers with private label coconut oil. 

Ever & Ever 

Launched in 2019, Ever & Ever is a purified water brand packaged solely in aluminum bottles. Given consumer 
concerns with the disposal or recyclability of plastic water bottles, we created Ever & Ever to respond to the consumer 
need for a sustainably packaged water product in aluminum bottles with potential infinite recyclability. Ever & Ever was 
launched with a focus on the food service and office channels. 

PWR LIFT 

In 2021, we launched PWR LIFT, a beverage targeted at post-workout and recovery occasions with added 
nutritional benefits. PWR LIFT is a protein-infused sports drink with electrolytes, BCAAs and zero sugar, designed to 
provide fitness-minded consumers with protein in a hydrating beverage. In 2022 and 2023, we tested PWR LIFT in select 
markets including Arizona, North Carolina, South Carolina and Texas. During that time, PWR LIFT became the official 
sponsor of HYROX, a rapidly-growing competition known as the "World Series of Racing." In early 2024, PWR LIFT will 
launch in New York City metro area. The brand targets fitness enthusiasts and consumers seeking healthier beverage 
options, and we plan to grow the brand by focusing on premium retail execution, brand sponsorships, influencer 
partnerships and social media advertising. 
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Runa 

Runa is a plant-based, natural offering for consumers in the energy drink market. A key ingredient in Runa is 
guayusa, an Amazonian jungle plant. As of December 2023, we ceased offering this brand. 

 
Supply Chain 

We engage contract manufacturers, co-packers and third-party logistics providers to manufacture and distribute 
our products. Our fixed asset-lite model enhances production flexibility and capacity, and enables us to focus on our core 
in-house capabilities which include supplier management, logistics, sales and marketing, brand management and customer 
service. Our well-diversified global manufacturing network spans across 14 coconut water factories in six countries that are 
operated by our manufacturing partners and five co-packing facilities for products not packaged near source. Our network 
provides us with significant production capacity and capabilities, and an ability to re-allocate coconut water sourcing in the 
event of supply chain issues, weather, logistics or other macroeconomic impacts. 

 
Coconut water needs to be transferred from the coconut into an aseptic package within hours of cutting a coconut 

from the tree. Our supply chain partners are positioned as close to the coconut growing regions as possible to keep quality 
at the highest level. Through our access and relationships with coconut processors and manufacturers in many countries, 
including the Philippines, Indonesia, Malaysia, Thailand, Sri Lanka, and Brazil, we have built up a unique body of 
knowledge and relationships that promote coconut water processing at scale, as well as gained access to farms across 
diversified geographies. We also attempt to foster a thriving loyal farming community around our manufacturing partners 
through our work with charitable organizations to support agricultural education programs and investments in schooling. 
This community outreach has strengthened our long-term manufacturing relationships and we believe will support our 
capacity needs for future growth. 

 
Raw materials used in our business and by our co-packers consist of ingredients and packaging materials 

purchased from local, regional and international suppliers. The principal ingredients and packaging include coconut water, 
Tetra Paks and caps, cardboard cartons, PET bottles, and aluminum bottles and cans. We work with our contract 
manufacturing partners to purchase our raw ingredients from local suppliers in accordance with rigorous standards to 
assure responsible sourcing, quality and safety. The majority of our products are produced and packaged with materials 
sourced from a single supplier, Tetra Pak, whether purchased by us or by our contract manufacturers on our behalf, which 
provides us efficiency in the packaging and exporting of our products, and furthers our commitment to responsible 
sourcing, packaging near source and sustainability. Our production contracts are mostly denominated in United States 
dollars, with some limited contracts in local currencies such as the Brazilian real. 

Distribution, Sales and Marketing 

Our beverages and other products are sold in club stores, supermarkets, convenience stores, drug stores and e- 
commerce websites as well as other outlets. Our products are typically shipped directly from our contract manufacturing 
partners to a network of third-party warehouses located in our selling markets. We go to market in North America through 
various distribution channels, including a Direct Store Delivery distribution network ("DSD"), Direct-to-Warehouse 
network ("DTW"), broadline distributors, and our own Direct-to-Consumer ("DTC") channel. We match the customers' 
needs with the right route to market providing us flexibility for our established brands and for our innovations. Outside of 
North America, we use a combination of DTW, importers and distributors depending on the needs of the market. 

Our European market is primarily retail and e-commerce operator direct sales, with some countries supported by 
distributor or importer type relationships. In China, we sell to Reignwood Investment (China) Co., Ltd, which is our import 
and distributor partner for the territory, and, through its affiliates, was one of our significant shareholders prior to 2023. 
Other countries are serviced through importers with limited retail direct relationships or in partnership with one of our 
manufacturing partners through licensing or other agreements. 

We employ a dedicated global sales and commercial team. In the Americas, the sales team focuses on three main 
areas: (i) DSD management, (ii) national account management (including club, mass food and convenience) and (iii) retail 
execution. Our European sales team is aligned geographically and by major account or by import partner and is further 
supported by a small field execution and marketing team in the United Kingdom. Private label accounts are handled by 
each geographic division in close cooperation with supply chain leadership. Our sales and marketing function in China is 
handled by our importer. 

We also employ a brand, marketing, e-commerce and insights team with strong creative, social and digital 
capabilities with a primary focus on the North American and European markets. The primary goal of our marketing 
function is to educate consumers about the functional benefits of our products while inspiring consumers to fall in love 
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with our brands. Since the early days, our brands have been sponsored by a roster of celebrity and athlete fans. Today, we 
continue to leverage relationships with talent and influencers who are aligned with our values and are genuine fans of our 
brands. 

Seasonality 

As is typical in the beverage industry, sales of our beverages are seasonal, with the highest sales volumes 
generally occurring in the second and third fiscal quarters during the warmer months of the year in our major markets. 

 
Product Innovation 

 
We engage in research and development activities and invest in innovation globally with the goal of creating 

products using natural, functional ingredients. We have years of expertise working with plant-based ingredients to deliver 
products to meet the needs of our customers. We balance our innovation priorities between adding functionality and taste to 
existing brands and researching and developing new products and brands for new occasions, need states or specific retailer 
opportunities. 

Our global innovation function sits in the marketing team to ensure alignment with current brand initiatives and 
sharing of consumer insights across teams and markets. The innovation team works closely with our internal global 
research and development and technical teams that include employees in the United States, Europe and Singapore focused 
on supplier capability, quality improvements and new processes. We also have strong supplier relationships that give us 
access to a broad scope of ingredients, packaging offerings and technologies. 

 
Intellectual Property 

 
We own domestic and international trademarks and other proprietary rights that are important to our business. We 

view our primary trademark to be VITA COCO. We have a global approach to protecting our trademarks, designs, patents 
and other intellectual property rights. We believe the protection of our trademarks, designs, copyrights, patents, domain 
names, trade dress and trade secrets are important to our success. 

 
As of December 31, 2023, we had over 30 registered trademarks and over 10 pending trademark applications in 

the United States, as well as over 240 registered trademarks and over 10 pending trademark applications in other countries. 
Depending upon the jurisdiction, trademarks are valid as long as they are in use and/or their registrations are properly 
maintained. 

 
We consider information related to formulas, processes, know-how and methods used in our production and 

manufacturing as proprietary and endeavor to maintain them as trade secrets. We have in place reasonable measures to 
keep the above-mentioned items, as well as our business and marketing plans, customer lists and contracts reasonably 
protected. 

 
Government Regulation 

 
Our products are regulated in the United States as conventional foods. We, along with our distributors and 

manufacturing and co-packing partners, are subject to extensive laws and regulations in the United States by federal, state 
and local government authorities including, among others, the U.S. Federal Trade Commission ("FTC"), the U.S. Food and 
Drug Administration ("FDA"), the U.S. Department of Agriculture, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and the 
U.S. Occupational Safety and Health Administration and similar state and local agencies. Among other things, the facilities 
in which our products and ingredients are manufactured must register with the FDA, comply with current good 
manufacturing practices and other standard requirements applicable to the production and distribution of conventional food 
products. We and our manufacturing and co-packing partners are also subject to similar requirements in foreign 
jurisdictions in which we operate. These types of requirements include: product standards; product safety and reporting; 
marketing, sales, and distribution; packaging and labeling requirements; nutritional and health claims; advertising and 
promotion; import and export restrictions; and tariff regulations, duties, and tax requirements. 

Products that do not comply with applicable governmental or third-party regulations and standards may be 
considered adulterated or misbranded and subject, but not limited to, warning or untitled letters, product withdrawals or 
recalls, product seizures, relabeling or repackaging, total or partial suspensions of manufacturing or distribution, import 
holds, injunctions, fines, civil penalties or criminal prosecution. In addition, some of our products are produced and 
marketed under contract as part of special certification programs such as organic, kosher or non-GMO, and must comply 
with the strict standards of federal, state and third-party certifying organizations. 
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Public Benefit Corporation Status and Corporate Social Responsibility 

We operate as a Delaware public benefit corporation, and, therefore, our operational decision-making goes beyond 
solely maximizing shareholder value. Our public benefit purpose, as provided in our certificate of incorporation, is 
harnessing, while protecting, nature’s resources for the betterment of the world and its habitants by creating ethical, 
sustainable, better-for-you beverages and consumer products that not only uplift our communities, but that do right by our 
planet. Furthermore, in order to advance the best interests of those materially affected by the corporation’s conduct, it is 
intended that our business and operations create a material positive impact on society, taken as a whole. 

 
In 2022, The Vita Coco Company, Inc. was designated as a Certified B Corporation, a certification reserved for 

businesses that balance profit and purpose to meet the highest verified standards of social and environmental performance, 
public transparency and legal accountability. Through achieving Certified B Corporation status, The Vita Coco Company, 
Inc. joined its subsidiary, All Market Europe Ltd., a United Kingdom company, which had previously achieved Certified B 
Corporation status. 

 
We believe that we bring our products to market through a responsibly designed supply chain, and provide 

farmers and manufacturers the partnership, investment, and training they need to not only reduce waste and environmental 
impact, but also bring income and opportunity to their local communities. In 2014, we created the Vita Coco Project to 
support and empower our coconut farming communities by encouraging innovative farming practices, improving education 
resources, and scaling our business to promote economic prosperity. With our “Give, Grow, Guide” philosophy, we seek to 
contribute to educational programs and facilities by supporting initiatives to build new classrooms and fund scholarships, 
with a goal to impact the lives of people in these communities. Additionally, we attempt to partner with other third-party 
organizations that share and advance our ideals, including fair trade, accessible nutrition and wellness, and environmental 
responsibility. 

 
We believe this purpose-driven approach has aided our growth as we believe it is strategically aligned with the 

beliefs of our global consumer base and has improved our supplier relationships. To further support our public benefit 
purpose and "Give, Grow, Guide" philosophy, we formed the Vita Coco Community Foundation, a standalone nonprofit 
corporation in December 2023. 

Annually, we publish an Impact Report describing the environmental and social impacts of our business. As a 
public benefit corporation, we are required by Delaware law to provide a biennial statement on our promotion of the public 
benefits identified in our certificate of incorporation and of the best interests of those materially affected by the 
corporation's conduct. Our biennial public benefit corporation statement was included in our Impact Report issued in early 
2023. 

Human Capital 

As of December 31, 2023, we had 294 full-time employees. Of these employees, 220 were employed in the United 
States. None of these employees are represented by labor unions or covered by collective bargaining agreements. We have 
never experienced a labor-related work stoppage. 

Our people are at the heart of our business. Our Board of Directors provides oversight of the policies and 
procedures relating to talent, leadership, culture and compensation plans for our Executive Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer. The Compensation Committee evaluates and approves the compensation plans for our executive officers. We 
believe that we have been able to attract diverse and highly engaged employees who share our belief in our mission and 
further promote our inclusive company culture. To monitor the health of our human capital resources, we track turnover, 
perform exit interviews, conduct periodic employee surveys, hold quarterly town halls with open question and answer 
sessions, and conduct performance reviews and build development plans to assist each employee achieve their potential. 
Based on exit interviews and employee surveys, we identify opportunities for improvement in our processes and track our 
employee engagement levels. We award equity grants with vesting based on continued employment to eligible employees 
in order to motivate retention and align our employees with our other shareholders. 

 
We promote and value a diverse, equitable and inclusive culture for our employees. Our Diversity and Inclusivity 

Committee works to celebrate all our employees, educate and recommend improvements to our processes to enhance our 
organization and our culture. As of December 31, 2023, approximately 47% of our employees identified as female, 49% 
identified as male, and 4% did not disclose their gender identity. In addition, at the end of 2023, 38% of our employees 
identified as Black, Indigenous and/or People of Color or two or more races, 48% identified as white, and 13% did not 
disclose their race. We strive to reflect the diverse identities and cultures of our consumers. 

 
Additional Information 
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The Vita Coco Company, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware as a corporation in January 2007 and as a public 
benefit corporation in April 2021. We completed an initial public offering of our common stock in October 2021. 

 
Our website is www.thevitacococompany.com. At our Investor Relations website, 

investors.thevitacococompany.com, we make available, free of charge, a variety of information for investors, including our 
annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those 
reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file that material with or furnish it to the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). The information found on our website is not part of this or any other report we file 
with, or furnish to, the SEC. 

 
Item 1A. Risk Factors. 

 
Our business involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described 

below, together with all of the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This section contains forward- 
looking statements. You should refer to the explanation of the qualifications and limitations on forward-looking statements 
set forth below the Summary Risk Factors of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The risks and uncertainties described 
below are not the only ones we face. Additional risk and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem 
immaterial may also become important factors that adversely affect our business. The realization of any of these risks and 
uncertainties could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial condition, results of operations, 
growth and future prospects as well as our ability to accomplish our strategic objectives. In that event, the market price of 
our common stock could decline and you could lose part or all of your investment. 

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry 
 
 

Sales of our coconut water products constitute a significant portion of our revenue, and a reduction in demand for our 
coconut water products or a decrease in consumer demand for coconut water generally would have an adverse effect on 
our financial condition. 

Our coconut water accounted for approximately 92% of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023. We 
believe that sales of our coconut water will continue to constitute a significant portion of our revenue, income and cash 
flow for the foreseeable future. Any material negative change to consumer demand for our products or coconut water 
generally or failure to grow the coconut water category could materially and adversely affect our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and cash flows. We are also subject to the risk of overly relying upon a few large customers 
(whether serviced directly or through distributors) in a particular market due to the concentration that exists in retail 
ownership in our key markets and our significant private label business with several large retailers. We cannot be certain 
that consumer and retail customer demand for our other existing and future products will expand to reduce this reliance on 
coconut water and allow such products to represent a larger percentage of our revenue than they do currently. Accordingly, 
any factor adversely affecting demand or sales of our coconut water or coconut water generally or a negative decision by a 
major retailer, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows. 

 
If we encounter problems or interruptions with our supply chain, our costs may increase and our or our customers’ 
ability to deliver our products to market could be adversely affected, impacting our business and profitability. 

Our supply chain is heavily reliant on third-party partners, and our success is dependent upon our ability to 
maintain our relationships with existing partners and enter into new arrangements in the future. Any changes to the 
relationships with our existing partners, including deprioritizing or experiencing delays in our production, or terminating 
the relationship could adversely affect our business. Furthermore, if we need to find an alternative or new manufacturing or 
co-packing partner, we would need to spend a significant amount of time and resources to ensure the new partner can meet 
our standards for quality control and have the necessary capabilities, responsiveness, high-quality service and financial 
stability, among other things, that align with our values and mission. We may need to assist that manufacturing partner in 
purchasing and installing packaging and processing capability which may further delay and increase the financial costs of 
including them in our supply network and increase the financial risk of that relationship. Although we do not rely on our 
co-packing partners for the sourcing of raw materials, we face similar risks related to the operations and quality of services 
provided by such partners. If we are unable to manage our supply chain effectively and ensure that our products are 
available to meet consumer demand, we may not have the ability to pursue our growth strategy, our sales might decrease, 
and our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows may be materially adversely affected. 

 
Our independent shipping partners transport our products from the country of origin or from our domestic co- 

packing partners, which are then received by, and subsequently distributed from our third party warehousing and 
fulfillment service providers to our distributors and retail-direct customers by our third party transportation partners or 
customer pickup. We depend in large part on the orderly operation of this receiving and distribution process from these 
third party partners, which depends, in turn, on timely arrival of product from ports or co-packers, availability of outbound 
and inbound shipping, real-time tracking information on our products location, and effective operations at the warehouses 
or distribution centers and the ports through which our product flows. Any increase in transportation costs (including 

12



 

increases in fuel costs), increased shipping costs or shipping transit times, increased warehouse costs, issues with overseas 
shipments or port or supplier-side delays, reductions in the transportation capacity of carriers, labor strikes or shortages in 
the transportation industry, disruptions to the national and international transportation infrastructure, decreased warehouse 
availability including due to labor shortages, and unexpected delivery interruptions or delays may increase the cost of, and 
adversely impact, our logistics, and our ability to provide quality and timely service to our distributor or retail-direct 
customers. The inability to fulfill or any delays in processing customer or consumer orders from the warehousing or 
fulfillment centers of our providers, or any quality issues could result in the loss of consumers, retail partners or 
distributors, or the issuances of penalties, refunds or credits, and may also adversely affect our reputation. 

 
Additionally, external events beyond our control may affect and cause interruptions or delays in our supply chain. 

Disruptions in operations due to natural or man-made disasters, inclement weather conditions, accidents, system failures, 
power outages, political instability, physical or cyber break-ins, server failure, work stoppages, slowdowns or strikes by 
employees, acts of terrorism, the outbreak of viruses, widespread illness, infectious diseases, contagions and the occurrence 
of unforeseen epidemics and other unforeseen or catastrophic events could damage the facilities of our supply chain 
partners or render them inoperable, effect the flow of product to and from these centers, or impact our ability to manage our 
partners, making it difficult or impossible for us to process customer or consumer orders for an extended period of time. 
We could also incur significantly higher costs and longer lead times during the time it takes for our supply chain to react 
and normalize. 

 
Furthermore, international instability, including volatility in global oil markets or ongoing geopolitical tensions, 

may affect our supply chain, impacting our rates and capacity to timely supply our products. For instance, recently our 
shipping routes and costs, have been impacted by ocean carriers avoiding the Red Sea and Gulf of Aden, due to concerns 
that Houthi forces based in Yemen have been attacking freighters. It is hard to predict where ocean freight rates and 
capacity will be in the future and what long-term rates could be. A significant part of our business relies on shipping 
prepackaged coconut water from sourcing countries to our countries of sale so we are very dependent on shipping container 
prices and service levels and cost increases in shipping have materially impacted our financial results in recent years. Due 
to the price sensitivity of our products, we may not be able to pass such increases on to our customers. Any such disruption 
or unanticipated event may cause significant interruptions or delays in our business and the reduction or loss of inventory 
may render us unable to fulfill customer orders in a timely manner, or at all, which could materially adversely affect our 
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

 
Our cash flows and results of operations may be negatively affected if we are not successful in predicting demand and 
managing our inventory at appropriate levels for the demand that we experience. 

Efficient inventory planning and management is a key component of our success and profitability. To be 
successful, we must maintain sufficient inventory levels to meet our customers’ demands without allowing those levels to 
increase to such an extent that the costs of holding the products unduly impact our financial results or create obsolete 
inventory, while ensuring we have adequate inventory to fulfill their needs, if their demand changes unexpectedly. 

 
Maintaining adequate inventory requires significant attention to and monitoring of: market trends, local market 

demands; performance of our raw material suppliers and manufacturers, our logistics suppliers and distributors; and the 
collection of data to enable efficient forecasting and inventory management. Although we seek to forecast and plan our 
product needs sufficiently in advance of anticipated requirements to facilitate reserving production time at our 
manufacturing and co-packing partners, and arranging for the availability and supply of packaging and ingredient 
materials, our product takes many weeks to arrive at our warehouses from our manufacturing partners, which reduces our 
flexibility to react to short term or unexpected consumer demand changes and can require planning as much as six months 
in advance to coordinate all materials for production. As we expand our operations, it may be more difficult to effectively 
manage our inventory as the complexity increases. In any cases where consumers might not have access to our products, 
our reputation and brands could be harmed, and consumers may be less likely to recommend our products in the future. If 
we are not successful in managing our inventory balances, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
conditions, results of operations and cash flows. 

 
Our future business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows may be adversely affected by reduced or 
limited availability of coconuts and other raw materials for our products. 

 
Our ability to ensure a continuing supply of high-quality coconuts and other raw materials for our products at 

competitive prices depends on many factors beyond our control. We rely on a limited number of regional manufacturing 
partners to source and acquire certain of our raw materials and provide us with finished coconut-based products. Our 
financial performance depends in large part on their ability to arrange for the purchase of raw materials, including 
coconuts, coconut water and other natural ingredients, in sufficient quantities. 
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The coconuts from which our products are sourced, and the harvesting and transportation of them to our 
manufacturing partners, are vulnerable to adverse weather conditions and natural disasters, such as floods, droughts, 
earthquakes, hurricanes, typhoons, pestilence and other shortages and disease, as well as political events and other 
conditions which can adversely impact quantity and quality, leading to reduced coconut yields and quality, which in turn 
could reduce the available supply of, or increase the price of, our raw materials. Our manufacturing partners may have 
general difficulties in obtaining raw materials, particularly coconut derived products, due to our high quality standards. Our 
current manufacturing partners operate in the Philippines, Sri Lanka, Malaysia, Thailand, Brazil and Vietnam and source 
coconuts from owned trees and networks of many independent small farmers. Thus, while we attempt to mitigate the risk 
by sourcing in multiple geographic areas, the supply of coconuts and other ingredients may be particularly affected by any 
adverse events in these countries or regions. Any disruption in the ability of our manufacturing partners to source coconuts 
or other raw materials from their local suppliers to produce our finished goods would result in lower sales volumes and 
increased costs, and may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows if the necessary supply cannot be replaced in a timely manner or at all. 

 
In addition, we also compete with other food and beverage companies in the procurement of coconut materials and 

other raw materials, and this competition may increase in the future if consumer demand increases for these materials or 
products containing such materials, and if new or existing competitors increasingly offer products in these market sectors. 
If supplies of coconut materials and other raw materials that meet our quality standards are reduced or are in greater 
demand, this could cause our expenses to increase and we or our manufacturing partners may not be able to obtain 
sufficient supply to meet our needs on favorable terms, or at all. 

 
Our manufacturing partners and their ability to source coconut materials and other raw materials may also be 

affected by any changes among farmers in our sourcing countries as to what they choose to grow and harvest, changes in 
global economic conditions or climate, and our or their ability to forecast or to commit to our raw materials requirements. 
Many of these farmers also have alternative income opportunities and the relative financial performance of growing 
coconuts or other raw materials as compared to other potentially more profitable opportunities could affect their interest in 
working with us or our manufacturing partners. Any of these factors could impact our ability to supply our products to 
customers and consumers and may adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

 
We are dependent on our existing suppliers for materials used to package our products, the costs of which may be 
volatile and may rise significantly. 

 
In addition to purchasing coconut materials and other ingredients, we negotiate the terms and specifications for the 

purchase of significant quantities of packaging materials and pallets by our manufacturers and co-packing partners from 
third parties. The majority of our products are produced and packaged with materials sourced from a single supplier, Tetra 
Pak. While we believe that we may be able to establish alternative supply relationships for some of these materials, we may 
be unable to do so in the short term, or at all, at prices or quality levels that are acceptable to us, or in packaging that is 
acceptable to consumers. Further, any such alternative supplier arrangements may lead to increased costs or delays. 

 
Volatility or inflation in the costs of our packaging materials and other supplies that we or our manufacturing 

partners purchase could increase our cost of sales and reduce our profitability. Moreover, we may not be able to implement 
price increases for our products to cover any increased costs, and any price increases we do implement may result in lower 
sales volumes or lost relationships. If we are not successful in managing our packaging costs, or if we are unable to 
increase our prices to cover increased costs or if such price increases reduce our sales volumes, then such increases in costs 
will adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

 
Further, changes in business conditions, pandemics, governmental regulations and other factors beyond our 

control or that we do not presently anticipate could affect our manufacturing and co-packing partners’ ability to receive 
components from our existing or future suppliers of such materials or the availability of such components generally. The 
unavailability of any components for our suppliers could result in production delays and idle manufacturing facilities which 
may increase our cost of operations and render us unable to fulfill customer orders in a timely manner. In addition, quality 
issues with packaging materials or packaging processes, could result in the need to replace inventory produced, resulting in 
increased costs. 

 
We are dependent on distributor and retail customers for most of our sales, and our failure to maintain these 
relationships or further develop our sales channels could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations 
and cash flows. 
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We derive a significant portion of our revenue from our network of domestic and international distributors and 
retail customers (whether serviced directly or through distributors), including club stores, major mass merchandisers, 
online marketplaces such as Amazon, drug store chains, supermarkets, independent pharmacies, health food stores, and 
other retailers. In addition, our largest distributor customer and the largest retail-direct customer together accounted for 
approximately 53% of our total net sales as of December 31, 2023. No other customer or distributor represented more than 
10% of our total net sales as of December 31, 2023. 

A decision by either of our largest retail customer or distributor, or any other major distributor or retail customer, 
whether motivated by marketing strategy, competitive conditions, financial difficulties or otherwise, to decrease 
significantly the quantity or breadth of product purchased from us, or to change their manner of doing business with us and 
their support of our products, could substantially reduce our revenue and have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. For example, as previously disclosed, in 2023 we agreed to start to 
discontinue the private label coconut water and coconut oil supply relationship with one of our significant customers as the 
terms required to retain the business were contrary to our long term margin targets. However, at the request of this 
customer, we expect to continue the supply relationship through 2024 for a significant portion of their private label coconut 
water needs. In addition, any store closings or changes in retail strategy by our retail customers, particularly our largest 
retail customer, could reduce the number of stores or regions carrying our products, or stores may purchase a smaller 
amount of our products and/or may reduce the retail floor space designated for our products. If any negative change in our 
relationship with our largest distributor and retail customer or other customers occurs, any other disputes with key 
customers arose, if we were to lose placement and support of any of our key customers or if any of our key customers 
consolidate and/or gain greater market power, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows would 
be materially adversely affected. In addition, we may be similarly adversely impacted if any of our key customers, 
particularly our largest distributor and retail customer, experience any operational difficulties or generate less traffic. 

 
Although we aim to enter into long-term agreements with distributors, and historically have renewed, amended or 

extended them as needed, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to maintain or extend these contractual relationships in 
the future or that we will be able to do so on attractive terms. If any agreement with a key distributor is terminated or if the 
performance of such distributor deteriorates, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to find suitable replacement partners 
on favorable terms, or at all. Distributor contracts also may require that we make payments to terminate or upon non- 
renewal, and there is no guarantee that the parties will agree on payment terms, or that we will be able to recoup such fees 
from any replacement distributors. We enter into pricing support and promotional arrangements with our distributors to 
encourage execution and pricing activity on our brands, and in some cases, offer invasion fees when product is shipped 
directly to a specific retailer in their geographic market. There is no guarantee that these arrangements will be effective, or 
that disputes will not arise as to the sharing of the costs of such activity, which could impact our relationship with the 
distributors or impose additional costs on us. 

 
We generally do not have long-term contracts or minimum purchase volumes with our retail-direct customers 

beyond promotional price arrangements, except in cases related to private label supply, and the duration of these 
relationships and terms are subject to change and adjustment based on the performance of the products and our 
performance as a supplier of these products. For example, pursuant to the terms of the agreement with our largest retail- 
direct customer, following the initial term, either party is permitted to terminate the agreement without cause with prior 
notice, and the agreement is non-exclusive and does not impose any minimum purchase or supply requirements. We seek 
to maintain the relationships with these customers’ private label brands and be their supplier of choice, but we cannot 
guarantee that we will maintain our share of this business, nor that the economic terms we will negotiate with such 
customers in the future will be favorable to us. The loss of any part of a key customer’s private label business may 
negatively impact that customer’s support of our branded products, and could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

 
We rely on our retailer partners’ continuing demand for our products whether supplied directly or supported 

through distributors and their support of our promotional programs. If our retail partners change their pricing and margin 
expectations, change their business strategies as a result of industry consolidation or otherwise, maintain and seek to grow 
their own private-label competitive offerings whether supplied by us or other suppliers, reduce the number of brands they 
carry or amount of shelf space they allocate to our products, or allocate greater shelf space to, or increase their advertising 
or promotional efforts for, our competitors’ products, our sales could decrease and our business, financial conditions, 
results of operations and cash flows may be materially adversely affected. 

Certain of our distributors or retail-direct customers may from time to time experience financial difficulties, 
including bankruptcy or insolvency. If our customers suffer significant financial or operational difficulty, they may reduce 
their orders from us or stop purchasing from us and/or be unable to pay the amounts due to us timely or at all, which could 
have a material adverse effect on our ability to collect on receivables, our revenues and our results of operations. It is 
possible that customers may contest their contractual obligations to us, whether under bankruptcy laws or otherwise. 
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  Further, we may have to negotiate significant discounts and/or extended financing terms with these customers in 
such a situation. If we are unable to collect upon our accounts receivable as they come due in an efficient and timely 
manner, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows may be materially adversely affected. In 
addition, product sales are dependent in part on high-quality merchandising and an appealing retail environment to attract 
consumers, which requires continuing investments by retailers and ongoing support by distributors. Retailers or distributors 
that experience financial difficulties may fail to make such investments or delay them, resulting in lower sales and orders 
for our products. Consolidations among our customers would concentrate our credit risk and, if any of these retailers or 
distributors were to experience a shortage of liquidity or consumer behavior shifts away from their retail model or their 
service area, it would increase the risk that their outstanding payables to us may not be paid. In addition, increasing market 
share concentration among one or a few retailers in a particular region increases the risk that if any one of them 
substantially reduces their purchases of or support for our products, we may be unable to find a sufficient number of other 
retail outlets for our products to sustain the same level of sales and revenue whether sold directly to retailers or through 
distributors. 

 
Competition in the food and beverage retail industry is strong and presents an ongoing threat to the success of our 
business. 

 
We operate in a highly competitive market, which includes large multinational companies as well as many smaller 

entrepreneurial companies seeking to innovate and disrupt the categories in which we compete. As a category, coconut 
water competes for space with a wide range of beverage offerings. In particular, coconut water competes with functional 
refreshment, juices, energy drinks, ready to drink teas and coffees and other non-100% coconut water based beverages, and 
many of these products are marketed by companies with substantially greater financial resources than ours. We also 
compete with a number of natural, organic, and functional food and beverage producers. We and these competing brands 
and products compete for limited retail, and foodservice customers and consumers. In our market, competition is based on, 
among other things, brand equity and consumer relationships, consumer needs, product experience (including taste, 
functionality and texture), nutritional profile and dietary attributes, sustainability of our supply chain (including raw 
materials), quality and type of ingredients, distribution and product availability, retail and foodservice and e-commerce 
customer relationships, marketing investment and effectiveness, pricing competitiveness and product packaging. 

 
Conventional food or beverage companies, which are generally multinational corporations with substantially 

greater resources and operations than us, may acquire our competitors or launch their own coconut water products or other 
products that compete with our own. Such competitors may be able to use their resources and scale to respond to 
competitive pressures and changes in consumer preferences by introducing new products, reducing prices or increasing 
promotional activities, among other things. These large competitors may decide not to compete in coconut water but rather 
to use their retail relationships and category insights to reduce retailer excitement for the category, impacting our visibility 
and shelf space. 

 
Retailers also market competitive products under their own private labels, which are generally sold at lower prices 

and compete with our products. Retailers source these products from a range of suppliers under competitive bidding 
relationships and we compete for this business as a private label supplier. While we seek to enter into strategic partnerships 
with retailers to capitalize on private label supply opportunities, we cannot guarantee that we will be awarded this private 
label business in future years or that the business will be profitable. If the quality of competing private label or branded 
products were to be compromised, that could affect the consumer perceptions of coconut water more generally which could 
impact our business. Additionally, some of our distributor partners carry competing products or in some cases also are 
brand owners of beverage products that might compete with us, and while we believe our products are worthy of their 
support, there is no guarantee that their support will continue for all of our brands or at the same levels as today. 

 
Competitive pressures or other factors could cause us to lose market share and lead to reduced space allocated to 

our products, which may require us to lower prices, increase marketing and advertising expenditures, or increase the use of 
discounting or promotional campaigns, each of which could adversely affect our margins and could adversely affect our 
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Many of our current and potential competitors in 
beverages have longer operating histories, greater brand recognition, better access to distribution capabilities, larger 
fulfillment infrastructures, greater technical capabilities, significantly greater financial, marketing and other resources and 
maintain deeper customer relationships with key retailers due to their extensive brand portfolios than we do. These factors 
may allow our competitors to derive greater net sales and profits from their existing customer base, acquire customers at 
lower costs or respond more quickly than we can to new or emerging technologies and changes in consumer preferences or 
habits. 

 
We expect competition in the natural, organic and functional food and beverage industry to continue to increase. 

We believe that our ability to compete successfully in this market depends upon many factors both within and beyond our 
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control. If we fail to compete successfully in this market, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows would be materially and adversely affected. 

 
If we fail to develop and maintain our brands and Company image, our business could suffer. 

 
We have developed strong and trusted brands, including our leading Vita Coco brand, that we believe have 

contributed significantly to the success of our business, and we believe our continued success depends on our ability to 
maintain and grow the value of Vita Coco and other brands. Maintaining, promoting and positioning our brands and 
reputation will depend on, among other factors, the success of our product offerings, food safety, quality assurance, 
marketing and merchandising efforts, the reliability and reputation of our supply chain, our ability to grow and capture 
share of the coconut water category, and our ability to provide a consistent, high-quality consumer experience. Any 
negative publicity, regardless of its accuracy, could materially adversely affect our business. For example, as part of the 
licensing strategy of our brands, we enter into licensing agreements under which we grant our licensing partners certain 
rights to use our trademarks and other designs. Although our agreements require that the use of our trademarks and designs 
is subject to our control and approval, any breach of these provisions, or any other action by any of our licensing partners 
that is harmful to our brands, goodwill and overall image, could have a material adverse impact on our business. 

 
The growing use of social and digital media by us, our consumers and third parties increases the speed and extent 

that information or misinformation and opinions can be shared. Negative publicity about us, our brands, our products or our 
industry on social or digital media could seriously damage our brands and reputation. 

 
Our Company image and brands are very important to our vision and growth strategies, particularly as a public 

benefit corporation, a Certified B Corporation, and with the goal of operating consistent with our mission and values. We 
will need to continue to invest in actions that support our mission and values and adjust our offerings to appeal to a broader 
audience in the future in order to sustain our business and to achieve growth, and there can be no assurance that we will be 
able to do so. If we do not maintain the favorable perception of our Company and our brands, our sales and results of 
operations could be negatively impacted. Our brands and Company image is based on perceptions of subjective qualities, 
and any incident that erodes the loyalty of our consumers, customers, suppliers or manufacturers, including adverse 
publicity or a governmental investigation or litigation, could significantly reduce the value of our brands and significantly 
damage our business, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations 
and cash flows. 

 
Failure to introduce new products or successfully improve existing products or adopt new technology or marketing 
practices effectively, may adversely affect our ability to continue to grow and may cause us to lose market share and 
sales. 

 
A key element of our growth strategy depends on our ability to develop and market new products, product 

extensions and improvements to our existing products that meet our standards for quality and appeal to consumer 
preferences. The success of our innovation and product development efforts is affected by our ability to anticipate changes 
in consumer preferences, the technical capability of our innovation staff in developing and testing product prototypes to 
meet these consumer needs while complying with applicable governmental regulations, the ability to obtain patents and 
other intellectual property rights and protections for commercializing such innovations and developments, the ability of our 
supply chain and production systems to provide adequate solutions and capacity for new products, and the success of our 
management and sales and marketing teams in designing, branding and packaging and introducing and marketing new 
products. Failure to develop and market new products that appeal to consumers may lead to a decrease in our growth, sales 
and profitability. There is no guarantee that each innovation we launch will reach our goals and be successful, and many 
will require iteration and development to have a chance of success. Discontinuing products that have not reached sufficient 
scale to be viable long term or where consumer demand is decreasing, may result in decreased sales, disappointed 
customers, and unexpected costs. 

 
Additionally, the development and introduction of new products requires research, development and marketing 

expenditures, which we may be unable to recoup if the new products do not gain widespread market acceptance. For 
example, a failure to incorporate new technology, like artificial intelligence (“AI”), or marketing practices may reduce our 
ability to compete and operate efficiently. Our competitors also may create or obtain similar formulations first that may 
hinder our ability to develop new products or enter new categories, which could have a material adverse effect on our 
growth. If we experience difficulty in partnering with co-packers or manufacturers to produce our new products, it may 
affect our ability to develop and launch new products and enter new product categories, and scale up supply if successful. 
Further, if we fail to ensure the efficiency and quality of new production processes and products before they launch, we 
may experience uneven product quality and supply, which could negatively impact consumer acceptance of new products 
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and negatively impact our sales and brand reputation. If we are unsuccessful in meeting our objectives with respect to new 
or improved products, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flow may be adversely affected. 

Consumer preferences for our products are difficult to predict and may change, and, if we are unable to respond quickly 
to new trends, our business may be adversely affected. 

 
Our business is primarily focused on the development, manufacturing, marketing and distribution of coconut 

water branded and private label products and other “better-for-you” beverages. Consumer demand for our products and 
interest in our offerings could change based on a number of possible factors, including changes in consumer preferences, 
dietary habits, refreshment and nutritional habits, concerns regarding the health effects of ingredients, the usage of single 
use packaging, the impact of our supply chain on our sourcing communities, shifts in preference for various product 
attributes or consumer confidence, trends within consumer age groups and perceived value and quality for our products 
relative to alternatives. Consumer trends that we believe favor sales of our products could change based on a number of 
possible factors. While we continually strive to improve our products through thoughtful, innovative research and 
development approaches to meet consumer needs, there can be no assurance that our efforts will be successful. If consumer 
demand for our products decreased, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows may be 
adversely affected. 

 
Pandemics, epidemics, disease outbreaks or global trade disruption may disrupt our business, including, among other 
things, consumption and trade patterns, and our supply chain and production processes, each of which could materially 
affect our operations, liquidity, financial condition and results of operations. 

The actual or perceived effects of a disease outbreak, epidemic, pandemic or similar widespread public health 
concern, or global trade disruptions, could negatively affect our business, liquidity, financial condition and results of 
operations. Any new restrictions related to such matters, such as requiring employees to work remotely, imposing travel 
restrictions, reducing operating hours, imposing operating restrictions and temporarily closing businesses could have an 
adverse impact on global economic conditions and impact consumer confidence and spending which might have a material 
adverse impact on our supply chain, or on some of our customers and could impact the availability and demand for our 
products and ultimately our financial condition. 

 
Furthermore, given our supply chain is dependent on ocean freight for shipping coconut water from the source 

countries to the end use markets, we are particularly exposed to ocean freight cost changes, and availability of containers, 
and to changes or disruptions in global trade. 

 
We could suffer product inventory losses or markdowns and lost revenue in the event of the loss or shutdown of a 

major manufacturing partner, a local raw materials supplier of a manufacturing partner, or a co-packing partner, due to 
pandemic conditions in their respective locales. Any interruptions to logistics could impact their ability to operate and ship 
us product. The potential impact of a pandemic on any of our production or logistics providers could include, but is not 
limited to, problems with their respective businesses, finances, labor matters (including illness or absenteeism in workforce 
or closure), ability to import and secure ingredients and packaging, product quality issues, costs, production, insurance and 
reputation. Any of the foregoing could negatively affect the price and availability of our products and impact our supply 
chain. If these disruptions continue for an extended period of time, our ability to meet the demand for our products may be 
materially impacted. 

 
We rely on independent certification for a number of our products. 

 
We rely on various independent third-party certifications, such as certifications of our products as “organic”, to 

differentiate our products and Company from others. We must comply with the requirements of independent organizations 
or certification authorities in order to label our products as certified organic. For example, we can lose our “organic” 
certification if our manufacturing partners fail to source certified organic raw materials from local raw material suppliers. 
In addition, all raw materials must be certified organic. The loss of any independent certifications could adversely affect 
our market position as an organic and natural products company, which could harm our business. 

 
We may not be successful in our efforts to make acquisitions and successfully integrate newly acquired products or 
businesses. 

 
We have in the past pursued and may in the future consider opportunities to acquire other products or businesses 

that may strategically complement our portfolio of brands and expand the breadth of our markets or customer base. We 
may be unable to identify suitable targets, opportunistic or otherwise, for acquisition in the future at acceptable terms or at 
all. In addition, exploring acquisition opportunities may divert management attention from the core business and organic 

18



 

innovation and growth, which could negatively impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows. If we identify a suitable acquisition candidate, our ability to successfully implement the acquisition will depend on a 
variety of factors, including our ability to obtain financing on acceptable terms consistent with any debt agreements 
existing at that time and our ability to negotiate acceptable pricing and terms. Historical instability in the financial markets 
indicates that obtaining future financing to fund acquisitions may present significant challenges and could also create 
dilution to shareholders among other potential impacts. 

 
The success of future acquisitions will be dependent upon our ability to effectively integrate the acquired products 

and operations into our business. Integration can be complex, expensive and time-consuming. The failure to successfully 
integrate acquired products or businesses in a timely and cost-effective manner could materially adversely affect our 
business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition. The diversion of our management’s attention and any 
difficulties encountered in any integration process could also have a material adverse effect on our ability to manage our 
business. In addition, the integration process could result in the loss of key employees, the disruption of ongoing 
businesses, litigation, tax costs or inefficiencies, or inconsistencies in standards, any of which could adversely affect our 
ability to maintain the appeal of our brands and our relationships with customers, employees or other third parties or our 
ability to achieve the anticipated benefits or synergies of such acquisitions and could harm our financial performance. 

 
Further, the future acquisition of a product or business may cause us to deviate from our historically fixed-asset 

lite business model if we were to acquire production capabilities and facilities in connection therewith, and as a result could 
increase our costs of operation. 

 
We do not know if we will be able to identify acquisitions we deem suitable, whether we will be able to 

successfully complete any such acquisitions on favorable terms or at all, or whether we will be able to successfully 
integrate or realize the anticipated benefits of any acquired products or businesses. Additionally, an additional risk inherent 
in any acquisition is that we fail to realize a positive return on our investment. 

 
Climate change, or legal or market measures to address climate change, may negatively affect our business and 
operations. 

 
There is growing concern that carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases in the atmosphere may have an adverse 

impact on global temperatures, weather patterns and the frequency and severity of extreme weather and natural disasters. If 
such climate change has a negative effect on agricultural productivity, we may be subject to decreased availability or less 
favorable pricing for coconut water, oil, cream and other raw materials that are necessary for our current or any future 
products. Such climate changes may also require us to find manufacturing partners in new geographic areas if the location 
for best production of coconuts changes, which will require changes to our supply network and investing time and 
resources with new manufacturing partners, thereby potentially increasing our costs of production. In addition, there is no 
guarantee that we will be able to maintain the quality and taste of our products as we transition to sourcing coconuts in new 
geographic areas. Increasing frequency and severity of extreme weather and natural disasters could result in unusual 
weather patterns, which could affect the supply and demand for our products and lead to negative effects on our business, 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flow. 

 
Additionally, the increasing concern over climate change may also result in more federal, state, local and foreign 

legal requirements to reduce or mitigate the effects of greenhouse gases or to reduce packaging and improve recyclability. 
If such laws are enacted, we may experience significant increases in our costs of operations and delivery, which in turn 
may negatively affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, and may incur increased 
liability for the accuracy of any public disclosures. 

 
Failure to retain our senior management and key personnel, or to maintain and evolve our culture may adversely affect 
our operations or our ability to grow successfully. 

 
Our success is substantially dependent on the continued service of certain members of our senior management and 

other key employees. These employees have been primarily responsible for determining the strategic direction of our 
business and for executing our growth strategy and are integral to our brands, culture and the reputation we enjoy with 
suppliers, manufacturers, distributors, customers and consumers. In particular, we are dependent on our co-founder, 
Michael Kirban, for leadership, culture, strategy, key customer and supplier relationships and other skills and capabilities. 
The loss of the services of the co-founder, or any of these executives and key personnel could have a material adverse 
effect on our business and prospects, as we may not be able to find suitable individuals to replace them on a timely basis, if 
at all. In addition, any such departure could be viewed in a negative light by investors and analysts, which may cause the 
price of our common stock to decline. We do not currently carry key-person life insurance for our co-founder or senior 
executives. 
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Additionally, our success depends on our ability to attract, train and retain a diverse workforce who understand 
and appreciate our culture and can represent our brand effectively and establish credibility with our business partners and 
consumers. Pressures in the labor market for talent and wage inflation have been increasing and could increase our future 
costs of hiring or retaining our employees, and thus impact our profitability. If we are unable to hire and retain employees 
capable of meeting our business needs, and creating the culture and capability that we desire, our business and brand image 
may be impaired, including not meeting our B Corp expectations nor our public benefit corporation mission. 

 
If our independent suppliers and manufacturing partners, or the local farmers or other suppliers from which our 
manufacturing partners source the raw materials, do not comply with ethical business practices or with applicable laws 
and regulations, our reputation, business, and results of operations may be harmed. 

 
Our reputation and our consumers’ willingness to purchase our products depend in part on the compliance of our 

suppliers, manufacturers, distributors, and retailer partners, as well as the local farmers or other suppliers from which our 
manufacturing partners source raw materials, with ethical employment practices, such as with respect to child and animal 
labor, wages and benefits, forced labor, discrimination, safe and healthy working conditions, and with all legal and 
regulatory requirements relating to the conduct of their businesses. We do not exercise control over our independent 
suppliers, manufacturers, distributors and retailer partners, nor over the suppliers of our raw materials, and cannot 
guarantee their compliance with ethical and lawful business practices. If our suppliers, manufacturers, distributors, retailer 
partners or raw material suppliers fail to comply with applicable laws, regulations, safety codes, employment practices, 
human rights standards, quality standards, environmental standards, production practices, or other obligations, norms or 
ethical standards, our reputation and brand image could be harmed, our customers may choose to terminate their 
relationships with us, and we could be exposed to litigation and additional costs that would harm our business, reputation, 
and results of operations. 

The international nature of our business subjects us to additional risks. 
 

We are subject to a number of risks related to doing business internationally, any of which could significantly 
harm our business. These risks include: 

 
• facing difficulties, such as legal, regulatory, personnel, technological, and consumer preference variation risks, as 

we operate in countries where we have limited experience or presence, or expand our operations into countries in 
which we have no prior operating history; 

 
• restrictions on the transfer of funds to and from foreign countries, including potentially negative tax consequences; 

 
• unfavorable changes in tariffs, quotas, trade barriers or other export or import restrictions, including navigating the 

changing relationships between countries such as the United States and China and between the United Kingdom 
and the European Union; 

 
• unfavorable foreign exchange controls and variation in currency exchange rates; 

 
• exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations; 

 
• increased exposure to general international market and economic conditions and uncertainty; 

 
• political, economic, environmental, health-related or social uncertainty and volatility; 

 
• the potential for substantial penalties, litigation and reputational risk related to violations of a wide variety of laws, 

treaties and regulations, including food and beverage regulations, anti-corruption regulations (including, but not 
limited to, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”), and the U.K. Bribery Act) and data privacy laws and 
regulations (including the EU’s General Data Protection Regulation); 

 
• the imposition of differing labor and employment laws and standards; 

 
• significant differences in regulations across international markets, including new regulations that could impact 

requirements applicable to our products and the regulatory impacts on a globally integrated supply chain; 
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• the varying trademark laws and regulations, or difficulties with international intellectual property protection and 
problems created by counterfeiting; 

 
• the bankruptcy or default in payment by our international customers and/or import partners and the potential 

inability to recoup damages from such defaults, as well as subsequent termination of existing importation 
agreements; 

 
• the difficulty and costs of designing and implementing an effective control environment across diverse regions 

and employee bases; 
 

• the complexities of monitoring and managing compliance with a broad array of international laws related to data 
privacy and data protection, as well as cross-border transfers of personal data; 

 
• the difficulty and costs of maintaining effective data security and meeting different data security regulations; 

 
• global cost and pricing pressures; 

 
• complex supply chain and shipping logistical challenges; and 

 
• unfavorable and/or changing foreign tax treaties and policies. 

We are subject to risks related to sustainability and corporate social responsibility. 
 

Our business faces increasing scrutiny related to environmental, social and governance issues, including 
sustainable development, product packaging, renewable resources, environmental stewardship, supply chain management, 
climate change, diversity and inclusion, workplace conduct, human rights, philanthropy and support for local communities. 
We are a Delaware public benefit corporation which has placed additional requirements on our strategies and decision- 
making to meet our mission. See “—Risks Related to our Existence as a Public Benefit Corporation.” There has been 
increasing public focus by investors, customers environmental activists, the media and governmental and nongovernmental 
organizations on a variety of environmental, social and other sustainability matters. Our efforts to ensure we meet these 
standards rely on our leadership, contracts, internal and third-party audits and on continued monitoring of potential risks 
and solutions. We may experience increased costs in order to execute upon our sustainability goals and measure 
achievement of those goals, which could have an adverse impact on our business and financial condition. Additionally, if 
we fail to meet applicable standards or expectations with respect to these issues across any of our products and in any of 
our operations and activities or those of our third party partners, such as manufacturers and co-packer, our reputation and 
brand image could be damaged, and our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be 
adversely impacted. 

 
Further, we have developed a strong corporate reputation over the years for our focus on responsible sourcing and 

support of our supplier communities. We seek to conduct our business in an ethical and socially responsible way, which we 
regard as essential to maximizing stakeholder value, while enhancing community quality, environmental stewardship and 
furthering the plant-based movement around the world. We are developing environmental and sustainability initiatives that 
support our societal programs and are consistent with our purpose, but these initiatives require financial expenditures and 
employee resources and are not yet fully vetted or implemented. If we are unable to meet our sustainability, and 
environmental, social and governance goals, this could have a material adverse effect on our reputation and brand and 
negatively impact our relationship with our employees, customers, consumers and investors. There is no guarantee that our 
pace of progress on our environmental, social and governance initiatives will meet all parties’ expectations, which in turn 
could result in harm to our reputation and negatively impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and 
cash flow. In addition, this emphasis on environmental, social and other sustainability matters has resulted and may result 
in the adoption of new laws and regulations, including new reporting requirements. If we fail to comply with new laws, 
regulations or reporting requirements, our reputation and business could be adversely impacted. 

Risks Related to Our Legal and Regulatory Environment 

Food safety and food-borne illness incidents or other safety concerns may materially adversely affect our business by 
exposing us to lawsuits, product recalls or regulatory enforcement actions, increasing our operating costs and reducing 
demand for our product offerings. 

Selling food and beverages for human consumption involves inherent legal and other risks, and there is increasing 
governmental scrutiny of and public awareness regarding food safety. Unexpected side effects, illness, injury or death 
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related to allergens, food-borne illnesses or other food safety incidents caused by products we sell or involving our 
suppliers or manufacturers, could result in the discontinuance of sales of these products or cessation of our relationships 
with such suppliers and manufacturers, or otherwise result in increased operating costs, lost sales, regulatory enforcement 
actions or harm to our reputation. Shipment of adulterated or misbranded products, even if inadvertent, can result in 
criminal or civil liability. Such incidents could also expose us to product liability, negligence or other lawsuits, including 
consumer class action lawsuits. Any claims brought against us may exceed or be outside the scope of our existing or future 
insurance policy coverage or limits. Any judgment against us that is more than our policy limits or not covered by our 
policies would have to be paid from our cash reserves, which would reduce our capital resources. 

 
The occurrence of food-borne illnesses or other food safety incidents could also adversely affect the price and 

availability of affected ingredients and raw materials, resulting in higher costs, disruptions in supply and a reduction in our 
sales. Furthermore, any instances of food contamination or regulatory noncompliance, whether or not caused by our 
actions, could compel us, our manufacturing and co-packing partners, our distributors or our retail customers, depending on 
the circumstances, to conduct a recall in accordance with the FDA, regulations and comparable foreign laws and 
regulations, as well as other regulations and laws in the other jurisdictions in which we operate. Product recalls could result 
in significant losses due to their associated costs, the destruction of product inventory, lost sales due to the unavailability of 
the product for a period of time and potential loss of existing distributors, retail customers and shelf space or e-commerce 
prominence, and a potential negative impact on our ability to attract new customers and consumers, and maintain our 
current customer and consumer base due to negative consumer experiences or because of an adverse impact on our brands 
and reputation. The costs of a recall could exceed or be outside the scope of our existing or future insurance policy 
coverage or limits. While we maintain batch and lot tracking capability to identify potential causes for any discovered 
problems, there is no guarantee that in the case of a potential recall, we will effectively be able to isolate all product that 
might be associated with any alleged problem, or that we will be able to quickly and conclusively determine the root cause 
or narrow the scope of the recall. Our potential inability to affect a recall quickly and effectively, or manage the consumer 
and retailer communication in a way that mitigates concerns, might create adverse effects on our business and reputation, 
including large recall and disposal costs and significant loss of revenue. 

 
We believe our consumers, retailers and distributors rely on us to provide them with high-quality products. 

Therefore, any real or perceived quality or food safety concerns or failures to comply with applicable food regulations and 
requirements, whether or not ultimately based on fact and whether or not involving us (such as incidents involving our 
competitors), could cause negative publicity and reduced confidence in our Company, brands or products, which could in 
turn harm our reputation and sales, and could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows. Although we believe we and our manufacturing and co-packing partners on which we rely have 
rigorous quality control processes in place, there can be no assurance that our products will always comply with the 
standards set for our products or that our manufacturing and co-packing partners will comply with our product 
specifications. 

 
In addition, food and beverage companies have been subject to targeted, large-scale tampering as well as to 

opportunistic, individual product tampering, and we, like any beverage company, could be a target for product tampering. 
Forms of tampering could include the introduction of foreign material, chemical contaminants and pathological organisms 
into consumer products as well as product substitution. The FDA enforces laws and regulations, such as the Food Safety 
Modernization Act, that require companies like us to analyze, prepare and implement mitigation strategies specifically to 
address tampering designed to inflict widespread public health harm. If we do not adequately address the possibility, or any 
actual instance, of product tampering, we could face possible seizure or recall of our products and the imposition of civil or 
criminal sanctions, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows. Most countries in which we operate have comparable regulations that we endeavor to comply with, but any failure to 
meet regulators’ or customers’ expectations could impact our business in these markets and have a material adverse effect 
on our reputation as well as our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

 
Our products and operations are subject to state and government regulation and oversight both in the United States and 
abroad, and our failure to comply with applicable requirements, or to respond to changes in regulations applicable to 
our business could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

The manufacturing, marketing and distribution of food products is highly regulated. We, along with our 
manufacturing and co-packing partners and our suppliers, are subject to a variety of laws and regulations internationally, 
which apply to many aspects of our and their businesses, including the sourcing of raw materials, manufacturing, 
packaging, labeling, distribution, advertising, sale, quality and safety of our products, as well as the health and safety of 
employees and the protection of the environment. 

 
Our products and operations and those of our manufacturing and co-packing partners are subject to oversight by 

multiple U.S. and international regulatory agencies including the USDA, the FDA, the FTC, the Environmental Protection 
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Agency (“EPA”), the European Commission and the U.K.’s Food Standards Agency, Health and Safety Executive, 
Environment Agency, Environmental Health Officers and Trading Standards Officers and the Singapore Food Agency, 
among others. These agencies regulate, among other things, with respect to our products and operations: 

• design, development and manufacturing; 
 

• testing, labeling, content and language of instructions for use and storage; 
 

• product safety; 
 

• marketing, sales and distribution; 
 

• record keeping procedures; 
 

• advertising and promotion; 
 

• recalls and corrective actions; and 
 

• product import and export. 
 

In the United States, for example, we are subject to the requirements of the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act 
and regulations promulgated thereunder by the FDA. This comprehensive regulatory program governs, among other things, 
the manufacturing, composition and ingredients, packaging, testing, labeling, marketing, promotion, advertising, storage, 
distribution and safety of food. The FDA requires that facilities that manufacture food products comply with a range of 
requirements, including hazard analysis and preventative controls regulations, current good manufacturing practices 
(“cGMP”), and supplier verification requirements. Certain of our facilities, as well as those of our manufacturing and co- 
packing partners, are subject to periodic inspection by federal, state and local authorities. We do not control the 
manufacturing processes of, but rely upon, our third-party manufacturing partners for compliance with cGMPs for the 
manufacturing of our products that is conducted by our partners. If we or our manufacturing partners cannot successfully 
manufacture products that conform to our specifications and the strict regulatory requirements of the FDA or other 
regulatory agencies, we or they may be subject to adverse inspectional findings or enforcement actions, which could 
materially impact our ability to market our products, could result in our manufacturing or co-packing partners’ inability to 
continue manufacturing for us or could result in a recall of our product that has already been distributed. In addition, we 
rely upon these parties to maintain adequate quality control, quality assurance and qualified personnel. 

 
Furthermore, there are an increasing number of state and local regulations in the United States related to, among 

other things, beverage packaging, labeling requirements, container deposits, recycling, or beverage taxes. We anticipate 
more states to adopt similar legislation or regulations, requiring us to continuously monitor various state laws to ensure 
compliance. Any failure to comply with these laws or regulations correctly could result in a temporary halt in distribution 
of our products and other costs, affecting our business and profitability. 

 
Failure by us, our suppliers or our manufacturing and co-packing partners to comply with applicable laws and 

regulations or maintain permits, licenses or registrations relating to our or our suppliers or manufacturing and co-packing 
partners’ operations could subject us to civil remedies or penalties, including fines, injunctions, recalls or seizures, warning 
letters, untitled letters, restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of products, or refusals to permit the import or export 
of products, as well as potential criminal sanctions, which could result in increased operating costs or loss of revenue, 
resulting in a material effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. The regulations to 
which we are subject are complex and continuously changing, and have tended to become more stringent over time. New 
labeling and food safety laws could restrict our ability to carry on or expand our operations, result in higher than 
anticipated costs or lower than anticipated sales, and otherwise make it more difficult for us to realize our goals of 
achieving a more integrated global supply chain due to the differences in regulations around the world. 

Advertising inaccuracies and product mislabeling may have an adverse effect on our business by exposing us to 
lawsuits, product recalls or regulatory enforcement actions, increasing our operating costs and reducing demand for 
our product offerings. 

Certain of our products are advertised with claims as to their origin, ingredients or health, wellness, 
environmental or other potential benefits, including, by way of example, the use of the terms “natural”, “organic”, “clean”, 
“non-toxic”, “sustainable”, “no added sugars,” or similar synonyms or implied statements relating to such benefits. 
Although the FDA and the USDA each have issued statements and adopted policies regarding the appropriate use of the 
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word “natural,” there is no single, universal definition of the term “natural” for various categories we sell, which is true for 
many other adjectives common in the healthy or sustainable products industry. The resulting uncertainty has led to 
consumer confusion, distrust, and legal challenges. 

In addition, the FDA has consistently enforced its regulations with respect to nutrient content claims, unauthorized 
health claims (claims that characterize the relationship between a food or food ingredient and a disease or health condition) 
and other claims that impermissibly suggest therapeutic benefits of certain foods or food components, or that misrepresent 
or improperly characterize the nutrient content in conventional food products. 

 
Moreover, the FTC has articulated a robust substantiation standard for health claims on foods and dietary 

supplements and has pursued investigations and litigation against companies where the FTC has concern that the claims 
being made are not properly substantiated. Examples of causes of action that may be asserted in a consumer class action 
lawsuit include fraud, unfair trade practices and breach of state consumer protection statutes. The FTC and/or state 
attorneys general may bring legal action that seeks removal of a product from the marketplace and impose fines and 
penalties. Further, consumer class action false advertising litigation relating to terms such as “natural,” “non-toxic,” “non- 
GMO” and other claims remain a persistent threat in our industry. Even when unmerited, class action claims, action by the 
FTC or state attorneys general enforcement actions can be expensive to defend and adversely affect our reputation with 
existing and potential customers and consumers and our corporate and brand image, which could have a material and 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. 

 
The USDA enforces federal standards for organic production and use of the term “organic” on product labeling. 

These laws prohibit a company from selling or labeling products as organic unless they are produced and handled in 
accordance with the applicable federal law. By definition, organic products are not genetically modified or do not include 
genetically modified (bioengineered) ingredients. We use suppliers and manufacturing partners who can certify that they 
meet the standards needed for each applicable product or ingredient specification. Our failure, or failure on the part of our 
suppliers or manufacturing partners to comply with these ingredient and product specifications, to maintain appropriate 
certifications, or to label organic products in compliance with federal or state laws, may subject us to liability or regulatory 
enforcement. Consumers may also pursue state law claims as to our labelling practices on this and other matters, 
challenging our labels as being intentionally mislabeled or misleading or deceptive to consumers. The cost of defending or 
settling these suits may be material to our business. 

 
The regulatory environment in which we operate could also change significantly and adversely in the future. New 

or changing regulations could impact the way consumers view our products, such as potential new labeling regulations or 
enforcement of a standard of identity for terms used to market our products that would require us to list certain ingredients 
by specific names that could confuse our consumers into thinking we may use different types of ingredients than they 
originally thought or that the quality of our ingredients is different to what they anticipated. 

 
Any loss of confidence on the part of consumers in the truthfulness of our labeling, advertising or ingredient 

claims would be difficult and costly to overcome and may significantly reduce our brand value. In addition, packaging has 
to be suitable to distributor and retail handling and scanning, and any failures of the packaging to meet these expectations 
could cause recall or product destruction. Any of these events could adversely affect our brands, increase our costs, and 
decrease our sales, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows. 

 
Federal, state and foreign anti-corruption, sanctions and trade laws create the potential for significant liabilities and 
penalties and reputational harm. 

As of December 31, 2023, we derived 13% of our net sales from our International segment. In addition, we source 
all of our coconut water internationally. As such, we are subject to a number of laws and regulations governing payments 
and contributions to political persons or other third parties, including restrictions imposed by the FCPA, as well as 
economic sanctions, customs and export control laws, including those administered by the U.S. Department of the 
Treasury's Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”), U.S. Customs and Border Protection (“CBP”), the U.S. Department 
of Commerce and the U.S. Department of State. The FCPA is intended to prohibit bribery of foreign officials—including 
officials of any government or supranational organization, foreign political parties and officials thereof, and any candidate 
for foreign political office—to obtain or retain business. It also requires public companies in the United States to keep 
books and records that accurately and fairly reflect those companies’ transactions and maintain internal accounting controls 
to assure management’s control, authority, and responsibility over a company’s assets. OFAC, CBP, the U.S. Department 
of Commerce and the U.S. Department of State, among other governmental authorities, administer and enforce various 
customs and export control laws and regulations, as well as economic and trade sanctions based on U.S. foreign policy and 
national security goals that target certain countries, regions, governments, businesses and individuals. These laws and 
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regulations relate to a number of aspects of our business, including but not limited to the activities of our suppliers, 
distributors and other partners. 

Similar laws in non-U.S. jurisdictions, such as EU sanctions or the U.K. Bribery Act, as well as other applicable 
anti-bribery, anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, sanctions, customs or export control laws, may also impose stricter or 
more onerous requirements than the FCPA, OFAC, CBP, the U.S. Department of Commerce and the U.S. Department of 
State, and implementing them may disrupt our business or cause us to incur significantly more costs to comply with those 
laws. Different laws may also contain conflicting provisions, making compliance with all laws more difficult. If we fail to 
comply with these laws and regulations, we could be exposed to claims for damages, civil or criminal financial penalties, 
reputational harm, incarceration of our employees, restrictions on our operations or other liabilities, which could negatively 
affect our business, operating results and financial condition. In addition, we may be subject to successor liability for FCPA 
violations or other acts of bribery, or violations of applicable sanctions or other export control laws committed by 
companies we acquire. Despite our compliance efforts and activities we cannot assure compliance by our employees or 
representatives for which we may be held responsible. Any determination that we have violated the FCPA or other 
applicable anti-corruption, sanctions, customs or export control laws could subject us to, among other things, civil and 
criminal penalties, material fines, profit disgorgement, injunctions on future conduct, securities litigation and a general loss 
of investor confidence, any one of which could adversely affect our business prospects, financial condition, results of 
operations or the market value of our common stock. 

 
Litigation or legal proceedings could expose us to significant liabilities and have a negative impact on our reputation or 
business. 

 
From time to time, we may be party to various claims and litigation proceedings. We evaluate these claims and 

litigation proceedings to assess the likelihood of unfavorable outcomes and to estimate, if possible, the amount of potential 
losses. Based on these assessments and estimates, we may establish reserves, as appropriate. These assessments and 
estimates are based on the information available to management at the time and involve a significant amount of 
management judgment. Actual outcomes or losses may differ materially from our assessments and estimates. For example, 
we are and have been subject to various labelling, trademark infringement and product quality claims in the ordinary course 
of our business, and may, in the future, face a range of litigation, including employment issues, distributor disputes, 
shareholder litigation and other contractual matters. 

 
Even when not merited, the defense of these claims or lawsuits may divert our management’s attention, and we 

may incur significant expenses in defending these lawsuits. The results of litigation and other legal proceedings are 
inherently uncertain, and adverse judgments or settlements in some of these legal disputes may result in adverse monetary 
damages, penalties or injunctive relief against us, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, cash 
flows or results of operations. Any claims or litigation, even if fully indemnified or insured, could damage our reputation 
and potentially prevent us from selling or manufacturing our products, which would make it more difficult to compete 
effectively or to obtain adequate insurance in the future. 

 
Furthermore, while we maintain insurance for certain potential liabilities, such insurance does not cover all types 

and amounts of potential liabilities and is subject to various exclusions as well as caps on amounts recoverable. Even if we 
believe a claim is covered by insurance, insurers may dispute our entitlement to recovery for a variety of potential reasons, 
which may affect the timing and, if the insurers prevail, the amount of our recovery. 

Risks Related to Our Information Technology and Intellectual Property 
 

We rely heavily on our information technology systems, as well as those of our third-party vendors and business 
partners, for our business to effectively operate and to safeguard confidential information; any significant failure, 
inadequacy, interruption or data security incident could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows. 

We use information technology systems, infrastructure and data in substantially all aspects of our business 
operations. Our ability to effectively manage our business and coordinate the manufacturing, sourcing, distribution and sale 
of our products depends significantly on the reliability and capacity of these systems. We are critically dependent on the 
integrity, security and consistent operations of these systems. We also collect, process and store numerous classes of 
sensitive, personally identifiable and/or confidential information and intellectual property, including customers’ and 
suppliers’ information, private information about employees and financial and strategic information about us and our 
business partners. The secure processing, maintenance and transmission of this information is critical to our operations. 

 
As discussed above under, “If we encounter problems or interruptions with our supply chain, our costs may 

increase and our or our customers’ ability to deliver our products to market could be adversely affected, impacting our 
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business and profitability,” our systems and those of our third party vendors, service providers, and business partners may 
be subject to damage or interruption from power outages or damages, telecommunications problems, data corruption, 
software errors, network failures, acts of war, or terrorist attacks, fire, flood, global pandemics and natural disasters; our 
existing safety systems, data backup, access protection, user management and information technology emergency planning 
may not be sufficient to prevent data loss or long-term network outages. In addition, we and our third party vendors and 
business partners may upgrade our existing information technology systems or choose to incorporate new technology 
systems from time to time in order for such systems to support the increasing needs of our expanding business. Costs and 
potential problems and interruptions associated with the implementation of new or upgraded systems and technology or 
with maintenance or adequate support of existing systems could disrupt our business and result in transaction errors, 
processing inefficiencies and loss of production or sales, causing our business and reputation to suffer. 

 
Further, our systems and those of our third-party vendors, service providers, and business partners may be 

vulnerable to, and have experienced attempted security incidents, attacks by hackers (including ransomware attacks, 
phishing attacks and other third-party intrusions), acts of vandalism, computer viruses, misplaced or lost data, human errors 
or other similar events. If unauthorized parties gain access to our networks or databases, or those of our third-party vendors 
or business partners, they may be able to commit financial fraud, publish, delete, use inappropriately or modify our private 
and sensitive third-party information, including credit card information and other personally identifiable personal 
information. In addition, employees may intentionally or inadvertently cause data or security incidents that result in 
unauthorized payments, release of personally identifiable or confidential information. Because the techniques used to 
circumvent security systems can be highly sophisticated, change frequently, are often not recognized until launched against 
a target (and even, in many cases, until after having been successfully launched for some time) and may originate from less 
regulated and remote areas around the world, we may be unable to proactively address all possible techniques or implement 
adequate preventive measures for all situations. 

 
Security incidents compromising the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of our sensitive information and 

our systems and those of our third party vendors and business partners could result from cyber-attacks, computer malware, 
viruses, social engineering (including spear phishing and ransomware attacks), supply chain attacks, efforts by individuals 
or groups of hackers and sophisticated organizations, including state-sponsored organizations, errors or malfeasance of our 
personnel, including human error and bad actors, and security vulnerabilities in the software or systems on which we, or 
our third party vendors or business partners, rely. Cybercrime and hacking techniques are constantly evolving. We and/or 
our third-party vendors, service providers, and/or business partners may be unable to stop all attempted security breaches, 
react in a timely manner, or implement adequate preventative measures, particularly given the increasing use of hacking 
techniques designed to circumvent controls, avoid detection, and remove or obfuscate forensic artifacts. We anticipate that 
these threats will continue to grow in scope and complexity over time and such incidents may occur in the future, and could 
result in unauthorized, unlawful, or inappropriate access to, inability to access, disclosure of, or loss of the sensitive, 
proprietary and confidential information (including personal information) that we collect, receive, and process. We employ 
multiple methods at different layers of our systems designed to defend against intrusion and attack, to protect our systems 
and to resolve and mitigate the impact of any incidents. Despite our efforts to keep our systems secure and to remedy 
identified vulnerabilities, future attacks could be successful and could result in substantial liability or business risk. We 
expect that third parties will continue to attempt to gain unauthorized access to our systems or facilities through various 
means, including hacking into our systems or facilities, or those of our customers or vendors, or attempting to fraudulently 
induce our employees, customers, vendors or other users of our systems into disclosing sensitive information, which may 
in turn be used to access our IT systems. Our cybersecurity programs and efforts to protect our systems and data, and to 
prevent, detect and respond to data security incidents, may not prevent these threats or provide adequate security. We may 
experience breaches of our security measures due to human error, malfeasance, system errors or vulnerabilities, or other 
irregularities including attempts by former, current or future employees to misuse their authorized access and/or gain 
unauthorized access to our systems. As we rely on a number of our third party vendors and business partners, we are 
exposed to certain security risks outside of our direct control resulting from our engagements with these parties, and our 
ability to directly monitor these third-party vendors’ and business partners’ data security is limited. While we take care to 
vet our vendors and business partners and contract with them to require levels of data security and best practices, and 
employ a number of security measures designed to prevent, detect, and mitigate potential for harm to our users and our 
systems from the theft of or misuse of user credentials on our network, these measures may not be effective in every 
instance. Moreover, we or our third-party vendors or business partners may be more vulnerable to such attacks in remote 
work environments, which have increased in recent years. Additionally, while we maintain cyber insurance that may help 
provide coverage for these types of incidents, we cannot assure ensure that our insurance will be adequate to cover costs 
and liabilities related to an incident. Recently, we have experienced spoofing and social engineering incidents and have 
taken measures such as third-party forensic consultant reviews to ensure that no compromises of our systems have occurred 
and to mitigate risks of future harm. 

 
Any data security breach, attack, virus or other incident could result in additional financial losses, costly 

investigations and litigation exceeding applicable insurance coverage or contractual rights available to us, civil or criminal 
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penalties, operational changes or other response measures, loss of consumer confidence in our security measures, and 
negative publicity that could adversely affect our business, reputation, financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows. Furthermore, regulations and expectations for timely disclosing any cyber security events are evolving, and there are 
additional risks that in our response to such events, and in our disclosure, we will not meet the appropriate requirements, 
creating regulatory and litigation risks. 

In addition, if any such event resulted in access, disclosure or other loss or unauthorized use of information or 
data, such as customers’ and suppliers’ information, private information about employees and financial and strategic 
information about us and our business partners, whether actual or perceived, it could result in legal claims or proceedings, 
regulatory investigations or actions, and other types of liability under laws that protect the privacy and security of personal 
information, including federal, state and foreign data protection and privacy laws and regulations, violations of which could 
result in significant penalties, fines, costs and litigation. The cost of investigating, mitigating and responding to potential 
security breaches and complying with applicable breach notification obligations to individuals, regulators, partners and 
others can be significant and the risk of legal claims in the event of a security breach is increasing. For example, certain of 
the recently enacted state and international comprehensive privacy laws create a private right of action for certain data 
breaches and for non-compliance. Further, defending a suit, regardless of its merit, could be costly, divert management 
attention and harm our reputation. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceed available 
insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition 
of large deductibles or co-insurance requirements, could adversely affect our reputation, business, financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flows. Any material disruption or slowdown of our systems or those of our third-party 
vendors or business partners, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations 
and cash flows. Our risks are likely to increase as we continue to expand, grow our customer base, and process, store, and 
transmit increasing amounts of proprietary and sensitive data. In addition, although we seek to detect and investigate all 
data security incidents, security breaches and other incidents of unauthorized access to our information technology systems, 
it can be difficult to detect and determine the scope and impact of data security incidents. Any delay in identifying such 
breaches or incidents may lead to increased harm and legal exposure of the type described above. 

 
Changes in laws, regulations, and public perception concerning data privacy, or changes in the patterns of enforcement 
of existing laws and regulations, could impact our ability to efficiently gather, process, update, and/or provide some or 
all of the information we currently provide or the ability of our customers and users to use some or all of our products 
or services, and increases our compliance costs and litigation risks. 

We may collect, maintain, and otherwise process personal information and other data relating to our employees 
and customers. Additionally, we sell products directly to consumers from our website and rely on a variety of marketing 
techniques, including email and social media marketing, and we are subject to various laws and regulations that govern 
such selling, marketing and advertising practices. We are subject to numerous state, federal and international laws, rules 
and regulations that govern the collection, use and protection of personal information. 

 
In recent years, there has been an increase in attention to and regulation of data protection and data privacy across 

the globe, including the FTC’s increasingly active approach to enforcing data privacy in the United States, as well as the 
enactment of the European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”), which took effect in May 2018, the 
United Kingdom’s transposition of GDPR into its domestic laws , which took effect September 2021, the California 
Privacy Rights Act (“CPRA”), which took effect January 1, 2023 and expands the California Consumer Privacy Act 
(“CCPA”) of 2020, Virginia’s Consumer Data Protection Act, which also took effect January 1, 2023, and similar 
comprehensive privacy laws adopted in other states and jurisdictions including Colorado, Connecticut, and Utah. We 
anticipate that federal, state and international regulators will continue to enact new legislation related to privacy and 
cybersecurity. These laws may impose restrictions on our ability to gather and utilize personal information, provide 
individuals with additional rights around their personal information, and place downstream obligations on our vendors and 
business partners relating to their use of personal information we provide to them for processing. 

 
Our actual or alleged failure to comply with applicable privacy or data security laws, regulations, and policies, or 

to protect personal information, could result in enforcement actions and significant penalties against us, which could result 
in negative publicity or costs, subject us to claims or other remedies, and have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition, and results of operations. Further, these laws may require us to take on more onerous obligations in our 
contracts, add new provisions in data processing agreements ("DPAs") related to the processing of personal information, 
restrict our ability to store, transfer and process personal information or, in some cases, impact our ability to reach current 
and prospective customers, or to derive insights from data globally. Cross-border data transfers and the use of data transfer 
mechanisms now involve additional compliance steps and in the event any court blocks personal information transfers to or 
from a particular jurisdiction on the basis that certain or all such transfer mechanisms are not legally adequate, this could 
give rise to operational interruption in the performance of services for customers and internal processing of employee 
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information, greater costs to implement alternative data transfer mechanisms that are still permitted, regulatory liabilities, 
or reputational harm. 

We rely on a variety of marketing techniques and practices to sell our products and to attract new customers and 
consumers, and we are subject to various current and future data protection laws and obligations that govern marketing and 
advertising practices. For example, the Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography and Marketing Act of 2003, 
or the CAN-SPAM Act, establishes specific requirements for commercial email messages in the United States. 
Governmental authorities, including in the European Union and the United Kingdom, continue to evaluate the privacy 
implications inherent in the use of third-party “cookies” and other methods of online tracking for behavioral advertising 
and other purposes, such as by regulating the level of consumer notice and consent required before a company can employ 
cookies or other electronic tracking tools or the use of data gathered with such tools. Laws and regulations regarding the 
use of these cookies and other current online tracking and advertising practices could increase our costs of operations and 
limit our ability to acquire new consumers on cost-effective terms, which, in turn, could have an adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Furthermore, the uncertain and shifting regulatory 
environment and trust climate may prompt individuals to opt out of our collection of their personal information. Concern 
regarding our use of the personal information collected on our websites or via our marketing activities could impact sales 
of product. Additionally, certain new privacy laws require opt-ins rather than opt-outs for certain personal information, 
which could reduce some of the data we have historically been able to collect. Even the perception that the privacy of 
personal information is not satisfactorily protected or does not meet regulatory requirements could discourage prospective 
customers from purchasing our products. 

 
Industry-wide incidents or incidents with respect to our websites, including changes in industry standards, 

regulations, or laws, could deter people from using the internet or our websites to conduct transactions that involve the 
transmission of personal information, which could harm our business. We also receive data from third-party vendors (e.g., 
data brokers). While we have implemented certain contractual measures with such vendors to protect our interests, we are 
ultimately unable to verify with complete certainty the source of such data, how it was received, and that such information 
was collected and is being shared with us in compliance with all applicable data privacy laws. 

 
We may not be able to protect our intellectual property adequately, which may harm the value of our brands. 

 
We believe that our intellectual property has substantial value and has contributed significantly to the success of 

our business. Our trademarks are valuable assets that reinforce our brands and differentiate our products. We cannot assure 
you that we will be able to register and/or enforce our trademarks in all jurisdictions in which we do business, as the 
registrability of trademarks and the scope of trademark protection varies from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. In addition, third 
parties may adopt trade names or trademarks that are the same as or similar to ours, especially in jurisdictions in which we 
have not yet obtained trademark protection, thereby impeding our ability to build brand identity and possibly leading to 
market confusion. In addition, our trademark applications may be opposed by third parties, our trademarks may otherwise 
be challenged, and/or the scope of any of our trademark registrations could be narrowed as a result of a challenge, or even 
canceled entirely. Failure to protect our trademark rights could prevent us in the future from challenging third parties who 
use names and logos similar to our trademarks, which may in turn cause consumer confusion, negatively affect our brand 
recognition, or negatively affect consumers’ perception of our brands and products. Over the long term, if we are unable to 
successfully register our trademarks and trade names and establish name recognition based on our trademarks and trade 
names, we may not be able to compete effectively and our business may be adversely affected. 

 
In order to resolve certain trademark disputes, we have entered into coexistence or settlement agreements that 

permit other parties certain uses of marks similar to ours for certain categories and countries, and restrict the use of our 
marks in certain categories and countries. There is no guarantee that these coexistence settlement agreements will foreclose 
future trademark disputes. 

 
We also rely on proprietary expertise, recipes and formulations and other trade secrets and copyright protection to 

develop and maintain our competitive position. Obtaining patent protection, if available for any of such proprietary 
intellectual property, can be time consuming and expensive, and we cannot guarantee that our patent applications would be 
granted, or if granted, that they would be of sufficient scope to provide meaningful protection. Accordingly, we have in the 
past decided, and may in future decide, to protect our intellectual property rights in our technologies by maintaining them 
as trade secrets rather than publicly filing for formal intellectual property registrations such as patents and copyrights. 

Our confidentiality agreements with our employees and certain of our consultants, contract employees, suppliers 
and independent contractors, including some of our manufacturers who use our formulations to manufacture our products, 
generally require that all information made known to them be kept strictly confidential. 
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Nevertheless, trade secrets are difficult to protect. Although we attempt to protect our trade secrets, our 
confidentiality agreements may not effectively prevent disclosure of our proprietary information and may not provide an 
adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure of such information. In addition, others may independently 
develop similar recipes or formulations to those that we have maintained as trade secrets, in which case we would not be 
able to assert trade secret rights against such parties. Further, some of our formulations have been developed by or with our 
suppliers (manufacturing, co-packing, ingredient and packaging partners). As a result, we may not be able to prevent others 
from developing or using similar formulations. 

 
We cannot assure you that the steps we have taken to protect our intellectual property rights are adequate, that our 

intellectual property rights can be successfully defended and asserted in the future or that third parties will not infringe 
upon or misappropriate any such rights. We may be required to spend significant resources in order to monitor and protect 
our intellectual property rights. Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights, 
including to protect our trademarks and trade secrets. We cannot assure you that we will have adequate resources to enforce 
our intellectual property rights, as such enforcement and potential litigation can be costly, time-consuming, and distracting 
to the Company’s operations. Any such litigation could result in the impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual 
property, as our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims, and 
countersuits attacking the ownership, scope, validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights. 

 
We also face the risk of claims that we have infringed third parties’ intellectual property rights. If a third party 

asserts a claim that our offerings infringe, misappropriate or violate their rights, resulting litigation could be expensive and 
could divert management attention and resources away from our core business operations. Any claims of trademark or 
intellectual property infringement, even those without merit, could: 

 
• be expensive and time consuming to defend; 

 
• cause us to cease making, licensing or using products that incorporate the challenged intellectual property, which 

in turn could harm relationships with customers and distributors and might result in damages; 
 

• require us to redesign, reengineer, or rebrand our products or packaging, if feasible, and might result in large 
inventory write-offs of unsaleable or unusable materials; and 

 
• require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements in order to obtain the right to use a third party’s intellectual 

property which might affect our margins and ability to compete. 
 

Any royalty or licensing agreements, if required, may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. A 
successful claim of infringement against us could result in our being required to pay significant damages, enter into costly 
license or royalty agreements, or stop the sale of certain products, any of which could have a negative impact on our 
operating profits, our customer relations and harm our future prospects. 

Risks Related to the Ability to Finance our Business and Our Indebtedness 
 

We may require additional financing to achieve our goals, which may not be available when needed or may be costly 
and dilutive. 

We may require additional financing to support the growth of our business, to acquire new businesses, for 
working capital needs or to cover unforeseen costs and expenses. The amount of additional capital we may require, the 
timing of our capital needs and the availability of financing to fund those needs will depend on a number of factors, 
including our strategic initiatives and operating plans, the performance of our business, the number, complexity and 
characteristics of additional products or future manufacturing processes we require to serve new or existing markets, any 
proposed acquisitions and cost increases related to the integration of acquired products or businesses, any material or 
significant product recalls, any failure or disruption with our manufacturing and co-packing partners as well as our third 
party logistics providers, the expansion into new markets, any changes in our regulatory or legislative landscape, 
particularly with respect to product safety, advertising, product labeling and data privacy, the costs associated with being a 
public company and the market conditions for debt or equity financing. Additionally, the amount of capital required will 
depend on our ability to meet our sales goals and otherwise successfully execute our operating plan. We intend to 
continually monitor and adjust our operating plan as necessary to respond to developments in our business, our markets and 
the broader economy and it is possible that our business could become more capital intensive. Although we believe various 
debt and equity financing alternatives will be available to us to support our capital needs, financing arrangements on 
acceptable terms may not be available to us when needed. Additionally, these alternatives may require significant cash 
payments for interest and other costs or could be highly dilutive to our existing shareholders. Any such financing 
alternatives may not provide us with sufficient funds to meet our long-term capital requirements. 
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We may be unable to generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy our future debt service obligations, which would adversely 
affect our financial condition and results of operations. 

 
In May 2020, we entered into a five-year credit facility ("2020 Credit Facility") with Wells Fargo Bank, National 

Association consisting of a revolving line of credit, which currently provides for committed borrowings of $60 million. As 
of December 31, 2023, we have no outstanding debt under our 2020 Credit Facility. Our ability to make principal and 
interest payments on and to refinance any indebtedness we incur in the future will depend on our ability to generate cash in 
the future. This, to a certain extent, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory, and other 
factors that are beyond our control. If our business does not generate sufficient cash flow from operations, in the amounts 
projected or at all, or if future borrowings are not available to us in amounts sufficient to fund our other liquidity needs 
including working capital needs or acquisition needs, our financial condition and results of operations may be adversely 
affected. If we cannot generate sufficient cash flow from operations to make scheduled principal amortization and interest 
payments on our future debt obligations, we may need to refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness on or before 
maturity, sell assets, delay vendor payments and capital expenditures, or seek additional equity investments. If we are 
unable to refinance any of our indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms or at all or to effect any other action relating 
to our indebtedness on satisfactory terms or at all, our business may be harmed. 

The agreements governing our current and future indebtedness may contain restrictive covenants and our failure to 
comply with any of these covenants could put us in default, which would have an adverse effect on our business and 
prospects. 

Our 2020 Credit Facility imposes certain terms and restrictive covenants of these borrowings and the terms of any 
future indebtedness will likely impose similar restrictions. The 2020 Credit Facility contains, and agreements governing 
any future indebtedness may contain, a number of covenants which put some limits on our ability to, among other things: 

 
• sell, transfer or dispose of assets; 

 
• engage in mergers, acquisitions, and other business combinations; 

 
• make dividends and distributions on, or repurchases of, equity; 

 
• incur, assume, or permit to exist additional indebtedness; 

 
• make loans, advances or investments, or give guarantees; 

 
• incur liens; and 

 
• enter into transactions with affiliates. 

 
 

The 2020 Credit Facility also requires us to maintain a specified total leverage ratio, fixed charge coverage ratio 
and asset coverage ratio and our ability to meet these financial ratios may be affected by events beyond our control, and we 
may not satisfy such a test. A breach of the covenants in the 2020 Credit Facility or any agreements governing future debt 
obligations could result in a default under such agreements. By reason of cross-acceleration or cross-default provisions, 
other indebtedness may then become immediately due and payable. Our assets or cash flows may not be sufficient to fully 
repay borrowings under our outstanding debt instruments if accelerated upon an event of default. If amounts owed are 
accelerated because of a default and we are unable to pay such amounts, our lenders may have the right to assume control 
of substantially all of the assets securing the indebtedness. 

Any changes to interest rates could affect the value of any investments and interest income thereof, or could 
significantly change the cost of any borrowing. 

 
Borrowings under the 2020 Credit Facility accrue interest at variable rates and expose us to interest rate risk. 

Interest rates may fluctuate in the future. Although we have explored in the past various hedging strategies, we do not 
currently hedge our interest rate exposure under the 2020 Credit Facility. As a result, interest rates under the agreement or 
other variable rate debt obligations could be higher or lower than current levels. If interest rates increase, our debt service 
obligations on any future variable rate indebtedness could be significant. 

 
We generally operate with a small target cash balance, and when that level is exceeded, we invest any excess in 

interest generating investments with generally short maturities consistent with our projected cash business needs. Any 
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change in interest rates could affect the income from our cash equivalent balance and such investments, and might impact 
the market value of such holdings 

Risks Related to the Ownership of Our Common Stock 
 

Concentration of ownership of our shares among our existing executive officers, directors and principal shareholders 
may prevent new investors from influencing significant corporate decisions. 

Based upon our shares of common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2023, our executive officers, directors 
and shareholders who own more than 5% of our outstanding share capital, in the aggregate, beneficially own over 30% of 
our outstanding shares of common stock. These shareholders, acting together, are able to significantly influence all matters 
requiring shareholder approval, including the election and removal of directors and approval of any merger, consolidation 
or sale of all or substantially all of our assets. 

 
In addition, certain of our shareholders have entered into a shareholders’ agreement to support each other’s 

director nominees. For so long as such agreement remains, the remaining shareholders may be prevented from having an 
influence on the board. 

 
Some of these persons or entities may have interests different than yours. For example, because many of these 

shareholders purchased their shares at prices substantially below the current market price and have held their shares for a 
long period, they may be more interested in selling our Company to an acquirer than other investors, or they may want us 
to pursue strategies that deviate from the interests of other shareholders. 

 
Furthermore, sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock into the public market, particularly 

sales by our directors, executive officers and principal stockholders, or the perception that these sales might occur, could 
cause the market price of our common stock to decline. 

 
We no longer qualify as an “emerging growth company” within the meaning of the Securities Act and are required to 
comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. 

We previously qualified as an “emerging growth company” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act, as 
amended, and elected to take advantage of certain exemptions and relief from various reporting requirements that applied 
to public companies that are not “emerging growth companies.” As of December 31, 2023, the Company was deemed a 
large accelerated filer and can no longer take advantage of the exemptions available to “emerging growth companies.” As a 
large accelerated filer, our independent registered public accounting firm must provide an attestation report on our system 
of internal control over financial reporting in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and going forward, if we or our 
independent registered public accounting firm fails to assert our effectiveness in our internal control over financial 
reporting, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports. This may lead to 
restricted access to the capital markets or other sources of funds, and our stock price may be adversely affected. 

 
We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future. Consequently, any gains from an investment in our 
common stock will likely depend on whether the price of our common stock increases. 

 
We currently intend to retain any future earnings to finance the operation and expansion of our business and we do 

not expect to declare or pay any dividends in the foreseeable future. Moreover, the terms of our existing arrangements of 
indebtedness restrict our ability to pay dividends under certain circumstances, and any additional debt we may incur in the 
future may include similar restrictions. In addition, Delaware law may impose requirements that may restrict our ability to 
pay dividends to holders of our common stock. As a result, stockholders must rely on sales of their common stock after 
price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investment. 

 
Delaware law and provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws 
could make a merger, tender offer or proxy contest more difficult, limit attempts by our stockholders to replace or 
remove our current management and depress the market price of our common stock. 

 
Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws may 

discourage, delay or prevent a merger, acquisition or other change in control of us or tender offer that stockholders may 
consider favorable, including transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares. These 
provisions could also limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock, 
thereby depressing the market price of our common stock. In addition, these provisions may frustrate or prevent any 
attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to 
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replace members of our board of directors. Because our board of directors is responsible for appointing the members of our 
management team, these provisions could in turn affect any attempt by our stockholders to replace current members of our 
management team. Among others, these provisions include that: 

• the forum for certain litigation against us is restricted to Delaware or the federal courts, as applicable; 

• our board of directors has the exclusive right to expand the size of our board of directors and to elect directors to 
fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the board of directors or the resignation, death or removal of a director, 
which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our board of directors; 

 
• our board of directors is divided into three classes, Class I, Class II and Class III, with each class serving 

staggered three-year terms, which may delay the ability of stockholders to change the membership of a majority of 
our board of directors; 

 
• our stockholders may not act by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or 

special meeting of our stockholders; 
 

• a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by the chair of the board of directors, a chief executive 
officer, or the board of directors, which may delay the ability of our stockholders to force consideration of a 
proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors; 

 
• our amended and restated certificate of incorporation prohibits cumulative voting in the election of directors, 

which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates; 
 

• our board of directors may alter our bylaws without obtaining stockholder approval; 
 

• the required approval of the holders of at least two-thirds of the shares entitled to vote at an election of directors to 
adopt, amend or repeal our amended and restated bylaws or repeal the provisions of our amended and restated 
certificate of incorporation regarding the election and removal of directors; 

 
• stockholders must provide advance notice and additional disclosures in order to nominate individuals for election 

to the board of directors or to propose matters that can be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may 
discourage or deter a potential acquiror from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquiror’s own slate 
of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of our Company; and 

 
• our board of directors is authorized to issue shares of preferred stock and to determine the terms of those shares, 

including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute 
the ownership of a hostile acquirer. 

 
Moreover, we have opted out of Section 203 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, which we 

refer to as the DGCL, but our amended and restated certificate of incorporation will provide that engaging in any of a broad 
range of business combinations with any “interested” stockholder (generally defined as any stockholder with 15% or more 
of our voting stock) for a period of three years following the date on which the stockholder became an “interested” 
stockholder is prohibited unless certain requirements are met, provided, however, that, under our amended and restated 
certificate of incorporation, Verlinvest Beverages SA and any of its affiliates will not be deemed to be interested 
stockholders regardless of the percentage of our outstanding voting stock owned by them, and accordingly will not be 
subject to such restrictions. 

 
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is 
the sole and exclusive forum for certain stockholder litigation matters and the federal district courts of the United States 
are the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act, 
which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, 
officers, employees or stockholders. 

 
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that, subject to limited exceptions, (1) any 

derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company, (2) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary 
duty owed by any current or former director, officer, other employee or stockholder of the Company to the Company or the 
Company’s stockholders, (3) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General 
Corporation Law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws (as either may 
be amended or restated) or as to which the Delaware General Corporation Law confers exclusive jurisdiction on the Court 
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of Chancery of the State of Delaware or (4) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine of the law 
of the State of Delaware shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be exclusively brought in the Court of Chancery of the 
State of Delaware or, if such court does not have subject matter jurisdiction thereof, the federal district court of the State of 
Delaware. Additionally, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the federal district courts of the 
United States are the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause or causes of action arising under 
the Securities Act, including all causes of action asserted against a defendant to such complaint. The choice of forum 
provisions do not apply to claims or causes of action brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or 
any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction, as Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates 
exclusive federal jurisdiction over all claims brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the 
rules and regulations thereunder. Accordingly, actions by our stockholders to enforce any duty or liability created by the 
Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder must be brought in federal court. We note that there is uncertainty as 
to whether a court would enforce the choice of forum provision with respect to claims under the federal securities laws, and 
that investors cannot waive compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. 

 
The choice of forum provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds 

favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us 
and our directors, officers, and other employees, although our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our 
compliance with federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. Alternatively, if a court were to find the 
choice of forum provision contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or 
unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, 
which could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise 
acquiring or holding any interest in shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to the 
forum provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. 

 
General Risk Factors 

 
Changes in tax laws or in their implementation may adversely affect our business and financial condition. 

 
There could be significant changes in tax laws and regulations that could result in additional federal income taxes 

being imposed on us or changes to taxes in other jurisdictions. Any adverse developments in these laws or regulations, 
including legislative changes, judicial holdings or administrative interpretations, could have a material and adverse effect 
on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Changes in tax rates or exposure to additional tax 
liabilities or assessments could affect our profitability, and audits by tax authorities could result in additional tax payments. 

If our estimates or judgments relating to our critical accounting policies are based on assumptions that change or prove 
to be incorrect, our results of operations could fall below the expectations of our investors and securities analysts, 
resulting in a decline in the trading price of our common stock. 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. 

GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in our consolidated 
financial statements and accompanying notes. We base our estimates on many factors, including historical experience and 
various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, as discussed in Part II, Item 7. 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included elsewhere in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets, 
liabilities, equity and expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources. Our results of operations may be adversely 
affected if our assumptions change or if actual circumstances differ from those in our assumptions, which could cause our 
results of operations to fall below our publicly announced guidance or the expectations of securities analysts and investors, 
resulting in a decline in the market price of our common stock. 

 
Risks Related to Our Existence as a Public Benefit Corporation 

 
We operate as a Delaware public benefit corporation, and we cannot provide any assurance that we will achieve our 
public benefit purpose. 

As a public benefit corporation, we are required to produce a public benefit or benefits and to operate in a 
responsible and sustainable manner, balancing our stockholders’ pecuniary interests, the best interests of those materially 
affected by our conduct, and the public benefit or benefits identified by our amended and restated certificate of 
incorporation. There is no assurance that we will achieve our public benefit purpose or that the expected positive impact 
from being a public benefit corporation will be realized, which could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, 
which in turn may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 
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As a public benefit corporation, we are required to publicly disclose a report at least biennially on our overall 
public benefit performance and on our assessment of our success in achieving our specific public benefit purpose. If we are 
unable to provide the report, if we are unable to provide the report in a timely manner, or if the report is not viewed 
favorably by parties doing business with us or regulators or others reviewing our credentials, our reputation and status as a 
public benefit corporation may be harmed and we could be subject to derivative litigation. 

 
As a Delaware public benefit corporation, our focus on a specific public benefit purpose and producing positive effect 
for society may negatively impact our financial performance or increase legal risk. 

Unlike traditional corporations, which have a fiduciary duty to focus exclusively on maximizing stockholder 
value, our directors have a fiduciary duty to consider not only the stockholders’ interests, but also the Company’s specific 
public benefit and the interests of other stakeholders affected by our actions. Therefore, we may take actions that we 
believe will be in the best interests of those stakeholders materially affected by our specific benefit purpose, even if those 
actions do not maximize our financial results. While we intend for this public benefit designation and obligation to provide 
an overall net benefit to us, our stockholders and our customers, it could instead cause us to make decisions and take 
actions without seeking to maximize the income generated from our business. Our pursuit of longer-term or non-pecuniary 
benefits related to this public benefit designation may not materialize within the timeframe we expect or at all, yet may 
have an immediate negative effect on any amounts available for distribution to our stockholders. Accordingly, being a 
public benefit corporation may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and 
cash flows, which in turn could cause our stock price to decline. 

 
As a public benefit corporation, we may be less attractive as a takeover target than a traditional company would 

be, and, therefore, your ability to realize your investment through a sale may be limited. Under Delaware law, a public 
benefit corporation cannot merge or consolidate with another entity if, as a result of such merger or consolidation, the 
surviving entity’s charter “does not contain the identical provisions identifying the public benefit or public benefits,” unless 
the transaction receives approval from two-thirds of the target public benefit corporation’s outstanding voting shares. 
Additionally, public benefit corporations may also not be attractive targets for activists or hedge fund investors because 
new directors would still have to consider and give appropriate weight to the public benefit along with shareholder value, 
and shareholders committed to the public benefit can enforce this through derivative suits. Further, by requiring that boards 
of directors of public benefit corporations consider additional constituencies other than maximizing shareholder value, 
Delaware public benefit corporation law could potentially make it easier for a board to reject a hostile bid, even where the 
takeover would provide the greatest short-term financial yield to investors. Additionally, being a public benefit corporation 
may result in a different assessment of potential acquisitions than a traditional corporation and may limit the suitable pool 
of such targets. 

 
Stockholders of a Delaware public benefit corporation (if they, individually or collectively, own at least 2% of the 

Company’s outstanding shares or, upon our listing, the lesser of such percentage or shares of at least $2 million in market 
value) are entitled to file a derivative lawsuit claiming the directors failed to balance stockholder and public benefit 
interests. This potential liability does not exist for traditional corporations. Therefore, we may be subject to the possibility 
of increased derivative litigation, which would require the attention of our management, and, as a result, may adversely 
impact our management’s ability to effectively execute our strategy. Additionally, any such derivative litigation may be 
costly, which may have an adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations. 

 
Our directors have a fiduciary duty to consider not only our stockholders’ interests, but also our specific public benefit 
and the interests of other stakeholders affected by our actions. If a conflict between such interests arises, there is no 
guarantee that such a conflict would be resolved in favor of our stockholders. 

While directors of a traditional corporation are required to make decisions that they believe to be in the best 
interests of their stockholders, directors of a public benefit corporation have a fiduciary duty to consider not only the 
stockholders’ interests, but also how its stakeholders are affected by the company’s actions. Under Delaware law, directors 
are shielded from liability for breach of these obligations if they make informed and disinterested decisions that serve a 
rational purpose. Thus, unlike traditional corporations which must focus exclusively on stockholder value, our directors are 
not merely permitted, but obligated, to consider our specific public benefit and the interests of other stakeholders. In the 
event of a conflict between the interests of our stockholders and the interests of our specific public benefit or our other 
stakeholders, our directors must only make informed and disinterested decisions that serve a rational purpose; thus, there is 
no guarantee such a conflict would be resolved in favor of our stockholders. While we believe our public benefit 
designation and obligation will benefit our stockholders, in balancing these interests, our board of directors may take 
actions that do not maximize stockholder value. Any benefits to stockholders resulting from our public benefit purposes 
may not materialize within the timeframe we expect or at all and may have negative effects. For example: 
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• we may choose to revise our policies in ways that we believe will be beneficial to our stakeholders, including 
suppliers, employees and local communities, even though the changes may be costly; 

• we may take actions that exceed regulatory requirements, even though these actions may be more costly than other 
alternatives; 

• we may be influenced to pursue programs and services to further our commitment to the communities to which we 
serve even though there is no immediate return to our stockholders; or 

 
• in responding to a possible proposal to acquire the Company, our board of directors has a fiduciary duty to 

consider the interests of our other stakeholders, including suppliers, employees and local communities, whose 
interests may be different from the interests of our stockholders. 

 
We may be unable or slow to realize the benefits we expect from actions taken to benefit our stakeholders, which 

could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows, which in 
turn could cause our stock price to decline. 

 
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments. 

None. 

Item 1C. Cybersecurity. 

Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy 

We face significant and persistent cybersecurity risks due to the global nature of our business, the use of information 
technology systems, infrastructure and data in our business operations and our reliance on third-party vendors, suppliers, 
customers and business partners. We defend our systems against cybersecurity attacks on a daily basis and rely heavily on 
the reliability, security and efficiency of our information technology systems and ongoing employee training to face these 
threats. In addition, to protect our business, we have implemented a cybersecurity risk management program with a robust 
governance structure and strong mechanisms, controls, technologies, and processes designed to help us assess, identify, and 
manage these risks. 

 
We rely on a multidisciplinary team, including our information security function, legal department, management, 

and third-party service providers, as described further below, to identify, assess, and manage cybersecurity threats and risks. 
These processes include, among other things, annual security awareness training for employees, programs to increase 
awareness of phishing attempts, tools to detect and monitor unusual network activity, and processes to contain, escalate and 
respond to incidents. In addition, we have an enterprise Information Security Policy describing our cybersecurity program 
and governance structure and the processes and procedures in place to identify, mitigate and remediate cybersecurity threats 
and risks. 

 
To further protect our business, we partner with a third party vendor to provide cybersecurity and risk management 

as a managed service offering. They provide cybersecurity risk assessment and threat intelligence to the Company, in addition 
to acting as a managed service provider for our information technology program. We decided to retain a third party for these 
services given the small size of our Company and internal information technology staff and the quality, comprehensiveness, 
and cost-effectiveness of the services offered. An internal team, led by our Chief Operating Officer, oversees and works 
collaboratively with this third party vendor to evaluate the strength of our cybersecurity protocols and the results of testing 
to determine what additional actions, such as trainings or remedial actions, are necessary to lessen cybersecurity risks. We 
intend to continue to make investments to monitor and maintain the security of our data and cybersecurity infrastructure. 

Third Party Risk Management 

We also monitor and manage cybersecurity risks associated with our third-party service providers, including our 
managed security service provider, suppliers, customers and vendors, through, among other things, the processes set forth in 
our policies and procedures, due diligence processes, regular oversight, monitoring and auditing of our relationships by 
internal staff, supplier codes of conduct and escalation practices for reporting issues. We require our third-party providers to 
meet appropriate security requirements and controls prior to providing access to our internal systems, and investigate and 
report any security incidents, as appropriate. 

Based on the information available as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we are not aware of any 
risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any cybersecurity incidents, which have materially affected or are 
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reasonably likely to materially affect us, including our business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition. 
Despite our security measures, however, there can be no assurance that we, or the third parties with which we interact, will 
not experience a cybersecurity incident in the future that will materially affect us. For more information, see "Risk Factors 
—Risks Related to Our Information Technology and Intellectual Property" in Part I, Item IA of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K. 

 
Cybersecurity Governance 

Risk assessment and oversight are an integral part of our governance and management processes. Our Board of 
Directors (the "Board") has ultimate oversight of the Company's risk management. In accordance with its charter, the Audit 
Committee of the Board is responsible for overseeing our enterprise risk management program on behalf of the Board, 
including material risks related to cybersecurity threats, and reporting on these matters to the Board. The Audit Committee 
receives regular updates from management, including the information technology and legal teams, on cybersecurity risk 
resulting from risk assessments and reviews any information on relevant internal and industry cybersecurity incidents and 
is notified between such updates relative to any incidents which could materially affect the Company. Based on this 
information, our Audit Committee monitors the Company's cybersecurity program, including potential threats, weaknesses 
and vulnerabilities, and reviews the policies and procedures in place to prevent, detect and respond to cybersecurity threats 
and unauthorized access to our information security systems. Significant findings related to cybersecurity, data and 
technology risks or incidents are regularly reported to and discussed at the Board level. Three members of our Board, 
included two of our Audit Committee members, are currently pursuing or have received certifications in cyber-risk 
oversight through the National Association of Corporate Directors. 

 
Management, in coordination with our information technology department, is responsible for assessing the risk of 

cybersecurity threats and hiring appropriate personnel and third-party consultants to oversee the cybersecurity program. 
Specifically, these processes are overseen by our multidisciplinary Technology Risk and Information Security Committee, 
which consists of leaders from our Information Technology, Operations, Internal Audit and Legal teams. Such individuals 
have an average of over 15 years of prior work experience in various roles across multiple industries involving information 
technology, risk management, operations and legal matters. 

 
Item 2. Properties. 

 
Our corporate headquarters is located in Manhattan, New York, at 250 Park Avenue South, where we lease office 

space, which provides support to both our Americas and International segments. As of December 31, 2023, we leased 
office facilities totaling approximately 29,400 square feet in the United States, Singapore and London, with the Singapore 
and London facilities primarily supporting our International segment. We believe that our corporate headquarters and other 
offices are adequate for our immediate needs and that we will be able to obtain additional or substitute space, as needed, on 
commercially reasonable terms. 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings. 
 

From time to time, we may be involved in various claims and legal proceedings related to claims arising out of our 
operations. We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings, including any such proceedings that are pending 
or threatened, of which we are aware. 

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures. 

Not Applicable. 
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity 
Securities.

Market Information

Our stock currently trades on The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC under the ticker symbol "COCO".

Holders

As of February 26, 2024, there were 40 holders of record of our common stock.

Dividend Policy

We currently intend to retain all available funds and future earnings, if any, for the operation and expansion of our 
business, and any authorized share repurchases and do not anticipate declaring or paying any dividends in the foreseeable 
future. Any future determination related to our dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our board of directors after 
considering our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, contractual requirements, business 
prospects and other factors the board of directors deems relevant. In addition, the terms of our current credit facilities 
contain restrictions on our ability to declare and pay dividends under certain limited circumstances.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer or Affiliated Purchaser

The Company did not sell any equity securities during the three months and year ended December 31, 2023 that 
were not registered under the Securities Act.

The following table provides information regarding repurchases of our common stock during the three months 
ended December 31, 2023:

(In millions)

November 1, 2023 - 
November 30, 2023 — $— — $— 

(1) On October 30, 2023, the Company's Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program ("Program") authorizing 
the Company to repurchase up to $40 million of Common Stock. Shares of Common Stock may be repurchased under the 
Program from time to time through open market purchases, block trades, private transactions or accelerated or other 
structured share repurchase programs. To the extent not retired, shares of Common Stock repurchased under the Program 
will be placed in the Company's treasury shares. The extent to which the Company repurchases shares of Common Stock, 
and the timing of such repurchases, will depend upon a variety of factors, including market conditions, regulatory 
requirements and other corporate considerations, as determined by the Company. The Program has no time limits, and may 
be suspended or discontinued at any time. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company repurchased 30,000 
shares at a cost of $0.8 million under this program.

Performance Graph
The following graph illustrates the total return from October 22, 2021 through December 29, 2023, for (i) our 

common stock, (ii) the Russell 2000 Index, (iii) the NASDAQ Composite Index, and (iv) the NASDAQ US Smart Food & 
Beverage Index. The graph assumes that $100 was invested on October 22, 2021 in our common stock, the Russell 2000
1 

October 1, 2023 -
October 31, 2023 — $— — $—

Period
Total Number of 
Shares Purchased

Total Number of Approximate Dollar 
Shares Purchased as Value of Shares That 

Part of Publicly May be Purchased
Average Price Paid  Announced Plans or  Under the Plans or 

Per Share Programs (1) Programs

December 1, 2023 -
December 31, 2023 30,000 $25.78 30,000 $39.2
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Index, the NASDAQ Composite Index, and the NASDAQ US Smart Food & Beverage Index, and that any dividends were 
reinvested. The graph assumes our closing sales price on October 22, 2021 of $13.95 per share as the initial value of our 
common stock and not the initial offering price to the public of $15.00 per share. The comparisons reflected in the graph 
are not intended to forecast the future performance of our stock and may not be indicative of our future performance. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Item 6. [Reserved] 

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
 

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together 
with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this 10-K filing. This discussion 
contains forward-looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual 
results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, 
including those set forth under the section titled “Risk Factors” or in other parts of this Form 10-K. Our historical results 
are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any period in the future. Except as otherwise noted, all 
references to 2023 refer to the year ended December 31, 2023, all references to 2022 refer to the year ended December 31, 
2022 and all references to 2021, refer to the year ended December 31, 2021. 

 
This section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K generally discusses the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 

and year-over-year comparisons between the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. Discussions of the periods prior 
to the year ended December 31, 2022 that are not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are found in 
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in Part II, Item 7 of our 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the discussion therein for the year ended 
December 31, 2022 compared to the year ended December 31, 2021. 

 
Overview 

The Vita Coco Company is a leading platform for brands in the functional beverage category. We pioneered 
packaged coconut water in 2004 and have extended our business into other categories. Our mission is to deliver great 
tasting, natural and nutritious products that we believe are better for consumers and better for the world. We are one of the 
largest brands globally in the coconut and other plant waters category, and a large supplier of private label coconut water. 

Our branded portfolio is led by our Vita Coco brand, which is the leader in the coconut water category in the 
United States, and also includes coconut oil, juice, and milk offerings. Our other brands include Ever & Ever, a sustainably 
packaged water, and PWR LIFT, a protein-infused fitness drink. We also offered Runa, a plant-based energy drink inspired 
by the guayusa plant native to Ecuador, which we ceased selling in December 2023. We supply private label products to 
key retailers in both the coconut water and coconut oil categories. Additionally, we generate revenue from bulk product 
sales to beverage and food companies. 
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We source our coconut water from a diversified global network of 14 factories across six countries supported by 
thousands of coconut farmers. As we do not own any of these factories, our supply chain is a fixed asset-lite model 
designed to better react to changes in the market or consumer preferences. We also work with co-packers in America and 
Europe to support local packaging and repacking of our products and to better service our customers’ needs. 

Vita Coco is available in over 30 countries, with our primary markets in North America, the United Kingdom, and 
China. Our primary markets for private label are North America and Europe. Our products are distributed primarily 
through club, food, drug, mass, convenience, e-commerce, and foodservice channels. Our products are also available in a 
variety of on-premise locations such as corporate offices, fitness clubs, airports, and educational institutions. 

 

 
Key Factors Affecting Our Performance 

 
We believe that the growth of our business and our future success are dependent upon many factors, including the 

key trends and uncertainties highlighted below: 

 
Risks Associated with our Supply Chain and Shipping 

 
Our global asset lite supply chain model has been an integral part of our ability to efficiently scale our business 

and compete in the marketplace, and to support our private label business. This asset-lite model allows us to effectively 
manage total delivery costs and afford greater ability to shift volume between our suppliers to optimize our supply chain, 
and better manage our supply levels. In addition, our scale of sourcing has allowed us to add capacity as needed and service 
retailers more reliably, and we believe that our global position as one of the largest and highest quality coconut water 
procurers in the world protects our customer and supplier relationships. 

 
However, in order to make our supply chain model successful and efficient, we source a large amount of our 

finished goods from international countries, which exposes us to international supply chain inflation, particularly ocean 
freight. Uncertainty in the macroeconomic environment resulting from geopolitical and economic instability (including the 
effects of current wars and other international conflicts) and variability in interest rates, foreign exchange rates and 
inflationary cost environments may affect our global supply chain. Inflation rates and foreign exchange rate movements 
varies by country and relevant period, and can impact our expenses significantly. 

 
We experienced significant inflation on transportation costs over the past three years, which affected our costs and 

margins significantly. Although we saw these transportation costs return to near pre-pandemic levels during 2023, we 
expect instability in pricing to continue in 2024 caused by recent geopolitical disruption of shipping lanes due to ocean 
carriers avoiding the Gulf due primarily to concerns that Houthi forces, based in Yemen, may attack freighters. We 
experienced spot cost increases for ocean freight routes from Asia, and then more significant cost increases when carriers 
began to route away from the Suez Canal. The changes in shipping container prices and service levels and cost increases in 
shipping and port congestion related costs have materially impacted our financial results in recent years. Due to the price 
sensitivity of our products, we may not be able to pass such increases on to our customers without impacting our volume, 
revenue, margins, and operating results and we have no certainty when these pressures may lessen. The Company is 
continuing to monitor the situation carefully to understand any future potential impact on its people and business. 

Consumer Demand and Relationships with Key Customers 

Coconut water accounted for approximately 92% of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023 and we 
believe that sales of coconut water will continue to be a significant portion of our business in the foreseeable future. The 
coconut water category has been growing steadily in recent years and our Vita Coco brand has successfully gained over 
50% market share in the US and over 80% market share in the UK in this category. We are also a significant supplier of 
private label coconut water and coconut oil products in the US and in Europe. Any material negative change to consumer 
demand for our products or coconut water generally, or failure to grow the coconut water category, could adversely affect 
our business. Consumer demand between branded products and private label may vary over time. In order to meet this 
consumer demand for our products, we also are subject to the risk of overly relying upon our largest customers for both our 
branded and private label business. In 2023, we announced changes to our supply relationship with a significant private 
label customer with the expected loss of a significant private label coconut oil business. Any loss of business or changes in 
our relationships with our key customers can impact our operating results in future periods, as may changes in consumer 
demand for private label versus branded products. 

 
Ability to Generate Growth Through Product Innovation 
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The beverage industry is subject to shifting consumer preferences which present opportunities for new beverage 
occasions, tastes and functional benefits. Our future success is therefore partially dependent on our ability to identify these 
trends and develop products and brands that effectively meet those needs. We also invest in sales and marketing and 
execute our sales strategy to develop and deepen consumers’ connection to our brand and new products and to create 
category growth and increase our branded share. Our innovation efforts focus on developing and marketing product 
extensions, improving upon the quality and taste profiles of existing products, and introducing new products or brands to 
meet evolving consumer needs. For example, we introduced Vita Coco juice as our first broad based offering of coconut 
juice with pulp in cans. In 2023, we expanded distribution of Vita Coco juice, with a focus on convenience stores and, in 
2024, we intend to continue to gain distribution in convenience, while expanding to select mass and food retailers. 

 
We maintain in-house research and development capabilities as well as strong third-party relationships with flavor 

development houses, and we monitor the latest advancements to support continued innovation and learning. Our ability to 
successfully improve existing products, or develop, market and sell new products or brands, or our ability to grow the 
category or gain branded share, depends on our commitment and continued investment in sales execution, marketing, 
innovation, and our willingness to try and fail and learn from our experiences. 

 
Ability to Successfully Execute Both In-Store and Online 

To aid the growth of our business, we intend to continue improving our operational efficiency and leverage our 
brand position across channels, and therefore have a balanced approach to investment and development of capabilities in 
retail and e-commerce execution. Our DSD network is an important asset in executing physical retail programs and 
ensuring product availability and visibility in the United States. In 2023, we offered more multi-packs in coconut water in 
US retail to increase consumption with core consumers, and increased distribution of our other product offerings. 
Managing our DSD network requires relationship building and communication as to plans, and alignment of goals and 
interests, and we are not always a top priority for our DSD network. We also continue to expand our business in e- 
commerce, including our DTC business, and look to adapt our approaches as consumer and retail behavior changes to 
ensure we remain competitive and visible regardless of channel. 

 
Components of Our Results of Operations 

 
Net Sales 

We generate revenue through the sale of our Vita Coco branded coconut water, Private Label and Other products in 
the Americas and International segments. Our sales are predominantly made to distributors or to retailers for final sale to 
consumers through retail channels, which includes sales to traditional brick and mortar retailers, who may also resell our 
products through their own online platforms. Our revenue is recognized net of allowances for returns, discounts, credits 
and any taxes collected from consumers. 

 
Cost of Goods Sold 

Cost of goods sold includes the costs of the products sold to customers, inbound and outbound shipping and 
handling costs, freight and duties, shipping and packaging supplies, and warehouse fulfillment costs. 

 
Gross Profit and Gross Margin 

Gross profit is net sales less cost of goods sold, and gross margin is gross profit as a percentage of net sales. Gross 
profit has been, and will continue to be, affected by various factors, including the mix of products we sell, the channel 
through which we sell our products, the promotional environment in the marketplace, manufacturing costs, exchange rates, 
commodity prices and transportation rates. We expect that our gross margin will fluctuate from period to period depending 
on the interplay of these variables. 

 
Management believes gross margin provides investors with useful information related to the profitability of our 

business prior to considering all of the operating costs incurred. Management uses gross profit and gross margin as key 
measures in making financial, operating and planning decisions and in evaluating our performance. 

 
Operating Expenses 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 

Selling, general and administrative expenses ("SG&A") include marketing expenses, promotional expenses, and 
general and administrative expenses. Marketing and promotional expenses consist primarily of costs incurred promoting 
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and marketing our products and are primarily driven by investments to grow our business and retain customers. General 
and administrative expenses include payroll, employee benefits, stock-based compensation, broker commissions and other 
headcount-related expenses associated with supply chain & operations, finance, information technology, human resources 
and other administrative-related personnel, as well as general overhead costs of the business, including research and 
development for new innovations, rent and related facilities and maintenance costs, depreciation and amortization, and 
legal, accounting, and professional fees. We expense all SG&A as incurred. 

 
Other Income (Expense, Net 

Unrealized Gain/(Loss on Derivative Instruments 

We are subject to foreign currency risks as a result of our inventory purchases and intercompany transactions. In 
order to mitigate the foreign currency risks, we and our subsidiaries enter into foreign currency exchange contracts which 
are recorded at fair value. Unrealized gain/(loss) on derivative instruments consists of gains or losses on such foreign 
currency exchange contracts which are unsettled as of period end. See “—Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures about 
Market Risk—Foreign Currency Exchange Risk” for further information. 

 
Foreign Currency Gain/(Loss) 

Our reporting currency is the U.S. dollar. We maintain the financial statements of each entity within the group in 
its local currency, which is also the entity’s functional currency. Foreign currency gain/(loss) represents the transaction 
gains and losses that arise from exchange rate fluctuations on transactions denominated in a currency other than the 
functional currency. See “—Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures about Market Risk—Foreign Currency Exchange 
Risk” for further information. 

 
Interest Income 

Interest income consists of interest income earned on our cash and cash equivalents, and money market funds. 

 
Interest Expense 

Interest expense consists of interest payable on our credit facilities and vehicle loans. 

 
Income Tax Expense 

We are subject to federal and state income taxes in the United States and taxes in foreign jurisdictions in which we 
operate. We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities based on temporary differences between the financial reporting and 
income tax bases of assets and liabilities using statutory rates. We regularly assess the need to record a valuation allowance 
against net deferred tax assets if, based upon the available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the 
deferred tax assets will not be realized. 

 
Operating Segments 

 
We operate in two reporting segments: 

• Americas—The Americas segment is comprised of our operations in the Americas region, primarily in the 
United States and Canada. 

• International—The International segment is comprised of our operations primarily in Europe, the Middle East, 
and the Asia Pacific regions. 

 
Each segment derives its revenues from the following product categories: 

• Vita Coco Coconut Water—This product category consists of all branded coconut water product offerings 
under the Vita Coco labels, where the majority ingredient is coconut water. For these products, control is 
transferred upon customer receipt, at which point the Company recognizes the transaction price for the product 
as revenue. 

• Private Label —This product category consists of all private label product offerings, which includes coconut 
water and coconut oil. The Company determined the production and distribution of private label products 
represents a distinct performance obligation. Since there is no alternative use for these products and the 
Company has the right to payment for performance completed to date, the Company recognizes the revenue for 
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the production of these private label products over time as the production for open purchase orders occurs, 
which may be prior to any shipment.

• Other—This product category consists of all other products, which includes Runa (until we ceased selling it in 
December 2023), Ever & Ever and PWR LIFT product offerings, Vita Coco product extensions beyond coconut 
water, coconut milk products, and other revenue transactions (e.g., bulk product sales). For these products, 
control is transferred upon customer receipt, at which point the Company recognizes the transaction price for 
the product as revenue.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively:

Year Ended December 31, Change

(in thousands) (in thousands)
Net sales $ 493,612 $ 427,787 $ 65,825 15.4%
Cost of goods sold 312,883 324,426 (11,543) (3.6%)

Gross profit 180,729 103,361 77,368 74.9%
Operating expenses

Selling, general and administrative 124,236 100,306 23,930 23.9%
Total operating expenses 124,236 100,306 23,930 23.9%

Income from operations 56,493 3,055 53,438 n/m
Other income (expense)

Unrealized gain (loss) on derivative
instrument (872) 6,606 (7,478) (113.2%)

Foreign currency gain (loss) (251) 1,387 (1,638) (118.1%)
Interest income 2,581 51 2,530 n/m
Interest expense (31) (258) 227 (88.0%)

Total other (expense) 1,427 7,786 (6,359) (81.7%)
Income before income taxes 57,920 10,841 47,079 434.3%

Provision for income taxes (11,291) (3,027) (8,264) 273.0%
Net income $ 46,629 $ 7,814 $ 38,815 496.7%

n/m—represents percentage calculated not being meaningful

Net Sales

The following table provides a comparative summary of the Company’s net sales by operating segment and product 
category:

2023 2022 Amount Percentage
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Year Ended
December 31, Change

(in thousands) (in thousands)

Americas segment
Vita Coco Coconut Water $ 317,221 $ 275,964 $ 41,257 15.0 %
Private Label 103,166 88,173 14,993 17.0 %
Other 9,858 9,485 373 3.9 %

Subtotal $ 430,245 $ 373,622 $ 56,623 15.2 %

International segment
Vita Coco Coconut Water $ 41,829 $ 38,570 $ 3,259 8.4 %
Private Label 18,713 12,855 5,858 45.6 %
Other 2,825 2,740 85 3.1 %

Subtotal $ 63,367 $ 54,165 $ 9,202 17.0 %
Total net sales $ 493,612 $ 427,787 $ 65,825 15.4 %

The primary driver of the consolidated net sales increase of 15.4% was increased case equivalents ("CE") volume 
growth of 13.4%. Net sales also benefited from branded pricing, which was partially offset by decreased price/mix of 
private label products.

Volume in Case Equivalent

The following table provides a comparative summary of our volume in CE, by operating segment and product 
category:

Year Ended
December 31, Change

2023 2022 Amount Percentage

(in thousands) (in thousands)

Americas segment
Vita Coco Coconut Water 33,021 29,458 3,563 12.1 %
Private Label 11,298 9,063 2,235 24.7 %
Other 923 1,248 (325) (26.0)%

Subtotal 45,242 39,769 5,473 13.8 %

International segment*
Vita Coco Coconut Water 5,783 5,628 155 2.8 %
Private Label 2,481 1,783 698 39.1 %
Other 62 46 16 34.8 %

Subtotal 8,326 7,457 869 11.7 %
Total volume (CE) 53,568 47,226 6,342 13.4 %

Note: A CE is a standard volume measure used by management which is defined as a case of 12 bottles of 330ml liquid 
beverages or the same liter volume of oil.

* International Other excludes minor volume that is treated as zero CE.

Americas Segment

2023 2022 Amount Percentage
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Americas net sales increased by $56.6 million, or 15.2%, to $430.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, 
from $373.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily driven by CE volume growth of 13.8% with 
additional benefit from branded pricing, partially offset by private label price/mix. 

 
Vita Coco Coconut Water net sales increased by $41.3 million, or 15.0%, to $317.2 million for the year ended 

December 31, 2023, from $276 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase was primarily driven by a 
combination of increased CE volume growth and benefits from pricing actions. 

 
Private Label net sales increased by $15.0 million, or 17.0%, to $103.2 million for the year ended December 31, 

2023, from $88.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase was driven by significant CE volume growth 
of 24.7%, which was partly offset by product price/mix. 

 
Net Sales for Other products increased by $0.4 million, or 3.9%, to $9.9 million for the year ended December 31, 

2023, from $9.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. 

 
International Segment 

International net sales increased by $9.2 million, or 17.0%, to $63.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 
from $54.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase was driven by CE volume growth of 11.7%, with 
notable growth in the Europe, the Middle East and Africa ("EMEA") region, in addition to benefits from net pricing 
actions. 

 
Vita Coco Coconut Water net sales increased by $3.3 million, or 8.4%, to $41.8 million for the year ended 

December 31, 2023, from $38.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase was driven by higher CE 
volume, primarily in the European region, which was partially offset by volume decreases in Asia, in addition to benefits 
from net pricing actions.. 

 
Private Label net sales increased by $5.9 million, or 45.6%, to $18.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, 

as compared to $12.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, which was driven by CE volume growth in both 
EMEA and the Asia Pacific regions. 

 
Net Sales for Other products increased by $0.1 million, or 3.1%, to $2.8 million for the year ended December 31, 

2023, from $2.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, driven primarily by CE volume growth in the EMEA 
region. 

 
Gross Profit 

 
Year Ended December 31, Change 

 2023 2022 Amount Percentage 
 (in thousands) (in thousands)  

Cost of goods sold     

Americas segment $ 267,983 $ 278,130 $ (10,147) (3.6%) 
International segment 44,900 46,296 $ (1,396) (3.0%) 

Total cost of goods sold  $ 312,883   $ 324,426   $ (11,543) (3.6%) 

Gross profit 
Americas segment $ 162,262 $ 95,492 $ 66,770 69.9% 
International segment 18,467 7,869 10,598 134.7% 

Total gross profit $ 180,729 $ 103,361 $ 77,368 74.9% 
     

Gross margin (percentage of net sales)     

Americas segment 37.7% 25.6%  12.1% 
International segment 29.1% 14.5%  14.6% 

Consolidated 36.6% 24.2%  12.4% 
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On a consolidated basis, cost of goods sold decreased $11.5 million, or 3.6%, to $312.9 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2023, from $324.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. On a consolidated and segment basis, the 
decrease was primarily driven by significantly lower transportation costs, relating to ocean freight and domestic logistics, 
which were partly offset by higher CE volume.

On a consolidated basis, gross profit increased by $77.4 million, or 74.9%, to $180.7 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2023, from $103.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. This was a result of decreased 
transportation cost, strong CE volume growth and benefits from branded pricing actions, which was partially offset by 
price/mix effects within private label products. As a result, gross margin increased approximately 12.4% percentage points 
to 36.6% for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to 24.2% for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Operating Expenses

Year Ended December 31, Change

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

SG&A expense increased by $23.9 million, or 23.9%, to $124.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, 
from $100.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase was primarily driven by a $13.3 million increase 
in marketing expenses, a $13.3 million increase in personnel related expenses and $1.5 million of costs associated with the 
secondary share offerings in May 2023 and in November 2023, partially offset by a non-recurring intangible asset 
impairment charge of $6.7 million in 2022.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Year Ended December 31, Change
2023  2022  Amount Percentage

(in thousands)  (in thousands)

n/m—represents percentage calculated not being meaningful

Unrealized Gain/(Loss) on Derivative Instruments

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we recorded an unrealized loss of $0.9 million relating to outstanding 
derivative instruments for forward foreign currency exchange contracts, with the largest loss for the year ended 
December 31, 2023 related to the contracts hedging the British pound and the Brazilian real. During the year ended 
December 31, 2022, we recorded an unrealized gain of $6.6 million relating to outstanding derivative instruments for
forward foreign currency exchange contracts. All forward foreign currency exchange contracts were entered to hedge some 
of our exposures to the British pound, Canadian dollar, Brazilian real, Malaysian ringgit, European Union euro, and Thai 
baht.

Foreign Currency Gain/(Loss)

Foreign currency loss was $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to a $1.4 million gain 
for the year ended December 31, 2022. The change in both years was a result of movements in various foreign currency 
exchange rates related to transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency.

Unrealized gain/(loss) on derivative instruments $ (872) $ 6,606 $ (7,478) (113.2%)
Foreign currency gain/(loss) (251) 1,387 (1,638) (118.1%)
Interest income 2,581 51 2,530 n/m
Interest expense (31) (258) 227 (88.0%)

Other Income (Expense), Net $ 1,427 $ 7,786 $ (6,359) (81.7%)

2023 2022 Amount
(in thousands)

Percentage
(in thousands)

Selling, general, and administrative 124,236 100,306 $ 23,930 23.9%
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Interest Income
The increase in interest income for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the same prior year period was 

related to interest income on cash invested with financial institutions, reflecting improved cash balances and higher interest 
rates versus prior periods.

Interest Expense

The decrease in interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the same prior year period was 
driven by decreased borrowings on the 2020 Credit Facility.

Income Tax Expense

Year Ended December 31, Change

Tax Rate  19.5%  27.9% 

Income tax expense was $11.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to $3.0 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2022. The effective combined federal, state and foreign tax rate decreased to 19.5% from 27.9% 
for the years ended December 31, 2023, and 2022, respectively.

The effective tax rate for the current period is lower than the U.S. statutory rate of 21% primarily as a result of 
lower statutory tax rates in countries outside the U.S. that the Company operates in and the corresponding credits available 
from those taxing jurisdictions to offset U.S. income tax. The effective tax rate for the same period in the prior year is 
higher than the U.S. statutory rate of 21% primarily as a result of state income taxes for the U.S. operations of the
Company and other nondeductible expenses for tax purposes, and is partially offset by lower statutory tax rates in countries 
outside the U.S. that the Company operates in. The change in effective tax rates between the periods is primarily driven by 
the jurisdictional mix of the Company’s pre-tax profits and the relative impact of other nondeductible expense in relation to 
the pre-tax profits.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are supplemental non-GAAP financial measures that are used by management and 
external users of our financial statements, such as industry analysts, investors and lenders. These non-GAAP measures 
should not be considered as alternatives to net income as a measure of financial performance or cash flows from operations 
as a measure of liquidity, or any other performance measure derived in accordance with GAAP and should not be
construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items.

These non-GAAP measures are key metrics used by management and our board of directors, to assess our financial 
performance. We present these non-GAAP measures because we believe they assist investors in comparing our 
performance across reporting periods on a consistent basis by excluding items that we do not believe are indicative of our 
core operating performance and because we believe it is useful for investors to see the measures that management uses to 
evaluate the Company.

We define EBITDA as net income before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization. Adjusted EBITDA is 
defined as EBITDA with adjustments to eliminate the impact of certain items, including certain non-cash and other items, 
that we do not consider representative of our ongoing operating performance.

A reconciliation from net income to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA is set forth below:

2023 2022 Amount
(in thousands)

Percentage
(in thousands)

Income tax expense $ (11,291) $ (3,027) $ (8,264) 273.0%
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Year Ended December 31, 
2023 2022 

(in thousands) 

Net income $ 46,629 $ 7,814 
Depreciation and amortization 660 1,901 
Interest income (2,581) (51) 
Interest expense 31 258 
Income tax expense 11,291 3,027 

EBITDA 56,030 12,949 
Stock-based compensation (a) 9,128 7,384 
Unrealized (gain)/loss on derivative instruments (b) 872 (6,606) 
Foreign currency (gain)/loss (b) 251 (1,387) 
Secondary Offering Costs (c) 1,525 — 
Impairment of intangible assets (d) — 6,714 
Other adjustments (e) $ 363 $ 1,240 

Adjusted EBITDA $ 68,169 $ 20,294 

(a) Non-cash charges related to stock-based compensation, which vary from period to period depending on volume and
vesting timing of awards and forfeitures. We adjusted for these charges to facilitate comparison from period to
period.

(b) Unrealized gains or losses on derivative instruments and foreign currency gains or losses are not considered in our
evaluation of our ongoing performance.

(c) Reflects other non-recurring expenses related to costs associated with two secondary offerings in which Verlinvest
Beverages SA sold shares of the Company. The shares were sold in an underwritten public offering, which closed on
May 26, 2023 and a block trade that was executed on November 9, 2023. The Company did not receive any
proceeds from the sale of the shares.

(d) Non-cash intangible asset impairment charge related to the Runa trademarks and distributor relationships.
(e) Reflects other charges primarily related to the impairment loss related to assets held for sale in both periods and

other non-recurring expenses.

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Since our inception, we have financed our operations primarily through cash generated from our business 
operations and proceeds on borrowings through our credit facilities and term loans. We had $132.5 million and $19.6 
million of cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

Considering recent market conditions and our business assumptions, we have reevaluated our operating cash flows 
and cash requirements and believe that current cash, cash equivalents, future cash flows from operating activities and cash 
available under our 2020 Credit Facility will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs, including working capital 
needs, capital expenditures and contractual obligations for at least 12 months from the issuance date of the condensed 
consolidated financial statements included herein and the foreseeable future. 

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including our revenue growth rate, our working capital 
needs primarily for inventory build, our global footprint, the expansion of our marketing activities, the timing and extent of 
spending to support product development efforts, the introduction of new and enhanced products and the continued market 
consumption of our products, as well as any shareholder distribution either through equity buybacks or dividends. Our 
asset-lite operating model has historically provided us with a low cost nimble, and scalable supply chain, which allows us 
to adapt to changes in the market or consumer preferences while also efficiently introducing new products across our 
platform. We may seek additional equity or debt financing in the future in order to acquire or invest in complementary 
businesses, products and/or new IT infrastructures. In the event that we require additional financing, we may not be able to 
raise such financing on terms acceptable to us or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital or generate cash flows 
necessary to expand our operations and invest in continued product innovation, we may not be able to compete 
successfully, which would harm our business, operations and financial condition. 
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Cash Flows 

The following tables summarize our sources and uses of cash: 

Year Ended December 31, Change 
(in thousands) 2023 2022 Amount Percentage 
Cash flows provided by (used in): 
Operating activities $ 107,155 $ (10,935) $ 118,090 (1079.9)% 
Investing activities (594) (982) 388 (39.5)% 
Financing activities 6,290 3,034 3,256 107.3 % 
Effects of exchange rate on changes on cash and 

cash equivalents 387 (178) 565 (317.4)% 
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  $ 113,238  $ (9,061)  $ 122,299 (1349.7)% 

Operating Activities 

Our main source of operating cash is payments received from our customers. Our primary use of cash in operating 
activities are for cost of goods sold and SG&A expenses. 

During the year ended December 31, 2023, cash from operating activities increased $118 million as compared to 
the year ended December 31, 2022. The higher cash generation was driven by the increase in net income after adjusting for 
non-cash items and improvements in working capital. 

Investing Activities 

During the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2022, cash used in 
investing activities decreased $0.4 million, driven by less expenditures for property and equipment. 

Financing Activities 

During the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash provided by 
financing activities was $3.3 million higher, primarily driven by increased proceeds from the exercise of stock options. 

Debt 

We had an immaterial amount of outstanding debt as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 related to 
vehicle loans. 

Revolving Credit Facility 

In May 2020, the Company entered into the five-year credit facility (the "2020 Credit Facility") with Wells Fargo 
Bank, National Association consisting of a revolving line of credit, which currently provides for committed borrowings of 
$60 million. The maturity date on the 2020 Credit Facility is May 12, 2026. 

Starting in December 2022, borrowings on the 2020 Credit Facility bear interest at rates based on either: 1) a 
fluctuating rate per annum determined to be the sum of Daily Simple Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") plus a 
spread defined in the credit agreement (the "Spread"); or 2) a fixed rate per annum determined to be the sum of the Term 
SOFR plus the Spread. The Spread ranges from 1.00% to 1.75%, which is based on the Company’s leverage ratio (as 
defined in the credit agreement) for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter as defined in the credit agreement. In addition, 
the Company is currently subject to an unused commitment fee ranging from 0.10% and 0.20% on the unused amount of 
the line of credit, with the rate being based on the Company’s leverage ratio (as defined in the credit agreement). 

The borrowings made before December 2022 bore interest at rates based on either: 1) London Interbank Offered 
Rate ("LIBOR"); or 2) a specified base rate (determined by reference to the greatest of the prime rate published by Wells 
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Fargo, the federal funds effective rate plus 1.5% and one-month LIBOR plus 1.50%), as selected periodically by the 
Company. The LIBOR-based loans bore interest at LIBOR plus the Spread. The unused commitment fee prior to the 
December 2022 amendment was the same. 

The outstanding balance on the Revolving Facility was zero as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, 
respectively. As of December 31, 2023, we were compliant with all financial covenants. 

 
Term Loan Facility 

In May 2021, we entered into a Term Commitment Note, or the Term Facility with Wells Fargo pursuant to the 
terms of the Credit Agreement entered into in connection with the 2020 Credit Facility. The Term Facility provided us with 
term loans of up to $30.0 million, or the Term Loans. Borrowings under the Term Facility bear interest at the same rate as 
the Revolving Facility. We were required to repay the principal on the Term Loans in quarterly installments, commencing 
on October 1, 2021, through maturity date of May 21, 2026. On October 27, 2021, the Company repaid the outstanding 
balance on the 2021 Term Loan using the net proceeds from the IPO. 

 
 

Vehicle Loans 

We periodically enter into vehicle loans. Interest rate on these vehicle loans range from 4.56% to 5.68%. The 
outstanding balance on the vehicle loans as of December 31, 2023 was less than $0.1 million. 

 
For additional information, see Note 10, Debt, to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this 

Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangement 

 
We did not have during the periods presented, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet financing 

arrangements or any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, including entities sometimes 
referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, that were established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance 
sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes. 

 
Contractual Obligations and Commitments 

 
We have contractual obligations to repay indebtedness and required interest payments and unused commitment 

fees under our Revolving Facility and vehicle loans. As of December 31, 2023, we had no outstanding balance on the 
Revolving Facility. Any future outstanding balances on the Revolving Facility will be required to be repaid by May 2026. 

 
We lease certain assets under noncancelable operating leases, which expire through 2025. The leases relate 

primarily to office space in addition to machinery and equipment. Future minimum commitments under these leases are 
$1.7 million as of December 31, 2023. 

 
As of December 31, 2023, we also have inventory purchase commitments, which include any raw material or 

packaging commitments with our suppliers to secure our needs for future orders, which are generally due to be paid within 
one year. We also have production purchase commitments from our manufacturers based on our production plans, forecasts 
and contracts, that might result in costs if we were to reduce our purchases significantly in 2024 or for some relationships, 
in future years. We have other contractual payments related to information technology service agreements, sponsorship and 
marketing agreements, and minimum contractual third-party warehouse commitments, which are not individually material. 

 
Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates 

 
Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of our 

consolidated financial statements and related disclosures requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, costs and expenses, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in our 
consolidated financial statements. We base our estimates on historical experience, known trends and events and various 
other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making 
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. We evaluate 
our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Our actual results may differ from these estimates under different 
assumptions or conditions. 
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While our significant accounting policies are described in more detail in Note 2 to our consolidated financial 
statements appearing within this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe that the following accounting policies are those 
most critical to the judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. 

 
Revenue Recognition 

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
("ASC 606"). ASC 606 defines a five-step model that requires entities exercise judgment when considering the terms of 
contract(s), which include (1) identifying the contract or agreement with a customer, (2) identifying the performance 
obligations in the contract or agreement, (3) determining the transaction price, (4) allocating the transaction price to the 
separate performance obligations, and (5) recognizing revenue as each performance obligation is satisfied. Revenue is 
recognized when control of the promised good is transferred to the customer in an amount that reflects the consideration to 
which the Company is expected to be entitled to receive in exchange for those products. Each contract includes a single 
performance obligation to transfer control of the product to the customer. Our revenue is recognized net of allowances for 
returns, discounts, credits and any taxes collected from consumers. 

 
For our various products in the Vita Coco Coconut Water and Other product categories, control is transferred upon 

customer receipt, at which point the Company recognizes the transaction price for the product as revenue. The transaction 
price recognized reflects the consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for the sale of the product. The 
Company’s performance obligations are satisfied at that time. The Company does not have any significant contracts with 
customers requiring performance beyond delivery, and contracts with customers contain no incentives or discounts that 
would meet the criteria for a distinct good or service that could cause revenue to be allocated or adjusted over time. 
Shipping and handling activities are performed before the customer obtains control of the goods and therefore represent 
fulfillment costs, which are included in cost of goods sold, rather than revenue. 

 
Additionally, the Company determined the production and distribution of Private Label products represents a 

distinct performance obligation. Since there is no alternative use for these products and the Company has the right to 
payment for performance completed to date, the Company recognizes the revenue for the production of these Private Label 
products over time as the production for open purchase orders is completed, which may be prior to any shipment. The 
resulting contract assets are recorded in Prepaid expenses and other current assets. 

 
The Company provides trade promotions and sales discounts to its customers and distributors. Since these sales 

promotions and sales discounts do not meet the criteria for a distinct good or service, they are primarily accounted for as a 
reduction of revenue and include payments to customers and distributors for performing activities on our behalf, such as 
payments for in-store displays, payments to gain distribution of new products, payments for shelf space and discounts to 
promote lower retail prices. These consolidated financial statements include accruals for these promotion and discounts. 
The accruals are made for invoices that have not yet been received as of year-end and are recorded as a reduction of sales, 
and are based on contract terms and our historical experience with similar programs and require management judgement 
with respect to estimating customer and consumer participation and performance levels. 

 
Income Taxes 

The Company accounts for income taxes under Accounting Standards Codification 740, Income Taxes ("ASC 
740"), which requires an asset and liability approach to financial accounting and reporting for income taxes. Deferred 
income tax assets and liabilities are computed annually for differences between the consolidated financial statements and 
tax bases of assets and liabilities that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future. Such deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities computations are based on enacted tax laws and rates applicable to periods in which the differences are 
expected to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred income tax 
assets to the amount expected to be realized. Interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax positions are included in 
income tax expense in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income and accrued expenses in the 
consolidated balance sheets. The Company recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more 
likely than not of being sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 
50% likely of being realized. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in 
judgment occurs. 

 
We must make assumptions and judgments to estimate the amount of valuation allowances to be recorded against 

our deferred tax assets, which take into account current tax laws and estimates of the amount of future taxable income, if 
any. Changes to any of the assumptions or judgments could cause our actual income tax obligations to differ from our 
estimates. 
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Goodwill 

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price paid in excess of the fair value of net tangible and intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination and is measured in accordance with the provisions of ASC 350, Intangibles— 
Goodwill and Other. Goodwill is not amortized; instead goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis on December 
31, or more frequently if the Company believes indicators of impairment exist. 

 
The Company has determined that there are three reporting units for purposes of testing goodwill for impairment: 

(i) the Americas reporting unit, (ii) the Europe reporting unit, and (iii) the Asia reporting unit. The Company first assesses 
qualitative factors to determine whether it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its 
carrying value. In performing the qualitative assessment, the Company reviews factors both specific to the reporting units 
and to the Company as a whole, such as financial performance, macroeconomic conditions, industry and market 
considerations, and the fair value of each reporting unit at the last valuation date. If the Company elects this option and 
believes, as a result of the qualitative assessment, that it is more likely than not that the carrying value of each of the 
reporting units exceeds their fair value, the quantitative impairment test is required; otherwise, no further testing is 
required. 

 
Alternatively, the Company may elect to bypass the qualitative assessment and perform the quantitative impairment 

test instead, or if the Company reasonably determines that it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value is less than the 
carrying value, the Company performs its annual, or interim, goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of each 
of the reporting units with their carrying amount. The fair value of each of the reporting units is estimated by blending the 
results from the income approach and the market multiples approach. These valuation approaches consider a number of 
factors that include, but are not limited to, expected future cash flows, growth rates, discount rates, and comparable 
multiples from publicly-traded companies in our industry, and require us to make certain assumptions and estimates 
regarding industry economic factors and future profitability of our business. It is our policy to conduct impairment testing 
based on our most current business plans, projected future revenues and cash flows, which reflect changes we anticipate in 
the economy and the industry. The cash flows are based on five-year financial forecasts developed internally by 
management and are discounted to a present value using discount rates that properly account for the risk and nature of the 
respective reporting unit’s cash flows and the rates of return market participants would require to invest their capital in our 
reporting unit. The Company will recognize an impairment for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds a 
reporting unit’s fair value. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no impairments recorded. 

 
Emerging Growth Company Status 

 
The Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act, permits an “emerging growth company” to 

take advantage of an extended transition period to comply with new or revised accounting standards applicable to public 
companies until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. Following the IPO, as an emerging growth 
company, we elected to apply the extended transition period. 

 
Emerging growth company status ceases on the date that is the earliest of (i) the last day of the fiscal year in which 

we have total annual gross revenues of $1.235 billion or more, (ii) the last day of our fiscal year following the fifth 
anniversary of the date of the closing of this offering, (iii) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in 
nonconvertible debt during the previous three years or (iv) the date on which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer 
under the rules of the SEC. Based on the closing share price and the market value of the Company's Common Stock, par 
value $0.01 per share ("Common Stock"), held by non-affiliates as of June 30, 2023, the Company was deemed a large 
accelerated public company filer as of December 31, 2023. As a result, beginning with this Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the year ending December 31, 2023, the Company will not be able to rely on the extended transition period noted above 
and will be required to adopt all new accounting pronouncements within the same time periods as public companies. 

 
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 

 
A description of recently issued accounting pronouncements that may potentially impact our financial position and 

results of operations is disclosed in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements elsewhere within this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K. 
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk. 

Interest Rate Risk 
 

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. These risks primarily include interest rate 
sensitivities. 

 
As of December 31, 2023, the outstanding amounts related to our Revolving Facility incur interest fees at variable 

interest rates and are affected by changes in the general level of market interest rates. However, there was zero outstanding 
balance on the Revolving Facility as of December 31, 2023. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company 
repaid the outstanding balance on the 2021 Term Loan as discussed in the consolidated financial statements included 
elsewhere in this Form 10-K, using net proceeds received on the closing of the IPO. 

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk 
 

We transact business globally in multiple currencies and hence have foreign currency risks related to our net sales, 
cost of goods sold, and operating expenses. We use derivative financial instruments to reduce our net exposure to foreign 
currency fluctuations. Our objective in managing exposure to foreign currency fluctuations is to reduce the volatility 
caused by foreign exchange rate changes on the earnings, cash flows and financial position of our international operations. 
We generally target to hedge a majority of our forecasted yearly foreign currency exchange exposure through a 24-month 
rolling layered approach and leave a portion of our currency forecast floating at spot rate. Our currency forecast and hedge 
positions are reviewed quarterly. The gains and losses on the forward contracts associated with our balance sheet positions 
are recorded in “Other income (expense), net” in the consolidated statements of operations. 

The total notional values of our forward exchange contracts were $121.0 million and $97.4 million as of 
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. The derivatives on the forward exchange contracts resulted in an 
unrealized loss of $0.9 million as of December 31, 2023, and we estimate that a 10 percent strengthening or weakening of 
the U.S. dollar would have resulted in an approximately $6.2 million gain or loss. 

 
Part of our cash and cash equivalents are denominated in foreign currencies. As of December 31, 2023, a 1% 

change in the value of the U.S. dollar compared to foreign currencies would have caused our cash and cash equivalents to 
decrease or increase by $0.1 million. As of December 31, 2022, a 1% change in the value of the U.S. dollar compared to 
foreign currencies would have caused our cash and cash equivalents to decrease or increase by $0.1 million. 

Inflation Risk 
 

Inflation generally affects us by increasing our costs of goods and labor costs. In the three years ending December 
31, 2023, we experienced significant inflation on transportation costs compared to 2020 levels, which impacted our costs 
and margins significantly. While these transportation costs largely returned to historic levels during 2023, we have again 
seen instability in pricing due to geopolitical disruption of shipping lanes during 2024. We source a large amount of our 
finished goods from international countries, which exposes us to international supply chain inflation, particularly ocean 
freight. Inflation rates varies by country and can impact our costs of operating in those countries. 

 
Credit Risk 

 
We are exposed to concentration of credit risk from our major customers. As of December 31, 2023, sales to two 

customers represented approximately 53% of our consolidated net sales. We have not experienced credit issues with these 
customers. We maintain provisions for potential credit losses and evaluate the solvency of our customers on an ongoing 
basis to determine if additional allowances for doubtful accounts and customer credits need to be recorded. Significant 
economic disruptions or a slowdown in the economy could result in substantial additional charges. 
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. 

        The financial statements required to be filed pursuant to this Item 8 are appended to this report. An index 
of those financial statements is set forth below: 

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements 

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID No. 34) 
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 
Consolidated Statements of Non-Controlling Interests and Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 

31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 6  
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 6  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 6  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
 

 

 
To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of The Vita Coco Company, Inc. 
New York, New York 

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of The Vita Coco Company, Inc. and subsidiaries (the 
“Company”) as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company 
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on 
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, of the Company 
and our report dated February 29, 2024 , expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements. 

Basis for Opinion 
 

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are 
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the 
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in 
all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing 
the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control 
based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We 
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and 
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded 
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and 
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized 
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

 
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP 

 
New York, New York 
February 29, 2024 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
 

 

 
To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of The Vita Coco Company, Inc.: 

 
Opinion on the Financial Statements 

 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Vita Coco Company, Inc. and subsidiaries (the 
"Company") as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, 
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows, for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related 
notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its 
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

 
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 
the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 29, 2024, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's 
internal control over financial reporting. 

 
Basis for Opinion 

 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB 
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the 
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, 
whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures 
included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits 
also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. 

 
Critical Audit Matter 

 
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements 
that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or 
disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex 
judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, 
taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the 
critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates. 

Trade Promotion Accrual — Refer to Note 2 to the financial statements 

Critical Audit Matter Description 

The Company’s contracts with customers include variable consideration, including trade promotions. Variable 
consideration is treated as a reduction in revenue when the related revenue is recognized, and is recorded using the 
expected value method, with updates to estimates and related accruals of variable consideration occurring each period 
based on historical experience and changes in circumstances. As disclosed by management in Note 9, the Company’s trade 
promotion accrual was $22.9 million as of December 31, 2023. 

We identified the estimation of trade promotion accruals by management as a critical audit matter. These accruals are based 
on contract terms and the Company’s historical experience with similar programs and requires management judgment with 
respect to estimating customer and consumer participation and performance results. Consequently, auditing these 
assumptions require subjective auditor judgment 
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How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit 

Our audit procedures related to trade promotion accruals included the following, among others: 

• We tested the effectiveness of management’s controls over the calculation of the trade promotion accruals, 
including management’s controls over the review of the period-end accrual. 

• We selected a sample of individual customers and promotional periods included in management’s detail of the 
recorded trade promotion accruals, and evaluated inputs relevant to recorded amounts, including contractual 
pricing and rebate arrangements with customers and customer claims received subsequent to the accrual period, 
which were compared to source documents. 

• We selected a sample of subsequent credits submitted by customers and inspected relevant source documents. 

• We tested the trade promotion accrual at year-end by developing an expectation of the amount by applying the 
ratio of gross sales and trade promotion accrual balances at interim periods to gross sales in the fourth quarter and 
compared it to the balance recorded by management. 

 

 
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP 

 
New York, New York 
February 29, 2024 

 
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2012. 
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THE VITA COCO COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022
(Amounts in thousands, except share data)

December 31,

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 132,537 $ 19,629
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $2,486 at December 31, 2023, and $2,898 at December 31,

2022 50,086 43,350
Inventory 50,757 84,115
Supplier advances, Current 1,521 1,534
Derivative assets 3,876 3,606
Asset held for sale — 503
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 24,160 22,181

Total current assets 262,937 174,918
Property and equipment, net 2,136 2,076
Goodwill 7,791 7,791
Supplier advances, long-term 2,820 4,360
Deferred tax assets, net 6,749 4,256
Right-of-use assets, net 1,406 2,679
Other assets 1,843 1,677

Total assets $ 285,682 $ 197,757

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 21,826 $ 15,910
Accrued expenses 59,533 38,342
Notes payable, current 13 23
Derivative liabilities 1,213 71

Total current liabilities 82,585 54,346
Notes payable, long-term 13 25
Other long-term liabilities 647 2,293

Total liabilities $ 83,245 $ 56,664
Contingencies (See Note 11)

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized; 63,135,453 and 62,225,250 shares issued at
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 56,899,253 and 56,019,050 Shares Outstanding
at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. 631 622

Additional paid-in capital 161,414 145,210
Retained earnings 100,742 55,183
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (649) (994)
Treasury stock, 6,236,200 shares at cost as of December 31, 2023, and 6,206,200 as of December 31, 2022. (59,701) (58,928)

Total stockholders’ equity attributable to The Vita Coco Company, Inc. $ 202,437 $ 141,093
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 285,682 $ 197,757

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

2023 2022
Assets

Stockholders’ equity:
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THE VITA COCO COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023, 2022 AND 2021 

 

 

(Amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data) 
 

 
 

Year Ended December 31, 
2023 2022 2021 

Net sales $ 493,612 $ 427,787 $ 379,513 
Cost of goods sold 312,883 324,426 266,365 

Gross profit 180,729 103,361 113,148 
Operating expenses    

Selling, general and administrative 124,236 100,306 88,559 
Total operating expenses 124,236 100,306 88,559 

Income from operations 56,493 3,055 24,589 
Other income (expense)    

Unrealized gain/(loss) on derivative instruments (872) 6,606 2,093 
Foreign currency gain/(loss) (251) 1,387 (2,088) 
Loss on extinguishment of debt — — (132) 
Interest income 2,581 51 127 
Interest expense (31) (258) (360) 

Total other income (expense) 1,427 7,786 (360) 
Income before income taxes 57,920 10,841 24,229 
Income tax expense (11,291) (3,027) (5,237) 
Net income $ 46,629 $ 7,814 $ 18,992 

Net income/(loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest — — (23) 
Net income attributable to The Vita Coco Company, Inc. $ 46,629 $ 7,814 $ 19,015 
Net income attributable to The Vita Coco Company, Inc. per common 

share 
   

Basic $ 0.83 $ 0.14 $ 0.35 
Diluted $ 0.79 $ 0.14 $ 0.35 

Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding    
Basic 56,427,890 55,732,619 53,689,910 
Diluted 58,747,338 56,123,661 54,186,121 

 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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THE VITA COCO COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023, 2022 AND 2021 

 

 

(Amounts in thousands) 
 

 
 

Year Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 2021 

Net income $ 46,629 $ 7,814 $ 18,992 
Other comprehensive income:    

Foreign currency translation adjustment 345 (378) 320 
Total comprehensive income including noncontrolling interest 46,974 7,436 19,312 

Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest — — (23) 
Foreign currency translation adjustment attributable to noncontrolling 

interest 
 

— 
 

— 
 

4 
Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest — — (19) 
Total comprehensive income attributable to The Vita Coco Company, 

Inc.  $ 46,974  $ 7,436 $ 19,331 

 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023, 2022 AND 2021 

 

 

(Amounts in thousands) 
 

 
 

Year Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 2021 

Net income $ 46,629 $ 7,814 $ 18,992 
Other comprehensive income:    

Foreign currency translation adjustment 345 (378) 320 
Total comprehensive income including noncontrolling interest 46,974 7,436 19,312 

Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest — — (23) 
Foreign currency translation adjustment attributable to noncontrolling 

interest 
 

— 
 

— 
 

4 
Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest — — (19) 
Total comprehensive income attributable to The Vita Coco Company, 

Inc.  $ 46,974  $ 7,436 $ 19,331 

 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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THE VITA COCO COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023, 2022 AND 2021
(Amounts in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

Net income $ 46,629  $ 7,814  $ 18,992
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating

activities:
Depreciation and amortization 660 1,901 2,069
(Gain)/loss on disposal of equipment 19 1 112
Bad debt expense 260 2,641 76
Unrealized (gain)/loss on derivative instruments 872 (6,606) (2,093)
Stock-based compensation 9,128 7,384 3,380
Impairment loss on assets held for sale 363 619 — 
Impairment of intangible assets — 6,714 — 
Noncash lease expense 1,288 1,058 — 
Deferred tax expense (2,382) (3,081) (1,644)
Loss on extinguishment of debt — — 132
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (7,088) 321 (16,917)
Inventory 33,688 (9,333) (43,501)
Prepaid expenses, net supplier advances, and other assets (622) (3,592) 2,725
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities 24,340 (16,776) 20,503

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 107,155 (10,935) (16,166)
Cash flows from investing activities:

Cash paid for property and equipment (599) (982) (557)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 5 — — 

Net cash used in investing activities (594) (982) (557)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon initial public offering, net of
underwriting discounts and offering costs — — 30,356

Proceeds from exercise of stock awards 7,086 3,062 177
Borrowings on credit facility — 22,000 — 
Repayments of borrowings on credit facility — (22,000) (25,000)
Proceeds from the term loan — — 30,000
Repayments of the term loan — — (30,000)
Proceeds from settlement of loan to stockholder — — 17,700
Cash received (paid) on notes payable (23) (28) 21
Cash paid to acquire treasury stock (773) — (50,003)
Cash paid to acquire portion of non-controlling interest — — (54)

Net cash provided (used in) by financing activities 6,290 3,034 (26,803)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 387 (178) 35

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents 113,238 (9,061) (43,491)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 19,629 28,690 72,181
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of the period (1)

$ 132,867 19,629 28,690

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for income taxes $ 9,905 4,624 2,440
Cash paid for interest $ 75 217 349

(1) Includes $330, $0 and $0 of restricted cash as of December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 respectively, that were included in other current assets.

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

2023 2022 2021
Cash flows from operating activities:
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THE VITA COCO COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023, 2022 AND 2021 
(Amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data) 

 

 

 
1. NATURE OF BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

The Vita Coco Company, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) develops, markets, and distributes various coconut 
water products under the brand name Vita Coco and for retailers' own brands, predominantly in the United States. Other 
products include coconut milk, coconut oil, water (under the brand name Ever & Ever), protein infused fitness drinks 
(under the brand name PWR LIFT), coconut as a commodity and natural energy drinks (under the brand name Runa),. 

 
The Company was incorporated in Delaware as All Market Inc. on January 17, 2007. On September 9, 2021, we 

changed our name to The Vita Coco Company, Inc. In 2018, the Company purchased certain assets and liabilities of Runa, 
which was marketed and distributed primarily in the United States until the Company ceased selling the brand in December 
2023. 

 
We are a public benefit corporation under Section 362 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. As a public 

benefit corporation, our Board of Directors is required by the Delaware General Corporation Law to manage or direct our 
business and affairs in a manner that balances the pecuniary interests of our stockholders, the best interests of those 
materially affected by our conduct and the specific public benefits identified in our certificate of incorporation. 

 
The Company has nine wholly-owned subsidiaries including four wholly-owned Asian subsidiaries established 

between fiscal 2012 and 2015, four North American subsidiaries established between 2012 and 2018, as well as All Market 
Europe, Ltd. (“AME”) in the United Kingdom of which the Company became the sole shareholder as of December 31, 
2021. 

 
Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). 

 
Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include all the accounts of the wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany 
accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation; the noncontrolling interest in consolidated subsidiaries 
presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements in the year ended December 31, 2021 represents the 
portion of AME stockholders’ equity, which was not directly owned by the Company. 

Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) 
 

The Company’s registration statement on Form S-1, as amended, was declared effective by the SEC on October 20, 
2021 related to the IPO of its common stock in the prospectus dated October 20, 2021, filed with the SEC in accordance 
with Rule 424(b)(4) of the Securities Act on October 22, 2021 (the “Prospectus”). On October 21, 2021, the Company’s 
shares began trading on the NASDAQ under the ticker symbol “COCO”. On October 25, 2021, we completed our IPO by 
issuing 2,500,000 shares of our common stock, $0.01 par value per share, at a price to the public of $15 per share, resulting 
in net proceeds to us of approximately $30,000, after deducting the underwriting discount and commissions of 
approximately $2,000 and offering expenses of approximately $5,000. Additionally, certain selling stockholders sold an 
aggregate of 9,000,000 shares. The Company did not receive any proceeds from the sale of these shares by certain selling 
stockholders. On October 27, 2021, the Company used the net proceeds from the IPO to repay the outstanding balance on 
the 2021 Term Loan. See Note 10 for additional information on the repayment of the 2021 Term Loan. 

 
Impact of Global Events Causing Macroeconomic Uncertainty 

Uncertainty in the macroeconomic environment resulting from current geopolitical and economic instability 
(including the effects of current wars and other international conflicts) and the high interest rate and inflationary cost 
environment may affect our business. It is not currently possible to ascertain the overall impact of these macroeconomic 
uncertainties on the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition or liquidity. Future events and effects 
related to these macroeconomic uncertainties cannot be determined with precision and actual results could significantly 
differ from estimates or forecasts. 
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THE VITA COCO COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023, 2022 AND 2021 
(Amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data) 

 

 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Use of Estimates 

Preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. Management considers many factors in selecting appropriate financial accounting policies and controls in 
developing the estimates and assumptions that are used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements. 
Management must apply significant judgement in this process. In addition, other factors may affect estimates, including 
expected business and operational changes, sensitivity and volatility associated with the assumptions used in developing 
estimates, and whether historical trends are expected to be representative of future trends. The estimation process often 
may yield a range of reasonable estimates of the ultimate future outcomes, and management must select an amount that 
falls within that range of reasonable estimates. The most significant estimates in the consolidated financial statements relate 
to share-based compensation, assessing long-lived assets for impairment, estimating the net realizable value of inventories, 
the determination of the current expected credit losses allowance, assessing goodwill for impairment, the determination of 
the value of trade promotions and assessing the realizability of deferred income taxes. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates. 

 
Revenue Recognition 

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with ASC 606. ASC 606 defines a five-step model that requires 
entities exercise judgment when considering the terms of contract(s), which include (1) identifying the contract or 
agreement with a customer, (2) identifying the performance obligations in the contract or agreement, (3) determining the 
transaction price, (4) allocating the transaction price to the separate performance obligations, and (5) recognizing revenue 
as each performance obligation is satisfied. Revenue is recognized when control of the promised good is transferred to the 
customer in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company is expected to be entitled to receive in 
exchange for those products. Each contract includes a single performance obligation to transfer control of the product to the 
customer. Our revenue is recognized net of allowances for returns, discounts, credits and any taxes collected from 
consumers. 

 
For the Company’s various products in the Vita Coco Coconut Water and Other product categories (refer to Note 3, 

Revenue Recognition), control is transferred upon customer receipt, at which point the Company recognizes the transaction 
price for the product as revenue. The transaction price recognized reflects the consideration the Company expects to 
receive in exchange for the sale of the product. The Company’s performance obligations are satisfied at that time. The 
Company does not have any significant contracts with customers requiring performance beyond delivery, and contracts 
with customers contain no incentives or discounts that would meet the criteria for a distinct good or service that could 
cause revenue to be allocated or adjusted over time. Shipping and handling activities are performed before the customer 
obtains control of the goods and therefore represent fulfillment costs, which are included in cost of goods sold, rather than 
revenue. 

 
Additionally, the Company determined the production and distribution of Private Label products represents a 

distinct performance obligation. Since there is no alternative use for these products and the Company has the right to 
payment for performance completed to date, the Company recognizes the revenue for the production of these Private Label 
products over time as the production for open purchase orders is completed, which may be prior to any shipment. The 
resulting contract assets are recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets. 

 
The Company provides trade promotions and sales discounts to its customers and distributors. Since these sales 

promotions and sales discounts do not meet the criteria for a distinct good or service, they are primarily accounted for as a 
reduction of revenue and include payments to customers and distributors for performing activities on our behalf, such as 
payments for in-store displays, payments to gain distribution of new products, payments for shelf space and discounts to 
promote lower retail prices. These consolidated financial statements include accruals for these promotion and discounts. 
The accruals are made for invoices that have not yet been received as of year-end and are recorded as a reduction of sales, 
and are based on contract terms and our historical experience with similar programs and require management judgement 
with respect to estimating customer and consumer participation and performance levels. 
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Cost of Goods Sold 

Costs of goods sold includes the costs of the products sold to customers, inbound and outbound shipping and 
handling costs, freight and duties, shipping and packaging supplies, and warehouse fulfillment costs incurred in operating 
and staffing warehouses. 

 
Shipping and Handling Costs 

Shipping and handling costs related to the sale of inventory represent outbound distribution costs, and are included 
in cost of goods sold in the consolidated statement of operations. Shipping and handling costs were $13,261, $13,387 and 
$9,331 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. 

 
Advertising Expenses 

Advertising expenses are charged to expense in the period they are incurred and are recorded in selling, general and 
administrative expenses. Advertising expenses were $14,862, $14,404, and $13,755 for the years ended December 31, 
2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. 

 
Research and Development 

Research and development costs are charged to expense in the period incurred and are recorded in selling, general 
and administrative expenses. Research and development expenses were $418, $541, and $477 for the years ended 
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. 

 
Stock-Based Compensation 

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718 for awards issued under the 
2014 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan and the 2021 Stock Incentive Award Plan. 

 
The Company measures all awards based on their fair value on the date of the grant and recognizes compensation 

expense for those awards over the requisite service period of each stock award grant, which is generally the vesting period 
of the respective award by using the accelerated attribution method. The Company applies an estimated forfeiture rate 
derived from historical employee termination behavior. If the actual forfeitures differ from those estimated by 
management, adjustment to compensation expense may be required in future periods. The Company issues stock-based 
awards with service-based and performance-based and market-based vesting conditions. The Company recognizes expense 
for performance-based awards when it becomes probable that such awards will be earned over a requisite service period. 
The Company defers the recognition of compensation expense for the stock awards that vest upon qualifying liquidity 
events until the qualifying events are probable of occurrence. Stock awards are equity-classified, as they do not contain a 
cash settlement option or other features requiring them to be liability-classified. 

 
The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to determine the fair value of stock awards with 

service-based vesting conditions and performance-based vesting conditions. For stock awards with performance-based and 
market-based vesting conditions, the Company uses the Barrier option valuation model to determine the fair value. 

 
The Company has classified most of its stock-based compensation expense in its consolidated statements of 

operations in selling, general, and administrative expenses, reflecting the same manner in which the award recipient’s 
payroll costs are classified or in which the award recipient’s service payments are classified. There are restricted stock units 
previously granted to entities affiliated with a major customer, which was recognized as a stock-based sales incentive based 
on guidance in ASC 606 and reflected as a reduction in the transaction price revenue. See Note 14, Stockholders' Equity for 
further information. 

 
Income Taxes 

The Company accounts for income taxes under ASC 740, which requires an asset and liability approach to financial 
accounting and reporting for income taxes. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed annually for differences 
between the consolidated financial statements and tax bases of assets and liabilities that will result in taxable or deductible 
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amounts in the future. Such deferred income tax assets and liabilities computations are based on enacted tax laws and rates 
applicable to periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are established 
when necessary to reduce deferred income tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. Interest and penalties related to 
unrecognized tax positions are included in income tax expense in the consolidated statement of operations and 
comprehensive income and accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company recognizes the effect of 
income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of being sustained. Recognized income tax positions 
are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized. Changes in recognition or 
measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs. 

 
Net Income per Common Share 

In accordance with ASC Topic 260 Earnings Per Share ("ASC 260"), net income per common share, on a basic 
and diluted basis, is presented for all periods, calculated using the treasury stock method. Basic net income per share is 
computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares and service warrants outstanding 
during each period. Diluted net income per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of 
common and dilutive common equivalent shares outstanding. The calculation of common equivalent shares assumes the 
exercise of dilutive in-the-money stock options, net of assumed treasury share repurchases at average market prices, as 
applicable. 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and money market instruments with maturities of three months or 
less. 

 
Accounts Receivable 

Accounts receivable are reported net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. In determining such an allowance, the 
Company considers historical losses and existing economic conditions, as well as the credit quality of each customer. 
Accounts receivable are charged off when the Company deems amounts to be uncollectible. 

 
Inventory 

Inventory represents raw materials, finished goods, packaging, and inbound shipping and handling and is reported 
at the lower of cost or net realizable value being determined using the first-in, first-out method. Net realizable value is the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal and 
transportation. The Company reserves for finished goods that are close to the date of expiration. 

 
Deferred Offering Costs 

The Company capitalizes certain legal, professional accounting and other third-party fees that are directly 
associated with in-process equity financings as deferred offering costs until such financings are consummated. After 
consummation of an equity financing, these costs are recorded in stockholders’ equity as a reduction of additional paid-in 
capital generated as a result of the offering. If an in-process equity financing is abandoned, the deferred offering costs will 
be expensed immediately as a charge to operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. As a result of the 
completion of the IPO on October 25, 2021 as described in Note 1, deferred offering costs recorded during the period were 
netted against the proceeds of the offering and reflected as a component of additional paid-in-capital in the quarter ended 
December 31, 2021. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had no deferred offering costs in the consolidated 
balance sheets. 

 
Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost and are depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the related assets or 
in the case of leasehold improvements, the lease term if shorter, using the straight-line method of depreciation. Repairs and 
maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. The estimated useful lives of the Company’s property and equipment are 
as follows: 
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• Equipment and computer software and hardware – 3-7 years 

• Leasehold improvements – The lesser of the life of the asset or the term of the lease 

• Vehicles – 5 years 

• Furniture and fixtures – 3-5 years 

 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

The Company evaluates the recoverability of its long-lived assets, principally intangibles and property and 
equipment, by comparing asset group’s carrying value to the expected undiscounted future cash flows to be generated from 
such assets when events or circumstances indicate that an impairment may have occurred. If the estimated undiscounted 
future cash flows are less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recorded based upon the difference between the 
carrying amount and the fair value of the asset. 

 
Acquisitions 

The Company evaluates each of its acquisitions under the accounting framework in Accounting Standards 
Codification Topic 805, Business Combinations ("ASC 805"). ASC 805 requires the reporting entity to identify the 
acquirer, determine the acquisition date, recognize and measure the identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired, the 
liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and recognize and measure goodwill. The 
acquiree’s results are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of the acquisition. The Company 
allocated the purchase price, including the fair value of any non-cash and contingent consideration, to the identifiable assets 
and liabilities of the relevant acquired business at their acquisition date fair values. Any excess consideration over the fair 
value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recognized as goodwill. 

 
Contingent consideration payable in cash or a fixed dollar amount settleable in a variable number of shares is 

classified as a liability and recorded at fair value, with changes in fair value recorded as a component of operating expenses 
in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Transaction costs associated with business combinations are 
expensed as incurred and are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of 
operations. 

 
The Company performs valuations of assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and contingent consideration and 

allocates the purchase price to its respective assets and liabilities. Determining the fair value of assets acquired, liabilities 
assumed, and contingent consideration requires the use of significant judgment and estimates including the selection of 
valuation methodologies, estimates of future revenue, costs and cash flows, discount rates, the probability of the 
achievement of specified milestones, and selection of comparable companies. The Company engages the assistance of 
valuation specialists in concluding on fair value measurements in connection with determining fair values of assets 
acquired, liabilities assumed, and contingent consideration in a business combination. 

 
Intangible assets 

Intangible assets consist primarily of acquired trade names and distributor relationships. The Company determines 
the appropriate useful life of the intangible assets by performing an analysis of expected cash flows of the acquired assets. 
Intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives of ten years, using the straight-line method, which 
approximates the pattern in which the economic benefits are consumed. The Company’s intangible assets are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable, or a 
triggering event. When a triggering event is identified, a test of recoverability is performed by estimating the undiscounted 
future cash flows associated with such assets and comparing them to the carrying value of the asset. When the 
recoverability test fails, the Company measures the impairment loss based on the fair value of the assets compared to the 
carrying amount of the asset. The fair value of the trade names is determined through an income approach using the relief 
from royalty method. The fair value of the distributor relationships is determined through an income approach using the 
excess earnings method. 

 
Goodwill 
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Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price paid in excess of the fair value of net identifiable tangible and 
intangible assets acquired in a business combination and is measured in accordance with the provisions of ASC 350, 
Intangibles – Goodwill and Other ("ASC 350"). Goodwill is not amortized; instead goodwill is tested for impairment on an 
annual basis on December 31, or more frequently if the Company believes indicators of impairment exist. 

 
The Company has determined that there are three reporting units for purposes of testing goodwill for impairment: 

(i) the Americas reporting unit, (ii) the Europe reporting unit, and (iii) the Asia reporting unit. All of the Company’s 
goodwill is allocated to the Americas reporting unit. The Company first assesses qualitative factors to determine whether it 
is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value. In performing the qualitative 
assessment, the Company reviews factors both specific to the reporting units and to the Company as a whole, such as 
financial performance, macroeconomic conditions, industry and market considerations, and the fair value of each reporting 
unit at the last valuation date. If the Company elects this option and believes, as a result of the qualitative assessment, that 
it is more likely than not that the carrying value of each of the reporting units exceeds their fair value, the quantitative 
impairment test is required; otherwise, no further testing is required. 

 
Alternatively, the Company may elect to bypass the qualitative assessment and perform the quantitative impairment 

test instead, or if the Company reasonably determines that it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value is less than the 
carrying value, the Company performs its annual, or interim, goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of each 
of the reporting units with their carrying amount. The fair value of each of the reporting units is estimated by blending the 
results from the income approach and the market multiples approach. These valuation approaches consider a number of 
factors that include, but are not limited to, expected future cash flows, growth rates, discount rates, and comparable 
multiples from publicly-traded companies in the Company’s industry, and require to make certain assumptions and 
estimates regarding industry economic factors and future profitability of the Company’s business. It is the Company’s 
policy to conduct impairment testing based on its most current business plans, projected future revenues and cash flows, 
which reflect changes anticipated in the economy and the industry. The cash flows are based on five-year financial 
forecasts developed internally by management and are discounted to a present value using discount rates that properly 
account for the risk and nature of the respective reporting unit’s cash flows and the rates of return market participants 
would require to invest their capital in the Company’s reporting unit. The Company will recognize an impairment for the 
amount by which the carrying amount exceeds a reporting unit’s fair value. For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, 
and 2021, there were no impairments recorded. 

 
Supplier Advances 

The Company issues advances to certain manufacturers with interest at rates between 0% and 4% with terms 
extending to February 2028. These advances are assessed for collectability and an allowance for credit losses is recognized 
when it is probable that the Company will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms. There 
was no allowance recorded as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022. 

 
Foreign Currency 

The Company’s reporting currency is the U.S. dollar. The Company maintains the financial statements of each 
entity within the group in its local currency, which is also the entity’s functional currency. Gains and losses on transactions 
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency are included in determining net income for the period. All 
assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate on the balance 
sheet date. Revenue and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate applicable during the period. Translation 
gains and losses are included as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income in stockholders’ equity. 

 
Transaction gains and losses that arise from exchange rate fluctuations on transactions denominated in a currency 

other than the functional currency are included as a component of other income (expense) in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of operations when incurred. 

 
Derivative Instruments 

The Company periodically enters into forward foreign currency exchange contracts to hedge its foreign currency 
exposure. The fair value of these contracts is recorded in the consolidated balance sheets with a corresponding adjustment 
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to the consolidated statements of operations for the change in fair value of the derivative instruments, as the contracts have 
not been designated as a hedge instrument. Refer to Note 12, Derivative Instruments, for more information. 

 
Segment Information 

The Company operates as two operating and reportable segments: (i) Americas segment, which is comprised of the 
Company’s operations in the Americas region, primarily in the U.S. and Canada, and (ii) International segment, which is 
comprised of the Company’s operations primarily in Europe, Middle East, Africa and the Asia Pacific regions. 

 
The Company’s Chief Executive Officer, as the chief operating decision maker ("CODM"), manages and allocates 

resources between the Americas and International segments. Consistent with this decision-making process, the CEO uses 
financial information disaggregated between the Americas and International segment for purposes of evaluating 
performance, forecasting future period financial results, allocating resources and setting incentive targets. The CEO 
evaluates segment business performance based primarily on net sales and gross profit. 

 
Concentration of Credit Risk 

The Company’s cash and accounts receivable are subject to concentrations of credit risk. The Company’s cash 
balances are primarily on deposit with banks in the U.S. which are guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation ("FDIC") up to $250. At times, such cash may be in excess of the FDIC insurance limit. To minimize the risk, 
the Company’s policy is to maintain cash balances with high quality financial institutions and any excess cash above a 
certain minimum balance could be invested in overnight money market treasury deposits in widely diversified accounts. 

Substantially, all of the Company’s customers are either wholesalers or retailers of beverages. A material default in 
payment, a material reduction in purchase from these or any large customers, or the loss of a large customer or customer 
groups could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity. The 
Company is exposed to concentration of credit risk from its major customers for which two customers represented 53%, 
54%, and 53% of total net sales during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. In addition, the 
two customers also accounted for 43% and 39% of total accounts receivable as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. The Company has not experienced credit issues with these customers. 

 
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements 

 
Leases 

The Company leases certain office space and machinery and equipment, which are primarily classified as operating 
leases. These leases expire at various dates through 2025. The Company's lease agreements do not contain any material 
restrictive covenants. Operating leases are included within right-of-use assets, net, accrued expenses, and other long-term 
liabilities within our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Finance leases are included within Property, Plant and Equipment, net, 
accrued expenses, and other long term liabilities. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recognized on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASC 842, ASU 2016-02, Leases 
(Topic 842), which was amended by subsequent Accounting Standard Updates ("ASUs"), to enhance the comparability and 
usefulness of financial reporting around leasing activity. The new standard supersedes the existing authoritative literature 
for lease accounting under ASC 840, with a focus on applying a “right-of-use model.” The guidance for leases under ASC 
842 results in a right-of-use asset (“ROU asset”) and lease liability being reported on the balance sheet for leases with a 
lease term greater than twelve months. In June 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-05, Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers (Topic 606) and Leases (Topic 842): Effective Dates for certain entities, which deferred the effective date of 
ASU 2016-02 for certain entities. ASC 842 was effective for the Company, as an Emerging Growth Company (“EGC”), for 
annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2021 and for interim periods beginning after December 15, 2022. 

The Company adopted the standard on January 1, 2022 using the alternative modified retrospective transition 
approach in accordance with ASU 2018-11, Leases (Topic 842): Targeted Improvements, where the adoption date 
represents the initial date of application. As part of its adoption, the Company elected to apply the package of practical 
expedients requiring no reassessment of whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases, the lease 
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classification of any expired or existing leases, or the capitalization of initial direct costs for any existing leases. 
Additionally, the Company elected the practical expedient that permits the exclusion of leases considered to be short-term. 
Under the alternative modified retrospective transition approach, the reported results for 2022 reflect the application of 
ASC 842 guidance, whereas comparative periods and the respective disclosures prior to the adoption of ASC 842 are 
presented using the legacy guidance of ASC 840. As a result of adopting the new standard, the Company recognized right- 
of-use assets and lease liabilities of $1,866 and $2,097, respectively, on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of 
January 1, 2022. The difference of $231 between the operating lease right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities 
represents reclassification of deferred rent liability from other liabilities to operating lease right-to-use assets at the 
adoption date. The adoption of the standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated statements of 
operations, or consolidated statements of cash flows. 

 
 

Current Expected Credit Losses 

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of 
Credit Losses on Financial Instruments ("ASU 2016-13"). The new accounting standard introduced the current expected 
credit losses methodology ("CECL") for estimating allowances for credit losses. The measurement of expected credit losses 
under the CECL methodology is applicable to financial assets measured at amortized costs, including loans and trade 
receivables. ASU 2016-13 was effective for the Company, as an Emerging Growth Company ("EGC"), for annual and 
interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2022. The Company adopted the standard on January 1, 2023 using 
the modified retrospective method for all financial assets in scope. The amounts for reporting periods beginning after 
January 1, 2023 are presented under ASC 326 methodology, while prior period amounts continue to be reported in 
accordance with previously applicable U.S. GAAP. 

 
As a part of the adoption, the Company selected to apply roll-rate method to estimate current expected credit losses 

for its accounts receivable population and weighted average remaining maturity ("WARM") method for supplier advances. 
 

The difference of $1,070 between the incurred credit loss estimate and current expected credit loss estimate was 
recorded as cumulative effect adjustment to the Company’s opening retained earnings and reflected on the consolidated 
balance sheet as of January 1, 2023 as a result of the ASC 326 adoption. The adoption of the standard did not have a 
material impact on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations, or consolidated statements of cash flows. The 
following table illustrates the impact of ASC 326. 

 
  As of January 1, 2023  

As reported 
under ASC 326 

Pre-ASC 326 
adoption 

Impact of ASC 
326 adoption 

Allowance for credit losses on accounts receivables $ 3,552 $ 2,898 $ 654 
Allowance for credit losses on supplier advances 416 — 416 
Total $ 3,968 $ 2,898 $ 1,070 

 
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 

In November 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 
280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which requires public entities to disclose information about their 
reportable segments’ significant expenses and other segment items on an interim and annual basis. Public entities with a 
single reportable segment are required to apply the disclosure requirements in ASU 2023-07, as well as all existing 
segment disclosures and reconciliation requirements in ASC 280 on an interim and annual basis. ASU 2023-07 is effective 
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and for interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 
15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting ASU 2023-07. 

 
In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax 

Disclosures, which requires public entities, on an annual basis, to provide disclosure of specific categories in the rate 
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reconciliation, as well as disclosure of income taxes paid disaggregated by jurisdiction. ASU 2023-09 is effective for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact 
of adopting ASU 2023-09. 

 
3. REVENUE RECOGNITION 

Revenues are accounted for in accordance with ASC 606. The Company disaggregates revenue into the following 
product categories: 

• Vita Coco Coconut Water – This product category consists of all branded coconut water product offerings 
under the Vita Coco labels, where the majority ingredient is coconut water. The Company determined that the 
sale of the products represents a distinct performance obligation as customers can benefit from purchasing the 
products on their own or together with other resources that are readily available to the customers. For these 
products, control is transferred upon customer receipt, at which point the Company recognizes the transaction 
price for the product as revenue. 

• Private Label – This product category consists of all private label product offerings, which includes coconut 
water and coconut oil. The Company determined the production and distribution of private label products 
represents a distinct performance obligation. Since there is no alternative use for these products and the 
Company has the right to payment for performance completed to date, the Company recognizes the revenue for 
the production of these private label products over time as the production for open purchase orders occurs, 
which may be prior to any shipment. 

• Other – This product category consists of all other products, which includes Runa (until we ceased selling it in 
December 2023), Ever & Ever and PWR LIFT product offerings and Vita Coco product extensions beyond 
coconut water, coconut milk products, and other revenue transactions (e.g., bulk product sales). For these 
products, control is transferred upon customer receipt, at which point the Company recognizes the transaction 
price for the product as revenue. 

 
The Company excludes from revenues all taxes assessed by a governmental authority that are imposed on the sale 

of its products and collected from customers. 

 
Disaggregation of Revenue 

The following table disaggregates net revenue by product type and reportable segment: 

 
  December 31, 2023  

 Americas International Consolidated 

Vita Coco Coconut Water $ 317,221 $ 41,829 $ 359,050 
Private Label 103,166 18,713 121,879 
Other 9,858 2,825 12,683 
Total  $ 430,245   $ 63,367  $ 493,612 

  
 
December 31, 2022 

 

 Americas International Consolidated 

Vita Coco Coconut Water $ 275,964 $ 38,570 $ 314,534 
Private Label 88,173 12,855 101,029 
Other 9,485 2,740 12,224 
Total $ 373,622 $ 54,165 $ 427,787 
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  December 31, 2021  

 Americas International Consolidated 
Vita Coco Coconut Water $ 231,858 $ 34,639 $ 266,497 
Private Label 80,639 14,007 94,646 
Other 11,394 6,976 18,370 
Total  $ 323,891   $ 55,622  $ 379,513 

 
4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET 

Accounts receivable, net was $50,086 and $43,350 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The Company 
recorded an allowance for current expected credit losses of $2,486 and $2,898 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. 

Changes in the allowance for current expected credit losses for the periods presented were as follows: 
 

Balance at January 1, 2022 $ 1,301 
Provision charged to operating results 2,641 
Account write-offs and other deductions, net of recoveries (1,044) 

Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 2,898 
Impact of ASC 326 adoption 654 

Balance as of January 1, 2023 $ 3,552 
Provision charged to operating results 3,135 
Account write-offs and other deductions, net of recoveries (4,201) 

Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 2,486 

 
5. INVENTORY 

Inventory consists of the following: 

 
December 31, 

2023 2022 

Raw materials and packaging $ 3,360 $ 5,771 
Finished goods 47,397 78,344 
Inventory $ 50,757 $ 84,115 

 
6. PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following: 

71



THE VITA COCO COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023, 2022 AND 2021
(Amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)

December 31,
2023 2022

Tax receivables $ 3,622 $ 527
Contract assets 8,629 10,337
VAT receivables 1,032 1,054
Supplier Prepaid 3,463 4,018
Prepaid insurance 1,454 1,701
Other prepaid expenses 2,977 2,254
Other Receivables 2,983 2,290

$ 24,160 $ 22,181

7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property and equipment, net consist of the following:

December 31,
2023 2022

Equipment and computer software and hardware $ 5,567 $ 5,137
Leasehold improvements 393 339
Vehicles 685 784
Land and improvements 140 —
Furniture and fixtures 469 401

Total Property and equipment 7,254 6,661
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (5,118) (4,585)
Property and equipment—net $ 2,136 $ 2,076

Depreciation expense related to property and equipment, net for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 
2021 was $660, $681 and $849, respectively.

8. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill consists of the following:

December 31,

Annual Goodwill Impairment Testing

All of the Company’s goodwill is associated with an acquisition in June 2018. The goodwill is allocated to the 
Americas reporting unit and is tax deductible. In assessing whether goodwill was impaired in connection with its annual 
impairment testing performed at December 31, 2020, the Company elected to bypass the qualitative assessment and, 
performed a quantitative assessment in accordance with ASC 350. Refer to Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies, for further discussion of the quantitative analysis. In December 31, 2023, the Company performed the qualitative 
assessment only, which did not indicate that it is more likely than not that the carrying value of each of the reporting units 
exceeds their fair value, resulting in no further quantitative testing. Based on the results of the annual impairment test, the 
Company concluded that no impairment to goodwill existed as of December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

2023 2022

Goodwill $ 7,791 $ 7,791
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Intangible Assets, net 

The intangible assets, net associated with the acquisition of Runa was $0 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. 

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 
Gross Carrying 

Amount 
Accumulated 
Amortization Net 

Gross Carrying 
Amount 

Accumulated 
Amortization Impairment Net 

 

Intangible assets, net 
Trade names $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 6,200 $ (2,807) $ (3,393) $ — 
Distributor relationships — —  $ — 6,000 (2,717) (3,283) — 
Other — —  $ — 38 — (38) — 

Total intangible assets 
subject to amortization 

 
$ —  $ —  $ — 12,238 

 
$ (5,524) 

 
$ (6,714) 

 
$ — 

 

 
All the intangible assets are amortized over their useful life. Since the intangibles are subject to amortization, they 

are reviewed for impairment in accordance with ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment. Under ASC 360, long-lived 
assets are tested for recoverability at the asset group level whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their 
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. In step 1, the entity determines recoverability of the asset group by comparing its 
carrying value with the sum of its undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the 
asset group. If the sum of the undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying value of the asset group, then step 2 must be 
performed, in which the entity compares the fair value of the asset group to its carrying amount. The excess of the carrying 
value of the asset group over its fair value, if any, would be recognized as an impairment loss. 

During 2022, the Company identified facts and circumstances indicating the carrying value of the intangible assets 
associated with Runa, including the trade names and distributor relationships, may not be recoverable, resulting in the 
determination that a triggering event had occurred. Based on step 1, the Company determined that the Runa intangible 
assets were not recoverable based on a test of recoverability using expected undiscounted future cash flows for the Runa 
brand in the Americas. For both trade names and distributor relationships, the Company applied step 2, by determining the 
fair value of these intangible assets, which concluded that the fair value was significantly below the carrying amount. 
Accordingly, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $(6,714) for the year ended December 31, 2022, which is 
recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. 

Amortization expense of $0, $1,220, and $1,220 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 were 
included in selling, general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations. 

As of December 31, 2022, all amortizable intangible assets were impaired and no future amortization expense will 
be recognized in the Company's consolidated statements of operations. 

 
9. ACCRUED EXPENSES 

Accrued expenses consist of the following: 
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December 31,
2023 2022

Accrued promotions and marketing $ 22,936 $ 18,624
Payroll and benefits related expenses 11,012 3,814
Shipping and handling costs 5,957 8,854
Accrued trade payable 1,236 1,613
Current operating lease liabilities 1,189 734
VAT payable 2,103 1,599
Income tax payable 8,304 834
Accrued professional fees 1,898 350
Other accrued expenses 4,898 1,920

$ 59,533 $ 38,342

10. DEBT

The table below details the outstanding balances on the Company’s credit facility and notes payable as of 
December 31, 2023 and 2022:

December 31,
2023 2022

Vehicle loans 26 48

Current $ 13 $ 23
Non-current $ 13 $ 25

2020 Credit Facility

In May 2020, the Company entered into the five-year credit facility (the "2020 Credit Facility") with Wells Fargo 
Bank, National Association consisting of a revolving line of credit, which currently provides for committed borrowings of 
$60 million. The maturity date on the 2020 Credit Facility is May 12, 2026.

Starting in December 2022, borrowings on the 2020 Credit Facility bear interest at rates based on either: 1) a 
fluctuating rate per annum determined to be the sum of Daily Simple Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") plus a 
spread defined in the credit agreement (the "Spread"); or 2) a fixed rate per annum determined to be the sum of the Term 
SOFR plus the Spread. The Spread ranges from 1.00% to 1.75%, which is based on the Company’s leverage ratio (as 
defined in the credit agreement) for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter as defined in the credit agreement. In addition, 
the Company is currently subject to an unused commitment fee ranging from 0.10% and 0.20% on the unused amount of 
the line of credit, with the rate being based on the Company’s leverage ratio (as defined in the credit agreement).

The borrowings made before December 2022 bore interest at rates based on either: 1) London Interbank Offered 
Rate ("LIBOR"); or 2) a specified base rate (determined by reference to the greatest of the prime rate published by Wells 
Fargo, the federal funds effective rate plus 1.5% and one-month LIBOR plus 1.50%), as selected periodically by the 
Company. The LIBOR-based loans bore interest at LIBOR plus the Spread. The unused commitment fee prior to the 
December 2022 amendment was the same.

As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company had no outstanding balance and $60,000 
undrawn and available under its amended 2020 Credit Facility. Interest expense and unused commitment fee for the 2020 
Credit Facility amounted to $14 and $46 for the year ended December 31, 2023. Interest expense and unused commitment

Notes payable

$ 26 $ 48
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fee for the 2020 Credit Facility amounted to $255 and $51, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2022. Interest 
expense and unused commitment fee for the 2020 Credit Facility amounted to $176 and $39, respectively, for the year 
ended December 31, 2021. The effective interest rate was 0.1%, 2.53%, and 0.97%, respectively, as of December 31, 
2023, 2022, and 2021. 

 
The 2020 Credit Facility is collateralized by substantially all of the Company’s assets. 

 
The 2020 Credit Facility contains certain affirmative and negative covenants that, among other things, limit the 

Company’s ability to, subject to various exceptions and qualifications: (i) incur liens; (ii) incur additional debt; (iii) sell, 
transfer or dispose of assets; (iv) merge with or acquire other companies, (v) make loans, advances or guarantees; (vi) make 
investments; (vii) make dividends and distributions on, or repurchases of, equity; and (viii) enter into certain transactions 
with affiliates. The 2020 Credit Facility also requires the Company to maintain certain financial covenants including a 
maximum leverage ratio, a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio, and a minimum asset coverage ratio. As of December 31, 
2023, the Company was compliant with all financial covenants. 

 
2021 Term Loan 

In May 2021, the Company entered into the 2021 Term Loan pursuant to the terms of the credit agreement entered 
into in connection with the 2020 Credit Facility. The 2021 Term Loan provided the Company with borrowings up to 
$30,000. The Company incurred interest on the 2021 Term Loan at the same rate as the 2020 Credit Facility. The Company 
was required to repay the principal on the 2021 Term Loan in quarterly installments commencing on October 1, 2021 
through the maturity date of May 21, 2026. 

 
The 2021 Term Loan was subject to the same affirmative, negative and financial covenants as the 2020 Credit 

Facility. On October 27, 2021, the Company repaid the outstanding balance on the 2021 Term Loan using the net proceeds 
from the IPO as discussed in Note 1. In accordance with ASC 470, the Company recognized a loss of $132 in the year 
ended December 31, 2021 related primarily to the write-off of deferred financing costs, which was recorded in the "Loss on 
extinguishment of debt" line in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Interest expense related to the 
2021 Term Loan amounted to $141 for the year ended December 31, 2021. 

 
Vehicle Loans 

The Company periodically enters into vehicle loans. Interest rate on these vehicle loans range from 4.56% to 
5.68%. The Company is required to make principal payments of $2 on a monthly basis. 

 
Aggregate principal payments on the notes payable for the next five years are as follows:  

2024 $ 13 
2025 10 
2026 3 
2027 — 
2028 $ — 
Total notes payable 

 
11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

 $ 26 

 
Contingencies: 

Litigation—The Company may engage in various litigation in the ordinary course of business. The Company 
intends to vigorously defend itself in such matters and management, based upon the advice of legal counsel, is of the 
opinion that the resolution of these matters will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements. The 
Company records a liability when it is probable that a loss has been incurred and the amount is reasonably estimable. The 

75



THE VITA COCO COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023, 2022 AND 2021
(Amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)

Company also discloses when it is reasonably possible that a material loss may be incurred. As of December 31, 2023 and 
2022, the Company has not recorded any liabilities relating to such legal matters.

Business Risk—The Company imports finished goods predominantly from manufacturers located in South 
American and Southeast Asian countries. The Company may be subject to certain business risks due to potential instability 
in these regions.

Major Customers—The Company’s customers that accounted for 10% or more of total net sales and total accounts 
receivable were as follows:

Net sales Accounts receivable

Customer B 23% 24% 23% 23% 23%

One of the customers acquired less than 5% ownership in the Company upon consummation of the IPO. The same 
customer also vested in 100,000 restricted stock awards during the period ended March 31, 2023 as discussed in Note 10, 
Stockholders' Equity. The customer continues to hold less than 5% ownership in the Company as of December 31, 2023.

In 2023, we agreed to start to discontinue the private label coconut water and coconut oil supply relationship with 
one of our significant customers as the terms required to retain the business were contrary to our long term margin targets. 
However, at the request of this customer, we expect to continue the supply relationship through 2024 for a significant 
portion of their private label coconut water needs.

Major Suppliers—The Company’s suppliers that accounted for 10% or more of the Company’s purchases were as 
follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Supplier A 22% 17%
Supplier B 13% 13%
Supplier C 10% 6%
Supplier D 10% 6%

12. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The Company accounts for derivative instruments in accordance with the ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging 
("ASC 815"). These principles require that all derivative instruments be recognized at fair value on each balance sheet date 
unless they qualify for a scope exclusion as a normal purchase or sale transaction, which is accounted for under the accrual 
method of accounting. In addition, these principles permit derivative instruments that qualify for hedge accounting to 
reflect the changes in the fair value of the derivative instruments through earnings or stockholders’ equity as other 
comprehensive income on a net basis until the hedged item is settled and recognized in earnings, depending on whether the 
derivative is being used to hedge changes in fair value or cash flows. The ineffective portion of a derivative instrument’s 
change in fair value is immediately recognized in earnings. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the 
Company did not have any derivative instruments that it had designated as fair value or cash flow hedges, and therefore all 
changes in fair value were immediately recognized in earnings.

The Company is subject to the following currency risks:

Inventory purchases from Brazilian, Thai and Malaysian manufacturers—In order to mitigate the currency risk on 
inventory purchases from its Brazilian, Malaysian and Thai manufacturers, which are settled in Brazilian real ("BRL"),

Year Ended December 31,
2022

December 31,
2023 2021 2023 2022

Customer A 30% 30% 30% 20% 16%
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Assets

Malaysian ringgit ("MYR") and Thai baht ("THB"), the Company's subsidiary, All Market Singapore Pte. Ltd. ("AMS"), 
enters a series of forward currency swaps to buy BRL, MYR and THB.

Intercompany transactions between AME and AMS—In order to mitigate the currency risk on intercompany 
transactions between AME and AMS, AMS enters into foreign currency swaps to sell British pound ("GBP").

Intercompany Transactions with Canadian Customer and Vendors—In order to mitigate the currency risk on 
transactions with Canadian customer and vendors, the Company enters into foreign currency swaps to sell Canadian dollars 
("CAD"). 

The notional amount and fair value of all outstanding derivative instruments in the consolidated balance sheets 
consist of the following at:

Derivatives not designated as
hedging instruments under

ASC 815-20

December 31, 2023

Notional
Amount Fair Value Balance Sheet Location 

Foreign currency exchange contracts

Liabilities
Foreign currency exchange contracts

Receive THB/sell USD $ 21,971 $ (285) Derivative liabilities
Receive USD/pay EUR 5,627 (90) Derivative liabilities
Receive USD/pay GBP 23,512 (749) Derivative liabilities
Receive USD/pay CAD 7,666 (89) Derivative liabilities

December 31, 2022
Derivatives not designated as

hedging instruments under
ASC 815-20

Notional
Amount Fair Value Balance Sheet Location

Assets
Foreign currency exchange contracts

Receive USD/pay GBP $ 23,702 $ 1,104 Derivative assets
Receive BRL/sell USD $ 46,301 $ 2,314 Derivative assets
Receive USD/pay CAD $ 4,819 $ 188 Derivative assets

Liabilities
Foreign currency exchange contracts

Receive USD/pay EUR $ 604 $ (7) Derivative liabilities
Receive THB/sell USD 21,990 (64) Derivative liabilities

The amount of realized and unrealized gains and losses and consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income location of the derivative instruments as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows: 

Receive BRL/sell USD $ 62,253 $ 3,876 Derivative assets

77



THE VITA COCO COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023, 2022 AND 2021
(Amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)

2023 2022 2021

Location Unrealized gain on
derivative instruments

Unrealized gain on 
derivative instruments 

Unrealized (loss) on 
derivative instruments 

Location Foreign currency gain Foreign currency (loss) Foreign currency gain

The Company applies recurring fair value measurements to its derivative instruments in accordance with ASC 
Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements ("ASC 820"). In determining fair value, the Company used a market approach and 
incorporates the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions 
about risk and/or the risks inherent in the inputs to the valuation technique. These inputs can be readily observable, market 
corroborated, or generally unobservable internally developed inputs.

13. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

ASC 820 provides a framework for measuring fair value and requires expanded disclosures regarding fair value 
measurements. ASC 820 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. ASC 820 also establishes a fair value 
hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. 
Based upon observability of the inputs used in valuation techniques, the Company’s assets and liabilities are classified as 
follows:

• Level 1—Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

• Level 2—Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or 
liabilities, quoted market prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be 
corroborated by observable market data.

• Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to 
the fair value of the assets or liabilities. This includes internally developed models and methodologies utilizing 
significant unobservable inputs.

Forward currency swap contracts—See Note 12, Derivative Instruments, for a description of these contracts. The 
Company’s valuation methodology for forward currency swap contracts is based upon third-party institution data.

Contingent consideration liability— In connection with the Company’s acquisition of the entity currently known as 
AMI Runa USA LLC ("Runa"), the Company was obligated to pay contingent payments to Runa’s former shareholders 
only if a certain growth rate is achieved. Assuming the revenue growth was achieved, the former shareholders could elect 
for payment to be calculated based on quarterly data available between December 2021 and December 2022, as follows: 
49% of the product of (a) the net revenue for the trailing 12 calendar months and (b) a specified multiple, which is 
contingent on the revenue growth achieved since December 31, 2017. Per the acquisition agreement, the contingent 
payment cannot exceed $51,500. If a certain revenue growth rate was not achieved during the remeasurement period, the 
Company is not required to pay any contingent payment. The term of the remeasurement period under the agreement ended 
in December 2022. Based on the revenue performance expectation during the earn-out period for Runa, the contingent 
consideration was zero as of December 31, 2022. The Company utilized a probability weighted scenario-based model to 
determine the fair value of the contingent consideration. The contingent consideration liability was considered a Level 3 
liability, as the fair value was determined based on significant inputs not observable in the market.

The Company’s fair value hierarchy for those assets (liabilities) measured at fair value on a recurring basis at 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, is as follows:

Unrealized gain (loss) on derivative 
instruments $ (872) $ 6,606  $ 2,093

Foreign currency gain (loss) $ 5,697 $ 2,682 $ (5,679)
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Level 1 Level 2 
Forward Currency
Swaps/Contracts

Level 3 
Contingent

consideration liability

Total

December 31, 2022  $ —   $ 3,535   $ —   $ 3,535  

There were no transfers between any levels of the fair value hierarchy for any of the Company’s fair value 
measurements.

14. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common Stock—Each share of common stock entitles its holder to one vote on matters required to be voted on by 
the stockholders of the Company and to receive dividends, when and if declared by the Company’s board of directors. As 
of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had 3,124,326 and 2,898,930 shares, respectively, of common stock 
reserved for future issuance upon the conversion of outstanding warrants and stock options.

On May 23, 2023, the Company entered into an underwriting agreement (the "May Underwriting Agreement") with 
BofA Securities, Inc., Evercore Group L.L.C. and Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, as the representative of the underwriters 
named in Schedule I thereto (collectively, the "Underwriters"), and a stockholder of the Company, Verlinvest Beverages 
SA (the "Selling Stockholder"), relating to an underwritten public offering of 5,000,000 shares (the "Offering") of 
Common Stock at a price to the public of $23.00 per share, before deducting underwriting discounts. Pursuant to the May 
Underwriting Agreement, all 5,000,000 shares of Common Stock were sold by the Selling Stockholder. Under the terms of 
the May Underwriting Agreement, the Selling Stockholder granted the Underwriters an option exercisable for 30 days to 
purchase up to an additional 750,000 shares of Common Stock from the Selling Stockholder at the public offering price, 
less underwriting discounts and commissions, which option was exercised in full prior to the closing of the Offering. The 
closing of the Offering occurred on May 26, 2023. On November 6, 2023, the Company entered into another underwriting 
agreement (the “November Underwriting Agreement”) with BofA Securities, Inc. and Verlinvest Beverages SA, relating to 
an offering of 4,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.01 per share. Pursuant to the November 
Underwriting Agreement, all 4,000,000 shares of Common Stock were sold by the Selling Stockholder. The closing of the 
offering occurred on November 9, 2023. The Company did not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of the shares.
Additionally, the Company incurred $1,525 of administrative expenses related to these offerings, which were expensed in 
SG&A for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Treasury Stock - As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company held 6,236,200 and 6,206,200 shares in 
treasury stock. In January 2021, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement with RW VC S.a.r.l, f/k/a Vita 
Coco S.a.r.l (the “Seller”). The Company repurchased 5,192,005 shares of its own common stock from the Seller at a 
purchase price of $9.63 per share, or an aggregate purchase price of approximately $50,000. The purchase price per share 
approximated the most recent third-party common stock valuation prepared in conjunction with the accounting of stock- 
based compensation discussed within this Note.

On October 30, 2023, the Company's Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program ("Program") 
authorizing the Company to repurchase up to $40,000 of Common Stock. Shares of Common Stock may be repurchased 
under the Program from time to time through open market purchases, block trades, private transactions or accelerated or 
other structured share repurchase programs. To the extent not retired, shares of Common Stock repurchased under the 
Program will be placed in the Company's treasury shares. The extent to which the Company repurchases shares of 
Common Stock, and the timing of such repurchases, will depend upon a variety of factors, including market conditions, 
regulatory requirements and other corporate considerations, as determined by the Company. The Program has no time 
limits and may be suspended or discontinued at any time. The Company repurchased 30,000 shares under this program at a 
cost of $773 during the year ended December 31, 2023.

Non-controlling Interest—On August 17, 2021, the Company’s ownership interest in AME increased as a result 
of the subsidiary AME repurchasing AME shares from certain minority stockholders. As a result, the noncontrolling 
interest in AME representing minority stockholders’ proportionate share of the equity in AME was reduced from 1.3% to 
0.71%. On December 31, 2021, the Company purchased the remaining outstanding AME shares directly from minority

December 31, 2023  $ —   $ 2,663   $ —   $ 2,663
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stockholders by exchanging shares in the Company on the basis of 5.485 Vita Coco shares being allotted for every 1 AME 
share. The share ratio exchange reflects a mutually agreed valuation of AME shares relative to Vita Coco shares. Since the 
Company continued to retain a controlling financial interest in AME, the change in ownership interest was accounted for as 
an equity transaction. 

 
Warrants—All service warrants were exercised and exit warrants were expired as of December 31, 2021. As such, 

there was no warrant activity for the year ended December 31, 2023. 
 

Stock-based Compensation—The stockholders of the Company approved the adoption of the Company’s 2014 
Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan (the “2014 Plan”). The 2014 Plan allowed for a maximum of 8% of the sum of the 
Available Equity defined as the sum of (i) the total then outstanding shares of common shares and (ii) all available stock 
option (i.e., granted and outstanding stock options and stock options not yet granted). Under the terms of the 2014 Plan, the 
Company may grant employees, directors, and consultants stock options and restricted stock awards and has the authority 
to establish the specific terms of each award, including exercise price, expiration, and vesting. Currently, only stock options 
were granted under the 2014 Plan. Generally, stock options issued pursuant to the 2014 Plan must contain exercise prices 
no less than the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant and have a ten-year contractual term. 

 
Subsequent to September 30, 2021, the stockholders of the Company approved the adoption of the 2021 Incentive 

Award Plan ("2021 Plan"), which became effective after the closing of the IPO discussed in Note 1. On and after closing of 
the offering and the effectiveness of the 2021 Incentive Award Plan, no further grants will be made under the 2014 Plan. 
The maximum number of shares of our common stock available for issuance under the 2021 Plan is equal to the sum of (i) 
3,431,312 shares of our common stock and (ii) an annual increase on the first day of each year beginning in 2022 and 
ending in and including 2031, equal to the lesser of (A) two percent (2%) of the outstanding shares of our common stock 
on the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year and (B) such lesser amount as determined by our board of 
directors; provided, however, no more than 3,431,312 shares may be issued upon the exercise of incentive stock options, or 
ISOs. The 2021 Plan provides for the grant of stock options, including ISOs and nonqualified stock options, or NSOs, 
restricted stock, dividend equivalents, stock payments, restricted stock units, or RSUs, other incentive awards, SARs, and 
cash awards. Currently, stock options, restricted stock, and RSU's were granted under 2021 Plan. As of December 31, 
2023, there were 3,124,326 shares of common stock reserved for future issuance pursuant to the 2021 Plan. 

 
The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense of $7,805, $6,134 and $3,103 for the years ended 

December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively in selling, general, and administrative expenses. The Company also 
recognized a reduction of revenue of $1,323, $1,250 and $277 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 
related to stock-based compensation awards granted to entities affiliated with a major customer that was accounted for as a 
stock-based sales incentive. The total impact to additional paid-in capital related to stock-based compensation 
arrangements in 2023 and 2022 were $9,128 and $7,384, respectively. 

 
Stock Option Awards with Service-based Vesting Conditions 

Most stock option awards granted under the 2014 and 2021 Plans vest based on the continuous service. The stock 
options awarded to the employees have different vesting schedules as specified in each grant agreement. The following 
table summarizes the service-based stock option activity during the year ended December 31, 2023: 

 
 

Number of 
Stock 

Options 

Weighted- 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 

Weighted- 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual Term 

 
Aggregate 

Intrinsic Value 
 (per option) (in years) (in thousands) 

Outstanding—December 31, 2022 3,713,974 $ 11.00   

Granted 296,693 $ 17.66   

Exercised 698,264 $ 10.15   

Forfeited 14,397 $ 12.51   

Outstanding—December 31, 2023 3,298,006 $ 12.23 6.8 44,282 
Exercisable—December 31, 2023 1,607,477 $ 10.34 5.8 24,613 
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The weighted average grant-date fair value of the service-based stock option awards granted during the years ended 
December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $7.29 per option and $6.98 per option, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of 
service-based stock options exercised was $10,826 and $2,026 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the 
stock options and the fair value of the Company’s common stock for all stock options that had exercise prices lower than 
the fair value of the Company’s common stock. 

 
The fair value of the service-based stock options granted in 2023 and 2022 pursuant to the Stock Option Plan was 

estimated on a grant or on a modification date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The weighted average 
assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model were as follows: 

 
 2023 2022 

Weighted average expected term 6.22 years 7.0 years 
Weighted average expected volatility 35% 39% 
Weighted average risk-free interest rate 4.00% 2.86% 
Weighted average expected dividend yield 0% 0% 

 
Expected Term: Represents the period that the stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding based on a 

contractual term and service conditions specified for the awards. The Company estimated the expected term of the options 
with service conditions in accordance with the “simplified” method as defined in ASC 718, which enables the use of a 
practical expedient for “plain vanilla” share options. 

 
Expected Volatility: The Company has historically been a private company and lacks company-specific historical 

and implied volatility information for its stock. Therefore, the Company estimated volatility for option grants by evaluating 
the average historical volatility of a peer group of companies for the period immediately preceding the option grant for a 
term that is approximately equal to the expected term of the options. 

 
Risk-free Interest Rate: The risk-free interest rate was based on the yield, as of the option valuation date, by 

reference to the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant or the modification of the award for time periods 
equal to the expected term of the award. 

 
Dividend Yield—The Company does not anticipate declaring a dividend over the expected term. As such, the 

dividend yield has been estimated to be zero. 
 

Fair Value of Common Stock— For stock awards granted subsequent to the IPO, the fair value of the common 
stock assumed for the grant date fair value of the awards will be based on the closing price of our common stock as 
reported on the day of grant. Prior to the IPO in October 2021, because there has been no public market for the Company’s 
common stock, the board of directors has determined the estimated fair value of the common stock at the time of grant of 
options by considering valuations performed by an independent third-party valuation specialist, which considers a number 
of objective and subjective factors including valuations of comparable companies, operating and financial performance, the 
lack of liquidity of capital stock, the likelihood of achieving an initial public offering and general and industry specific 
economic outlook. These third-party valuations were performed in accordance with the guidance outlined in the American 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants’ Accounting and Valuation Guide, Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity 
Securities Issued as Compensation. The third-party common stock valuations were prepared using a combination of the 
income approach and market approach. 

 
As of December 31, 2023, there was $3,567 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested service- 

based stock options, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average service period of 1.7 years. 

 
Stock Option Awards with Performance and Market-based Vesting Conditions 

There are also stock option awards containing performance-based vesting conditions, subject to achievement of 
various performance goals by a future period, such as revenue and adjusted EBITDA targets. There are also stock option 
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awards containing performance and market vesting conditions, such as options vesting upon occurrence of an IPO or other 
qualifying liquidity event and upon achieving a predetermined equity value of the Company. This award was granted to the 
current CEO in 2019 that vest upon occurrence of an IPO or other qualifying liquidity event and upon achieving a 
predetermined equity value of the Company. As of July 31, 2023, the performance and market vesting conditions were 
achieved and the remaining stock compensation expense of $762 for this award was accelerated and recognized in the year 
ended December 31, 2023.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, there were no modifications to these awards. During the year ended 
December 31, 2022, certain awards that contained a performance-based vesting condition were modified. The modification 
adjusted the performance condition to allow for 50% of the performance awards to meet the criteria to vest, and no other 
terms were modified. Since it did not affect any terms that would affect the fair value, and only the number of awards, it is 
considered an improbable-to-probable modification. The impact of the modification was not material.

The following table summarizes the stock option activity during the year ended December 31, 2023:

Number of
Stock

Options

Weighted- 
Average
Exercise

Price

Weighted- 
Average

Remaining
Contractual Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

(per option) (in years) (in thousands)

Granted 412,341 16.91 

Forfeited or expired 76,440 11.69 

Exercisable—December 31, 2023 635,408 $ 10.18 5.8  $ 9,831
. 

The fair value of the awards with performance-based vesting conditions was estimated using the Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model used for the Company’s service-based stock options and assumed that performance goals will be 
achieved. If such performance conditions are not met, no compensation cost is recognized and any recognized 
compensation cost is reversed. The Company did not grant any performance based options for the year ended December 
31, 2022 other than the modified awards noted above.

The fair value of the awards with performance-based vesting conditions granted in 2023 pursuant to the 2021 Plan 
was estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The weighted average assumptions used in 
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model were as follows:

2023

Weighted average expected term 6.40 years
Weighted average expected volatility 35%
Weighted average risk-free interest rate 4.00%
Weighted average expected dividend yield 0%

As of December 31, 2023, total unrecognized compensation cost related to the unvested stock option awards 
containing performance conditions was $2,606, which is expected to be recognized over the period of approximately 2.06 
years. The awards containing performance and market conditions to the CEO were all vested during the year ended 
December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2022, total unrecognized compensation cost related to the unvested stock option 
awards containing performance and market vesting conditions was $1,606, which was expected to be recognized over the 
period of approximately 4.22 years.

Outstanding—December 31, 2023 1,144,436 $ 12.60 7.1  $ 14,931

Exercised — —

Outstanding—December 31, 2022 808,535 $ 10.32
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Service & Performance based Restricted Stock and RSUs 

Restricted stock and RSUs were granted under the 2021 Plan and primarily vest based on continuous service. The 
RSUs with service-based vesting conditions awarded to the employees have differing vesting schedules as specified in each 
grant agreement. The RSUs granted to non-employee directors vest in full on the earlier of: (i) the day immediately 
preceding the date of the first Annual Shareholders Meeting following the date of grant; or (ii) the first anniversary of the 
date of grant. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, the Company also granted RSUs that contained 
performance-based vesting conditions, subject to achievement of various performance goals by the end of 2025 or 2026, 
specifically net sales growth and Adjusted EBITDA targets.The following table summarizes the restricted stock and RSU 
activity for the year ended December 31, 2023: 

Number of service 
based Restricted 

Stock or RSU 
Awards 

Weighted 
Average Grant 
Date Fair Value 
(service based) 

Number of 
performance based 
Restricted Stock or 

RSU Awards 

Weighted Average 
Grant Date Fair Value 
(performance based) 

Non-vested - December 31, 2022 666,177 $ 14.08 — $ —
Granted 203,226 19.04 17,742 16.91
Vested 211,939 14.10 — — 
Forfeited/Cancelled 29,335 12.96 — —
Non-vested - December 31, 2023 628,129  $ 13.89  17,742   $ 16.91 

Also included in these awards are $3 million of shares of restricted common stock granted to entities affiliated 
with a significant customer, granted at the IPO price per share of $15.00, or 200,000 restricted shares, in exchange for an 
amendment to extend the distributor agreement term to June 10, 2026. Since the distribution agreement has not been 
terminated by either party for cause as of March 31, 2023, 50% of the shares were released on March 31, 2023. Assuming 
the distribution agreement is not terminated by either party for cause, the remaining 50% will be released on March 31, 
2024. The grant was accounted for as a stock-based sales incentive based on guidance in ASC 606 and is reflected as a 
reduction in the transaction price of revenue on the basis of the grant-date fair-value measure in accordance with the stock 
compensation guidance in ASC 718. 

The aggregate grant date fair value of all RSUs granted during 2023 and 2022 was $4,169 and $4,445, 
respectively. At December 31, 2023, there was $5,259 of unrecognized stock compensation expense related to non-vested 
service-based RSUs, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.0 years. At December 31, 
2023, there was $219 of unrecognized stock compensation expense related to non-vested performance based RSUs, which 
is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.2 years. At December 31, 2022, there was $5,035 of 
unrecognized stock compensation expense related to non-vested service-based RSUs, which is expected to be recognized 
over a weighted average period of 2.7 years. 

15. Income Taxes

The domestic and foreign components of the Company’s income before income taxes are as follows: 

Year Ended December 31, 
2023 2022 2021

Domestic $ 31,614 $ 5,634 $ 15,085 
Foreign 26,306 5,207 9,144
Income before income taxes  $ 57,920  $ 10,841  $ 24,229 

The income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 consist of the following: 
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Year Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 2021 

Current 
Federal $ 6,926 $ 3,654 $ 3,343 
State and local 1,911 1,477 1,076 
Foreign 4,940 965 2,435 

 13,777 6,096 6,854 
Deferred    

Federal $ (2,044) $ (2,940) $ (304) 
State and local (629) (839) (29) 
Foreign 187 710 (1,284) 

 (2,486) (3,069) (1,617) 
Total $ 11,291 $ 3,027 $ 5,237 

 
The reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory rate to the Company’s effective rate is as follows: 

 
 2023 2022 2021 

Income tax benefit using U.S. federal statutory rate 21.0% 21.0% 21.0% 
State and local taxes. net of U.S. federal income tax benefit 1.8% 4.7% 3.6% 
Global intangible low-taxed income 5.1% —% 1.8% 
Stock compensation (3.0%) (3.9%) —% 
Officer's compensation limitation 1.1% 4.4% —% 
Permanent differences 0.5% 0.3% 0.4% 
Foreign rate differential (1.2%) (2.9%) (1.8%) 
Foreign derived intangible income (0.3%) (3.6%) (1.9%) 
Valuation allowance (0.4%) 5.4% (3.2%) 
Return to provision —% —% (0.1%) 
Tax credits (5.1%) (0.6%) (1.8%) 
IPO costs —% —% 2.1% 
Other —% 3.1% 1.5% 

Provision for income taxes  19.5%  27.9%  21.6% 
 

 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2023 and 2022, consist of the following: 
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Tax credits (5.1%) (0.6%) (1.8%) 
IPO costs —% —% 2.1% 
Other —% 3.1% 1.5% 

Provision for income taxes  19.5%  27.9%  21.6% 
 

 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2023 and 2022, consist of the following: 
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2023 2022 

Deferred Tax Assets:   

Inventory reserves $ 998 $ 878 
Reserves and accruals 2,315 1,330 
Stock based compensation 5,159 3,728 
Net operating loss carryforwards 4,469 4,834 
Charitable contributions carryforward 2 — 
Lease liability 394 673 

Subtotal 13,337 11,443 
Valuation allowance (4,374) (4,586) 

Total deferred tax assets 8,963 6,857 
Deferred Tax Liabilities:   

Prepaid insurance (339) (397) 
Intangibles (1,528) (1,464) 
Right-of-use assets (338) (646) 
Fixed assets (115) (84) 
Other—Net 106 (10) 

Total deferred tax liabilities (2,214) (2,601) 
Net deferred tax assets (liability) $ 6,749 $ 4,256 

 
A valuation allowance of $4,374 and $4,586 was recorded against the non-US deferred tax asset balance as of 

December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. As of each reporting date, management considers new evidence, both positive 
and negative, that could affect its view of the future realization of deferred tax assets. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
management determined that there is sufficient positive evidence to conclude that it is more likely than not that the US 
deferred taxes are realizable. A valuation allowance has been established against the net operating loss carryforwards 
which has been generated by our foreign jurisdictions. 

 
As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had no US state and federal net operating loss carryforwards. As 

of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards related to foreign operations of 
$21,548 and $22,987, respectively. These net operating loss carryforwards have various lives ranging from 10 years to 
indefinite carryforward periods. 

 
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of income tax uncertainties is as follows; 

 
 2023  

Beginning balance as of January 1, 2023 $ 144 
Reductions based on tax positions related to prior years  (38) 
Additions based on tax positions related to current year  — 
Ending balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 106 

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were $106 and $144 liabilities for income tax uncertainties recorded in 
the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The Company recognized interest and penalties related to income tax 
uncertainties of $37 and $50 in its consolidated balance sheets or consolidated statements of operations for years ended 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The Company is subject to income tax examinations by the IRS and various 
state and local jurisdictions for the open tax years between December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2023. 
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As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, income taxes on undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries 
have not been provided for as the Company plans to indefinitely reinvest these amounts. The cumulative undistributed 
foreign earnings were not material as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. 

During the second quarter of 2021, the Finance Act 2021 (the "Finance Act") was enacted in the United Kingdom. 
The Finance Act increases the corporate income tax rate from 19% to 25% effective April 1, 2023 and enhances the first- 
year capital allowance on qualifying new plant and machinery assets effective April 1, 2021. The effects on the Company’s 
existing deferred tax balances have been recorded. 

Over the past few years, there has been significant discussion with regard to tax legislation by both the Biden 
Administration and the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (“OECD”). On August 16, 2022, the 
Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 was signed into law by the Biden Administration, with tax provisions primarily focused on 
implementing a 15% corporate alternative minimum tax on global adjusted financial statement income ("CAMT"). On 
December 12, 2022, the European Union member states also reached agreement to implement the OECD’s reform of 
international taxation known as Pillar Two Global Anti-Base Erosion ("GloBE") Rules, which broadly mirror the Inflation 
Reduction Act by imposing a 15% global minimum tax on multinational companies. The CAMT and GloBE are 
anticipated to be effective beginning in fiscal 2024 and fiscal 2025, respectively. The US Treasury and the OECD continue 
to seek input and release guidance on the CAMT and GloBE legislation and how the two will interact, so it is unclear at 
this time what, if any, impact either will have on the Company’s tax rate and financial results. We will continue to evaluate 
their impact as further information becomes available. 

16. Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share is calculated as follows: 

Year Ended December 31, 
2023 2022 2021

Numerator: 
Net income attributable to The Vita Coco Company, Inc. $ 46,629 $ 7,814 $ 19,015 
Denominator: 
Weighted-average number of common shares used in earnings per 

share—basic 56,427,890 55,732,619 53,689,910 
Effect of conversion of stock options and RSU's 2,319,448 391,042 496,211 

Weighted-average number of common shares used in earnings per 
share—diluted  58,747,338  56,123,661 54,186,121 

Earnings per share—basic  $ 0.83   $ 0.14  $ 0.35 
Earnings per share—diluted  $ 0.79  $ 0.14 $ 0.35 

            The vested service warrants are exercisable for little consideration and all necessary conditions have been 
satisfied as of December 31, 2021. Accordingly, the calculation of weighted average common shares outstanding includes 
vested service warrants, exercisable for a value of $0.000022. 

All exit warrants expired as of December 31, 2021. Before expiration, for the year ended December 31, 2021, the 
exit warrants, which expired upon a liquidity event and only vest when proceeds from a liquidity event provide an annual 
internal rate of return of less than 30%, were not considered in the basic and diluted earnings per share, as the contingency 
of a liquidity event had not occurred. 

The following potentially dilutive securities, prior to the use of the treasury stock method, have been excluded from 
the computation of diluted weighted-average number of common shares outstanding, as they would be anti-dilutive: 
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Year Ended December 31,

17. Employee Benefit Plan

Employees of the Company may participate in a defined contribution plan which qualifies under Section 401(k) of 
the Internal Revenue Code. Participating employees may contribute into a traditional plan with pretax salary or into a Roth 
plan with after tax salary up to statutory limits. The Company matches contributions up to 3% of each employee’s earnings, 
which vest over 2 years. Matching contributions were $616, $592 and $475 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 
and 2021, respectively.

18. Segment Reporting

The Company has two operating and reportable segments:

• Americas—The Americas segment is comprised primarily of the U.S. and Canada, and derives its revenues 
from the marketing and distribution of various coconut water and non-coconut water products (e.g., coconut oil 
and milk). The Company’s Guayusa leaf products (Runa), aluminum bottle canned water (Ever & Ever), and 
protein infused fitness drink (PWR LIFT) are marketed only in the Americas segment. As of December 2023, 
we ceased offering the Runa brand. 

• International—The International segment is comprised primarily of Europe, Middle East, and Asia Pacific, 
which includes the Company’s procurement arm and derives its revenues from the marketing and distribution of 
various coconut water and non-coconut water products.

The Company’s CEO is the chief operating decision maker and evaluates segment performance primarily based on 
net sales and gross profit. All intercompany transactions between the segments have been eliminated.

Information about the Company’s operations by operating segment as of and for the years ended December 31, 
2023, 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

December 31, 2023
Americas International Consolidated

Net sales $ 430,245 $ 63,367 $ 493,612
Gross profit 162,262 18,467 180,729
Total segment assets 209,984 75,698 285,682

December 31, 2022
Americas International Consolidated

Net sales $ 373,622 $ 54,165 $ 427,787
Gross profit 95,492 7,869 103,361
Total segment assets 156,588 41,169 197,757

December 31, 2021
Americas International Consolidated

Net sales $ 323,891 $ 55,622 $ 379,513
Gross profit 101,864 11,284 113,148
Total segment assets 141,973 55,511 197,484

2023 2022 2021

Options to purchase common stock 310,953 1,880,904 1,288,350
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Year Ended December 31, 
Reconciliation 2023 2022 2021

Total gross profit $ 180,729 $ 103,361 $ 113,148 
Less: 

Selling, general, and administrative expenses 124,236 100,306 88,559 
Income from operations 56,493 3,055 24,589
Less: 

Unrealized gain/(loss) on derivative instruments (872) 6,606 2,093
Foreign currency gain/(loss) (251) 1,387 (2,088) 
Loss on extinguishment of debt — — (132)
Interest income 2,581 51 127 
Interest expense (31) (258) (360)

Income before income taxes  $ 57,920  $ 10,841 $ 24,229 

Geographic Data: 

The following table provides information related to the Company’s net revenues by country, which is presented on 
the basis of the location that revenue from customers is recorded: 

Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021

United States $ 401,974 $ 352,731 $ 323,891 
All other countries(1) 91,638 75,056 55,622
Net sales  $ 493,612  $ 427,787 $ 379,513 

(1) No individual country is greater than 10% of total net sales for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

The following table provides information related to the Company’s property and equipment, net by country:

December 31, December 31, 
2023 2022

United States $ 729 $ 683 
Ecuador 140 503
Singapore 1,081 1,288 
All other countries(1) 186 105
Property and equipment, net  $ 2,136 $ 2,579 

(1) No individual country is greater than 10% of total property and equipment, net as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.
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19. Related-Party Transactions 

Management Fees—The Company is subject to an arrangement with one of its stockholders for as long as such 
stockholder holds at least 5% of the Company’s capital stock. Pursuant to the terms of the amended arrangement, the 
Company was required to make fixed annual management fee payments of $281. On October 20, 2021, in connection with 
the IPO discussed in Note 1, the Stockholder’s Agreement was revised and the new Investor Rights Agreement does not 
include a management fee to this stockholder. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company had amounts due in 
accounts payable of $227 for the portion of the year prior to the execution of the new Investor Rights Agreement. 

Director Nominee Agreements - On May 24, 2022, two members of the board of directors appointed as nominees 
under the Investor Rights Agreement by Verlinvest Beverages SA, a stockholder of the Company, entered into nominee 
agreements instructing the Company to pay all cash and equity compensation earned in connection with their board of 
director services to Verlinvest Beverages SA. Based on the aforementioned nominee agreements, RSUs granted to these 
two directors will be held by them as nominees for Verlinvest Beverages SA and, upon vesting of the RSUs, the shares will 
be transferred to Verlinvest Beverages SA. The nominee agreements are primarily between the directors and Verlinvest 
Beverages SA. The Company is a party to this arrangement solely to agree to the manner in which it would satisfy the 
compensation obligations to these directors. As of December 31, 2023, there is only one active member of the board of 
directors that is subject to this nominee agreement. 

Registration Rights and Underwriting Agreements - Under the Registration Rights agreement by and among the 
Company, Verlinvest Beverages SA ("Verlinvest") and certain other investors, in connection with each demand 
registration, piggyback or shelf offering, the Company agreed to reimburse the holders of registrable securities for the 
reasonable fees and disbursements of not more than one law firm. As part of the two secondary offerings during 2023, the 
Company also entered into underwriting agreements, to which Verlinvest was a party. In connection with the secondary 
share offering by Verlinvest in May 2023, Verlinvest agreed to waive its right to reimbursement of legal fees for its 
counsel, and those expenses, in the amount of $140, were not reimbursed by the Company. 

Distribution Agreement with Shareholder – On October 1, 2019 the Company entered into a distribution agreement 
with one of its stockholders, which extended through December 31, 2022 and has been continued upon the mutual 
agreement of each party. The distribution agreement grants the stockholder the right to sell, resell and distribute designated 
products supplied by the Company within a specified territory. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the 
stockholder's ownership in the Company became less than 5%. The amount of revenue recognized related to this 
distribution agreement was $4,048, $6,375, and $6,247 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively. The amounts due from the stockholder in Accounts Receivable, net were $244 and $753 as of December 31, 
2023 and 2022 respectively. Amounts payable to the stockholder in Accounts payable were $0 and $38 as of 
December 31, 2023 and 2022 respectively. Related to this distribution arrangement, the Company and the stockholder have 
a service agreement where the Company shares in the compensation costs of the stockholder’s employee managing the 
China market. The Company recorded $151, $234 and $215 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively, in selling, general, and administrative expenses for this service agreement. 
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20. Asset held for sale

The asset group held for sale consists of a farm in Ecuador which was the source of Guayusa leaves for our Runa 
products. Since the Company is able to source Guayusa through alternative means to produce the Runa products, as of 
September 30, 2022, the Company committed to a plan for disposal through sale. The Company performed a fair value 
assessment on the asset group held for sale consisting of land, a production plant, equipment and inventory. The Company 
obtained a valuation of the assets and adjusted the carrying amount down to their fair value less costs to sell, which resulted 
in a $619 impairment loss recorded in SG&A during the third quarter of 2022. The remaining carrying amount as of 
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 is listed below. These assets held for sale did not qualify for discontinued 
operations reporting. As of September 30, 2023, since the asset has been held for sale beyond one year, the Company has 
reclassified it as held and used within property, plant and equipment and remeasured it at its fair value of $140, which resulted 
in an additional $363 impairment loss.

Asset held for sale - land $ —  $ 503

December 31,
2023

December 31,
2022
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21. Leases

The Company leases certain office space and machinery and equipment. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or 
less are not recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

In January 2016, the Company entered into an operating lease for office space in New York, New York, which was 
set to expire in January 2023. In June 2022, the Company extended its lease agreement for the New York office to April 
30, 2025 and remeasured the lease liability and right-of-use asset as of June 30, 2022. The Company pays for its 
proportionate share of building operating costs such as maintenance, utilities, and insurance that are treated as variable 
costs and excluded from the measurement of the lease.

The Company also maintains additional leases for office space and equipment in London and Singapore, which 
are operating leases. On March 31, 2022, the Company renewed the lease for the Singapore office, extending it through 
June 30, 2025, which is reflected in the lease term.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company did not have any additional operating leases that have not yet commenced 
with future undiscounted lease payments.

The components of lease cost, which are included within operating expenses in the accompanying consolidated 
statements of operations, are summarized in the following table (in thousands). Any variable lease costs are immaterial.

Year Ended December 31, 
2023

Year Ended December 31, 
2022

The following table summarizes supplemental balance sheet information for the Company’s operating leases:

Line Item in Balance As of December 31, As of December 31,
Sheet 2023 2022

Noncurrent assets:
Operating lease right-of-use assets Right-of-use assets $ 1,406 $ 2,679

Current liabilities:
Current portion of operating lease liabilities Accrued expenses $ 1,189 $ 734

Noncurrent liabilities:
Other long-term

Non-current portion of operating lease liabilities Liabilities $ 438  $ 2,052

The following summarizes the weighted average remaining lease term and weighted average discount rate related to 
the Company’s right-of-use assets and lease liabilities recorded on the balance sheet as of December 31, 2023 :

As of December 31, 2023

Weighted average discount rate 2.2 % 

The following table summarizes supplemental cash flow information for the Company’s operating leases:
As of December 31, 2023

Operating lease cost $ 1,102  $ 1,124

Weighted-average remaining lease terms 1.36

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities $ 952
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The following table presents the maturity of the Company’s operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2023: 
 

Year ending December 31,  Maturity of Lease 
Payments 

2024 $ 1,229 
2025  441 
2026  — 
2027  — 
Thereafter  — 

Total lease payments $ 1,670 
Less: imputed interest  (43) 

Total lease liabilities $ 1,627 
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22. Subsequent Events

On October 30, 2023, the Company's Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program authorizing the 
Company to repurchase up to $40,000 of Common Stock. As of December 31, 2023, the Company repurchased 30,000 
shares at a cost of $773 under this program as discussed in Note 14, Stockholders' Equity. During January 2024, the 
Company acquired an additional 391,544 shares at a aggregate cost of $9,235, with an average share price of $23.59. 

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. 

None 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures. 

Limitations on effectiveness of controls and procedures 

In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and 
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired 
control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource 
constraints and that management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and 
procedures relative to their costs. 

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures 

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, 
evaluated, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the effectiveness of our disclosure 
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based on that evaluation, 
our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2023, our disclosure 
controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level. 

Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting 

The management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over 
financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Internal control over financial 
reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, 
conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on criteria 
established in “Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013)” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 
the Treadway Commission ("COSO"). Based on this assessment, the management of the Company concluded that the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2023. The Company's internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP as stated in their 
report which appears herein. 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 
15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended December 31, 2023 that have materially affected, or are 
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 

Item 9B. Other Information. 

               None of our Directors or officers (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) under the Exchange Act) adopted or terminated a 
“Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or a “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined in Item 408 of 
Regulation S-K, during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2023. 
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Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections. 

Not applicable. 

PART III 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance. 
 

The information required by this item will be included in our definitive proxy statement for our 2024 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders, and such required information is incorporated herein by reference. 

Item 11. Executive Compensation. 
 

The information required by this item will be included in our definitive proxy statement for our 2024 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders, and such information is incorporated herein by reference. 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters. 
The information required by this item will be included in our definitive proxy statement for our 2024 Annual 

Meeting of Stockholders, and such information is incorporated herein by reference. 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence. 
 

The information required by this item will be included in our definitive proxy statement for our 2024 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders, and such information is incorporated herein by reference. 

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services. 
 

The information required by this item will be included in our definitive proxy statement for our 2024 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders, and such information is incorporated herein by reference. 
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PART IV 

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 

(a)(1) Financial Statements. 

See the listing of the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules. 

Separate financial schedules have been omitted because such information is inapplicable or is included in the financial 
statements or notes described above. 
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(a)(3) Exhibits. 
 

The following is a list of exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
 
 
 

Exhibit 
Incorporated by Reference  Filed/ 

Filing 

Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Date Furnished Herewith 

3.1 
 

Second Amended and Restated Certificate 
of Incorporation of The Vita Coco 
Company, Inc. 

8-K 001-40950 3.1 10/25/21 
 

3.2  Amended and Restated Bylaws of The Vita 
Coco Company, Inc. 

8-K 001-40950 3.2 10/25/21   

4.1  Specimen Common Stock Certificate of The 
Vita Coco Company, Inc. 

S-1 333-259825 4.1 9/27/21   

4.2  Description of Capital Stock. 10-K 001-40950 4.2 3/14/23   

4.3+  Registration Rights Agreement, by and 
among The Vita Coco Company, Inc. and 
certain security holders of The Vita Coco 
Company, Inc., dated as of October 20, 
2021. 

8-K 001-40950 10.1 10/25/21   

4.4+  Investor Rights Agreement, among The Vita 
Coco Company, Inc., Verlinvest Beverages 
SA, Michael Kirban and Ira Liran, dated as 
of October 20, 2021. 

8-K 001-40950 10.2 10/25/21   

4.5  Form of Indenture S-3 333-271583 4.4 5/2/23   

10.1+  Amendment to Credit Agreement, by and 
between All Market Inc., the Guarantors, 
and Wells Fargo Bank, National 
Association, dated as of January 11, 2021. 

S-1 333-259825 10.1 9/27/21   

10.2+  Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, 
by and between All Market Inc., the 
Guarantors, and Wells Fargo Bank, National 
Association, dated as of May 21, 2021. 

S-1 333-259825 10.2 9/27/21   

10.3+  Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, by 
and between The Vita Coco Company, Inc., 
the Guarantors, and Wells Fargo Bank, 
National Association, dated as of November 
2, 2021. 

10-K 001-10950 10.3 3/14/22   

10.4+  Fourth Amendment to the Credit 
Agreement, by and between The Vita Coco 
Company, Inc., the Guarantors, and Wells 
Fargo Bank, National Association, dated as 
of December 5, 2022. 

10-K 001-40950 10.4 3/14/23   

10.5†  All Market Inc. 2014 Stock Option And 
Restricted Stock Plan. 

S-1/A 333-259825 10.3 10/12/21   

10.6†  The Vita Coco Company, Inc. 2021 
Incentive Award Plan. 

10-K 001-40950 10.5 3/14/22   

10.7†  The Vita Coco Company, Inc. 2021 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan. 

S-1/A 333-259825 10.5 10/12/21   

10.8†  Form of Stock Option Grant Notice 10-K 001-40950 10.7 3/14/22   

10.9†  Form of Restricted Stock Grant Notice 10-K 001-40950 10.8 3/14/22   

10.10†  Amended and Restated Employment 
Agreement, by and between The Vita 
Coco Company, Inc. and Michael Kirban, 
dated October 20, 2021. 

10-Q 001-40950 10.5 11/17/21   

10.11†  First Amendment to Employment 
Agreement, by and between The Vita 
Coco Company, Inc. and Michael Kirban, 
effective as of May 2, 2022. 

10-Q 001-40950 10.1 11/10/22   
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10.12† Amended and Restated Employment 
Agreement, by and between The Vita 
Coco Company, Inc. and Martin Roper, 
dated October 20, 2021. 

10-Q 001-40950 10.6 11/17/21 

10.13† The Vita Coco Company, Inc. Non- 
Employee Director Compensation Policy. 

S-1/A 333-259825 10.6 10/12/21 

10.14† Form of Indemnification Agreement. S-1/A 333-259825 10.7 10/12/21 
10.15+ 
† 

Employment Agreement, by and between 
All Market Inc. and Jonathan Burth, dated 
as of February 10, 2020. 

S-1 333-259825 10.10 9/27/21 

10.16+ 
† 

Employment Agreement, by and between 
All Market Inc. and Rowena Ricalde, dated 
as of June 1, 2021. 

10-K 001-40950 10.16 3/14/23 

10.17† 

 
10.18+ 
† 

Amendment to the Employment Agreement, 
by and between All Market Inc. and Rowena 
Ricalde, dated as of January 12, 2022 
Employment Agreement, by and between All 
Market Inc. and Charles Van Es, dated as of 
February 10, 2020. 

10-K 
 
 

S-1 

001-40950 
 
 
333-259825 

10.17 
 
 
10.12 

3/14/23 
 
 
9/27/21 

10.19+ 
† 

Employment Agreement, by and between 
All Market Inc. and Jane Prior, dated as of 
February 10, 2020. 

S-1 333-259825 10.13 9/27/21 

10.20+ 
† 

Employment Agreement, by and between 
The Vita Coco Company, Inc., and Corey 
Baker, dated as of March 7, 2023 

10-Q 001-40950 10.1 5/5/23 

10.21+ 
X 

Manufacturing and Purchasing Agreement, 
by and among Century Agriculture 
Corporation and All Market Singapore Pte. 
Ltd., dated as of September 17, 2012. 

S-1 333-259825 10.14 9/27/21 

10.22+ 
X 

Manufacturing and Purchasing Agreement, 
by and among Fresh Fruit Ingredients, Inc. 
and All Market, Inc., dated as of April 8, 
2010. 

S-1 333-259825 10.15 9/27/21 

21.1 List of Subsidiaries of The Vita Coco 
Company, Inc. 

   * 

23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP 
Independent Registered Public Accounting 
Firm. 

   * 

31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of    * 
 Chief Executive Officer.     
31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of    * 

 Chief Financial Officer.     

32.1 Section 1350 Certification of Chief    ** 
 Executive Officer.     
32.2 Section 1350 Certification of Chief    ** 

 Financial Officer.     
97.1 The Vita Coco Company, Inc. Clawback    * 

 Policy     
101.IN 
S 

Inline XBRL Instance Document - the 
instance document does not appear in the 
Interactive Data file because its XBRL tags 
are embedded within the Inline XBRL 
document. 

   * 

101.SC 
H 

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema 
Document. 

   * 

101.C 
AL 

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension 
Calculation Linkbase Document. 

   * 

101.D 
EF 

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension 
Definition Linkbase Document. 
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101.L
AB

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label 
Linkbase Document. 

* 

101.PR
E 

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension 
Presentation Linkbase Document. 

* 

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted 
in Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 
101). 

* 

* Filed herewith. 
** Furnished herewith. 
† Indicates management contract or compensatory plan. 
+ Certain portions of this exhibit (indicated by “####”) have been redacted pursuant to Regulation S-K, Item

601(a)(6).
X Certain portions of this exhibit (indicated by “[***]”) have been redacted pursuant to Regulation S-K, Item

601(b)(10)(iv).

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary. 

None. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly 
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

THE VITA COCO COMPANY, INC. 

Date: February 29, 2024 By: /s/ Martin Roper 
Martin Roper 

Chief Executive Officer 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the 
following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Name Title Date 
/s/ Martin Roper Chief Executive Officer and Director February 29, 2024 
Martin Roper (Principal Executive Officer) 

/s/ Corey Baker 
Corey Baker 

Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer) 

February 29, 2024 

/s/ Rowena Ricalde 
Rowena Ricalde 

Chief Accounting Officer 
(Principal Accounting Officer) 

February 29, 2024 

/s/ Michael Kirban 
Michael Kirban 

Chairman and Director February 29, 2024 

/s/ Aishetu Fatima Dozie Director February 29, 2024 
Aishetu Fatima Dozie 

/s/ John Leahy Director February 29, 2024 
John Leahy 

/s/ Ira Liran Director February 29, 2024 
Ira Liran 

/s/ Eric Melloul Director February 29, 2024 
Eric M elloul 

/s/ Jane Morreau Director February 29, 2024 
Jane M orreau 

/s/ Kenneth Sadowsky Director February 29, 2024 
Kenneth Sadowsky 

/s/ John Zupo Director February 29, 2024 
John Zupo 
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THANK YOU FOR READING OUR ANNUAL REPORT.  
IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS, PLEASE EMAIL:  

INVESTORS@THEVITACOCOCOMPANY.COM
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